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Management Summary

The following constitutes a Cultural Landscape Report (CLR) that has
been prepared by John Milner Associates, Inc. (JMA), formerly the
Charlottesville, Virginia office of OCULUS, to further the National
Park Service’s (NPS) goals of better understanding and managing the
Village Historic District landscape. The CLR addresses the physical
development and existing character of the landscape as it has evolved
since American explorers and settlers arrived at the South Rim. This
information is presented in two chapters: a landscape physical history
that documents the Village Historic District from 1848 until 2002, and
a documentation of 2001 existing landscape conditions. The CLR also
provides a preliminary statement of significance, a comparative analysis
of existing and historic conditions, an evaluation of the landscape’s
integrity, and a treatment plan that proposes long-term management
strategies for the park’s cultural, historic, and natural resources.

The need for this CLR arose from the identification of proposed projects
that could potentially alter the existing landscape and its associated cultural
and historic resources. These projects are identified in the GRCA’s
1995 General Management Plan (GMP) and CLR scope of work. These
issues are described in more detail in Chapter V, Treatment.

The overall vision for the South Rim, including the Village Historic
District,—as stated in the 1995 GMP—is to “allow visitors direct access
to canyon panoramas and to offer a range of visitor. experiences-—from
more social experiences in Grand Canyon Village to solitary
experiences elsewhere along the rim.! The GMP discusses threats to this
vision that include overcrowding, excessive vehicular traffic, the need
for alternative transportation opportunities, potential damage to cultural
and natural resources from development, and lack of visitor services. To
address these threats, the NPS has proposed several projects that will
affect the Village Historic District. These projects include the Heritage
Education Center, Greenway system, Light Rail transit system, and
conversion of several facilities from government or concessionaire
use to public use. '

In light of these threats and proposed projects, the purposes of this CLR
are to provide a landscape history for the entire project area; to
document and evaluate the significance, integrity, and condition of
existing cultural landscape characteristics, including the identification
and description of contributing and non-contributing landscape
characteristics; and to develop a preservation strategy for the long-term

Chapter | « Introduction

management of the cultural landscape. The information within this CLR
will be used by the NPS in the development of appropriate proposed
actions for the Village Historic District and during the NEPA/106
process to aid with the determination of effects on the cultural landscape.

This CLR was developed by JMA and its consultant, History Matters,
under the guidance of NPS park and regional personnel. In October
2000, JMA project personnel, including project manager Rob
McGinnis, met with NPS park and regional personnel in the Grand
Canyon Village on the South Rim to initiate work on the project. In
March 2001, History Matters staff performed preliminary research for
its 1848 to 2002 physical history documentation. In May 2001, IMA
(then OCULUS) architectural historian Gina Haney and project designer
Rachel Evans Lloyd visited the park and completed existing conditions
documentation for the Village Historic District. JMA project designers
Julie Basic and Adriane Fowler completed the remaining tasks within
the scope of work to prepare the draft and final documents.

Numerous individuals from the NPS and GRCA were involved in the
development of this CLR by supplying critical information, documents
requested by JMA, and detailed reviews of draft versions of the report.
These persons include Inter-Mountain Region Historical Landscape
Architect Jill Cowley; GRCA Chief of Cultural Resources Jan Balsom;
GRCA Project Manager Michael Terzich, LA; Denver Service Center
Project Manager Paul Cloyd, PE/RA; GRCA Fee Demo Program
Manager Shelley Mettlach, PE; and Denver Service Center AE
Manager/Contracting  Officer’s Representative Karen Vaage,
LA/RLA—all of whom provided review comments for various draft
submissions and/or information that supported the preparation of this
CLR. Several individuals provided JMA with information regarding
on-going and proposed projects within the Village Historic District that
helped to ensure the preparation of a more accurate and useful treatment
plan. These persons included GRCA Project Management Team Leader
Brad Traver, GRCA Historical Architect Robert Powell. Intermountain
Support Office Architect and LCS Coordinator Sayre Hutchison and
Denver Service Center Engineering Technician Tim Fields also
contributed time and resources to this project.

1 ys. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, General Management Plan

for Grand Canyon National Park (Denver Service Center, 1995), 28.
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Historical Overview

The Village Historic District is part of the larger Grand Canyon Village
setting on the South Rim of the Grand Canyon in Arizona. For
thousands of years, the South Rim and surrounding region have been the
site of human occupation. European exploration began in the 1540s when
Spanish explorers first viewed the giant chasm of the Grand Canyon. In
the 1860s, American exploration continued with John Wesley Powell’s trip
down the Colorado River. Mining operations began in the 1870s marking
the beginning of permanent Euro-American occupation of the region.
When mining failed to bring substantial profit, due to low mine output and
transportation difficulties, miners and other settlers turned toward tourism
operations to earn money. Miners such as John Hance, Ralph Cameron,
Buckey O’Neill, and William Bass built and operated tourist facilities
including stagecoach lines, hotels, and tent cabins and camps.

In September of 1901, the Grand Canyon Railway, a subsidiary of the
Atchison, Topeka, and Santa Fe Railroad (ATSF), completed its line
between Williams, Arizona and the Grand Canyon. With increased
accessibility available from the railroads, more and more visitors came
to the South Rim generating a tourism boom. Between the years of 1901
and 1919, the ATSF and second subsidiary, the Fred Harvey Company
tour operator, built numerous buildings and structures to make the rim
a tourist destination and resort.

The San Francisco World’s Fair was held in 1915. Because the Grand
Canyon was in relatively close proximity to San Francisco and also near
the route to the fair, visitation exploded at the South Rim during the fair.
The U.S. Forest Service, steward of Grand Canyon operations in 1915,
issued tourism permits to any and all livery, stable, and tourism
operators willing to relieve the visitation pressure. The result was a
messy, noisy, unregulated spate of development along the rim. This
unplanned development was the impetus for future planning efforts in
what would become Grand Canyon Village.

In 1919, the Grand Canyon was transferred to the NPS. The NPS was
better equipped to handle developed landscapes and already had a staff
of landscape architects and engineers in place who were familiar with
principles of community planning and landscape architecture.

Although several plans were undertaken and issued by men like Aldo
Leopold, Don Johnston, Frank Waugh, and Pierce Anderson, the
master plans with the most and longest-lasting impact were those of
Daniel Hull. Hull’s 1921 and 1924 plans formed the “blueprint” for the
majority of planning efforts and development within the park. Hull’s
plans, along with the plan for Yosemite Valley village, set a precedent
for future national and state park planning.

Between 1933 and 1942, Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) crews were
located in the Grand Canyon Village. These crews had a major impact on
the physical design and appearance of the Village. They constructed
roads, buildings, sidewalks and paths, stone walls, headwalls, culverts,
and a host of other features. Crews were also involved in revegetation
efforts, transplanting of vegetation, wildflower plantings, landscaping
with native plants, pest control, and eradication of invasive species.

In the years following CCC encampment and World War II, up until
2002, the Village continued to grow and change. New construction
projects, such as the South Entrance Road and Thunderbird and Kachina
Lodges, were undertaken. However, the current Village Historic
District remained amazingly intact, as growth tended to occur outside of
the Village Historic District boundary on undeveloped land. According
to previous National Register of Historic Places nominations and
preliminary findings of this CLR, the Village Historic District continues
to maintain a high degree of integrity. i
According to the Grand Canyon Village 1995 National Register of
Historic Places nomination, the Grand Canyon Village is significant
under Criterion A for its important association with the development of
GRCA. The district is also significant under Criterion C as an example
of community planning within a national park, and as a comprehensive
illustration of NPS Rustic architecture and landscape architecture that
harmonizes with nature. The historic district meets the criteria in the
areas of significance of Community Planning and Development,
Politics/Government, Architecture, Landscape Architecture, and
Tourism. The district illustrates the origins, growth, and development
of the village as the hub of tourist and transportation- related activities
at the South Rim of the Grand Canyon during the historic district’s
period of significance (1897 to 1942).2

Additionally, the Village Historic District meets National Historic
Landmark Criterion 1 for its association with the American park
movement. The imitation of advanced town planning techniques in the
design of national park villages and other developed areas was an essential
step in the progress of planning and developing large scenic reservations
for public use without unduly marring the scenery being made accessible.
The development of NPS town planning techniques also influenced and
was integrated into later “master planning” procedures, another
milestone in the history of American park planning. The district also
meets Criterion 4 as an exceptionally valuable example of American
landscape architecture, specifically as the most significant example with
the greatest integrity of NPS town planning.3

The period of significance of the district—as defined in the National
Historic Landmark nomination and supported by CLR research—begins
in 1897 with the construction of the Buckey O’Neill Lodge in 1897, the
oldest standing structure built on the rim. The period of significance
ends in 1942 when the CCC was disbanded and by which time the
Village was largely complete.

The Criteria were adapted from the 1995 National Register nomination for the
Grand Canyon Village.

3 The National Historic Landmark Criteria information was adapted from the 1997

National Historic Landmark nomination for the Grand Canyon Village.
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Scope of Work and Methodology

Project Scope

In April of 2002, the NPS developed a scope of services for the Grand
Canyon Village National Historic Landmark District CLR that included
the following items:
Administrative Data

e preparation of an administrative data report;

Landscape History

e research of primary and secondary source materials relating to
all cultural landscape elements within the project area;

» preparation of a narrative landscape physical history;
e preparation of landscape chronology maps;
« compilation of a bibliography;
Existing Conditions Documentation
« completion of field surveys to inventory and document existing
conditions in the project area. Conduct additional fieldwork to
prepare an accurate planning-level base map indicating existing

topography and all built and natural features;

+ completion of existing conditions photography where selected
photographs will be incorporated into the text;

o undertake existing conditions photography in locations of historic
ground photographs for the purpose of comparative analysis;

e preparation of an existing conditions photographic station point
map documenting the location and orientation of photographs;

Landscape Analysis and Evaluation of Condition,
Significance, and Integrity

identification and description of the significance of the entire
study area as a cultural landscape including preparation of a
draft Statement of Significance and identification of Period(s) of
Significance;

evaluation and preparation of CLR sections assessing the
condition of existing characteristics and features;

identification of landscape features and characteristics that
contribute to the significance of the cultural landscape and why
they are contributing, non-contributing features, and those
features that are no longer extant;

labeling of contributing and non-contributing features on a site plan;
discussion of building massing and form on the South Rim;

documentation of the evolution of both native and non-native
vegetation; :

preparation of a district-wide graphic analysis that clearly
identifies the landscape characteristics of land use, spatial
organization, circulation, and natural systems and features;

preparation of a specific project graphic analyses for the Heritage
Education Campus;, Light Rail Station and Pedestrian
Bridge; Bright Angel Trail and Backcountry Office; Victor Hall
and Annex conversion; Maintenance Office conversion; Historic
Train Depot rehabilitation; Possible Greenway Segment into the
Village; and removal of Kachina and Thunderbird Lodges.

Treatment Recommendations

development of district-wide treatment recommendations
including an overall primary treatment and justifications for this
treatment, more detailed recommendations that address surviving
historic landscape features and systems, recommendations that
address preservation and rehabilitation of surviving historic
landscape features and systems, recommendations that address
compatibility of new features proposed within the historic
landscape, and recommendations that provide for continued
local community and visitor use, accessibility, and interpretation
and enhancement of visitor understanding of the significant
cultural landscape;

development of specific project recommendations that support
specific park projects including evaluation of planning and
design options developed for these projects and development of
recommendations for maintaining landscape integrity and
significant features within the project areas;

20000000000000000000000000000000000000000000
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Project Methodology

The primary standard used to produce this CLR was A Guide to Cultural
Landscape Reports: Contents, Process, and Technologies published in
1998 by the NPS. This guidance document details the content, format,
and method appropriate for preparing a CLR. This CLR was also
produced in accordance with the following documents:

e NPS Management Policies (2001);
¢ NPS Director’s Order No. 28, Chapter 7;

o The Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of

Historic Properties, with Guidelines for the Treatment of
Cultural Landscapes (March 1996); and

e The Secretary of the Interior’s Guidelines and Standards for
Archaeology and Historic Preservation.

Other documents used include National Register Bulletin 15: How to
Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation and The Chicago
Manual of Style, 14th edition. The methodology developed by the IMA
team to complete each of the components of this CLR is described in
detail below.

Background Research and Data Collection

History Matters focused on the post-1848 historic contexts of the site
physical history chapter of the CLR. History Matter’s research
methodology was based on the parameters set by its agreement with
JMA. Under this agreement, History Matters obtained research material
from two sources: from JMA and from a five-day research visit made
to the archives at the GRCA Museum in March 2001. As part of its
research visit, History Matters undertook an overview tour of the
Village Historic District.

JMA provided History Matters with site-specific maps and reports about
the Grand Canyon that it had received from NPS sources. No historic
maps related to Grand Canyon Village were included in this material. In
addition, JMA provided History Matters with information about the
Grand Canyon that it had gathered at the University of Virginia as well
‘as secondary sources from its own library. At the GRCA Museum,
History Matters gathered available primary and secondary documentary
evidence, particularly planning documents, annual reports issued by
GRCA superintendents, special reports issued by GRCA’s management,
architectural drawings, and comprehensive plans. The GRCA Museum
does not contain complete sets of any of these documents. The preliminary
conclusions outlined in the post-1848 site physical history of the Village
Historic District are based completely on the documentary evidence
gathered from these two repositories of research material.

Site Physical History

The site physical history was organized chronologically within six periods
of landscape development. The description of each period is introduced
by a narrative summary outlining the physical landscape developments
known to have occurred during that period. Following each narrative is
an annotated chronology of events organized by landscape characteristic.

Graphic illustrations are interleaved within the text to depict important
events or provide representative examples of particular concepts. These
photographs, maps, and drawings were obtained by History Matters
during their research efforts.

Graphic chronologies were prepared to depict important changes to the
landscape. They were based on review, evaluation, and comparison of
primary map and graphic resources including photographs, historic master
plans, historic narratives, and information provided in the site physical
history. All maps exist as AutoCAD 2002 files, using an electronic base
map provided by NPS and hand-drawn overlays scanned into electronic
format and attached to each AutoCAD drawing. Features appearing
over multiple periods were consistently located. Vegetative change over
time is representative and incorporates educated assumptions.

Evaluation of Significance

Preliminary significance evaluations were undertaken primarily using
existing National Register of Historic Places and National Historic
Landmark nominations for the Village Historic District. Also utilized
was Linda Flint McClelland’s book, Historic Park Landscapes in
National and State Parks, which provided the historic contexts for the
project area and its associated resources and suggested the appropriate
application of National Register criteria. The evaluation of significance
included an identification of potential historic contexts associated with
the site and park, review of the physical history to determine potential
significance associated with all National Register criteria, identification
of periods of significance based on park resources, and important
periods of physical development.

Comparative Analysis of Historic and Existing Conditions by
Landscape Characteristic

The comparative analysis included in Chapter IV was undertaken for each
of the nine landscape character areas. The analysis is organized according
to landscape feature, as described in Chapter I, Existing Conditions. The
analysis was based on information gathered during existing conditions field-
work and mapping, from the physical history prepared by History Matters,
and from numerous historic images, maps, and plans. Comparative
photograph pairs, a map of missing features, and a map of contributing and
non-contributing features help to illustrate the findings of the analysis.

Identification of Contributing and Non-Contributing Resources

Through the development of the comparative analysis of historic and
existing landscape features, three categories of features were identified:

¢ Contributing features (those. surviving from the periods of
significance);

¢ Non-contributing features (those that post-date the periods
of significance); and

* Missing features (those features dating from the period of
significance that are no longer extant)

Each inventoried, extant feature is labeled as contributing or non-
contributing on the existing conditions base maps in Chapter III of this
CLR. Missing features are identified within the comparative analysis
and labeled as such on the period plans within Chapter II.

Treatment Plan

JMA followed guidelines presented in The Secretary of the Interior’s
Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties with Guidelines for the
Treatment of Cultural Landscapes when identifying the appropriate treatment
approach for the Village Historic District. This approach was chosen while
taking into consideration the integrity and degree of proposed development
within the Village Historic District and its landscape character areas.

Recommendations and guidelines within this CLR provide a preservation
strategy for long-term management of the Village Historic District
landscapes. They are based on an understanding of the significance,
integrity, and condition of surviving landscape features as well as the
knowledge that several new construction projects are planned for the
project area. Recommendations and guidelines were prepared according
to JMA’s assessment of the landscape and also in reaction to specific
project information provided to JMA by the NPS.

Recommendations were provided for the Village Historic District
covering general and detailed concerns, issues, and opportunities. They
were also provided for specific, proposed projects identified within the
CLR scope of work. AutoCAD base maps, also used for the existing
conditions documentation, illustrate concepts within the treatment plan.
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Description of Study Boundaries

The South Rim of GRCA provides the setting for the Grand Canyon
Village (Figure 1). Within the Grand Canyon Village, the Village
Historic District was listed on the National Register of Historic Places in
1975 and later revised in 1982 and 1995 (Figure 2). The Village Historic
District was listed as a National Historic Landmark in 1997. The CLR

. project boundary follows the National Historic Landmark boundary.

The boundary of the Village Historic District starts at the beginning of
Hermit Road, in the northwest corner of the district. The boundary
continues eastward along the Canyon rim. At Verkamp’s Store, the
boundary turns south to include the Original Superintendent’s Residence
and Public Garage. The boundary extends southward along the eastern
edge of the NPS residential area. It wraps around service buildings and
then turns northwest to parallel the western edge of Sunset Drive. The
boundary continues west to include the elementary and middle schools
and the southern edge of the Concessionaire residential area. The
boundary turns north at Coconino Street and follows Village Loop Drive
west and north to encompass the Maswik Cabins and former amphithe-
ater site west of Village Loop Drive. Continuing north, the boundary
edges the railroad yard to the east and then returns to the northwest cor-
ner of the boundary at Hermit Road.

The District encompasses two historic residential and service areas in its
southern half: the NPS housing and service area east of the Center
Road, and the original Fred Harvey Company’s and Santa Fe
concessionaire residential area on the west side. The elementary and
middle schools are also within the boundary and situated west of Center
Road. The Maswik camp area anchors the western section of the dis-
trict. In the middle of the district are the railroad, utility, and visitor/
community service areas. These areas will be formally defined and
described in Chapter 3 of this report, under Existing Conditions.

Grand Canyon Villige
National Histori¢ Land K District

& . /"___/" /.
Vi) IR

-South Rim

Figure 1. Figure 2.
Location Map Context Map
Source: John Milner Associates, Inc., 2003 Source: John Milner Associates, Inc., 2003
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Recommendations for Future Research

Given the highly developed historic character and design significance
of the Village Historic District, the research and physical history
documentation of this CLR focused upon the post-1848 timeframe,
regarding the development of tourism-related facilities. Initially, the
CLR team historians undertook research of the prehistoric to
mid-nineteenth-century use and occupation of the Village region. The
needs of the project, however, with respect to management of existing
historic resources, the scope of research limitations, and the lack of
comprehensive documentation of the pre-1848 period, restricted the
physical history documentation.

To gain a better understanding of human use and occupation of the
Village region, several sources may be consulted that were developed as
part of specific cultural resource management initiatives. The Park’s
Chief of Cultural Resources should be consulted regarding the availability
of documentation of landscape use and occupation for the period of time
prior to 1848 and regarding any future ethnographic studies that may be
undertaken that could provide relevant physical history information.

Additionally, preparation of this CLR raised a number of unanswered
questions that merit further investigation. Resolution of these issues may
potentially yield information critical to understanding the Village
Historic District landscape and establishing well-grounded management
and interpretive plans for significant resources dating from the period of
significance, between 1897 and 1942. These research efforts should
include the following:

Post-1942 and Mission 66 Resources

e Resources that remain from the post-1942 and Mission 66 eras
between 1943 and 1966—should be identified and assessed for
their potential significance as National Register of Historic
Places-eligible properties. Resources dating from between 1954
and 1966 will soon meet the fifty-year cut-off date to be
nominated to the National Register, or may have exceptional
importance making them potentially eligible for the National
Register under Criterion G, Properties That Have Achieved
Significance Within the Past Fifty Years. :

If any of these resources within the Village Historic District
boundary are found to be eligible for the National Register, NPS
personnel might consider adding them to the current National
Historic Landmark nomination. A new National Register
nomination may also be created that addresses significant
resources outside of the Village Historic District boundary.

Vegetative Surveys

* An obstacle that prevented more thorough understanding of how
vegetation changed over time in the Village Historic District
was lack of exhaustive historic and contemporary vegetative
surveys. Efforts should be made to determine if any historic
vegetative surveys, other than those mentioned in this CLR,
exist. Efforts should also be made to survey and inventory the
existing vegetative stock within the Village Historic District so
that change may be monitored and evaluated in the future.
Vegetation surveys should include the density of existing trees
and shrubs; an inventory of existing vegetation species type
within the district; the condition of the vegetation in terms of
overall health of the vegetative stock; the general age of the
vegetation, including specific ages of any exceptionally mature
trees; and an identification of exotic and invasive species present
within the district.

Ornamental Vegetation

e Further study should be directed toward creating a baseline of
information regarding typical Rustic-style omamental planting
designs and principles used by NPS landscape architects and
designers within the Village Historic District. Although
information is available regarding the naturalistic and
“harmonious” principles used by the NPS, little focus has been
placed on ornamental planting design created to stand alone,
rather than as an accent for buildings. It may be shown, however,
that this type of planting design—ornament for ornament’s
sake—was not used during the height of Rustic-style design efforts.

Coordination of Building Numbers

¢ During the preparation of this CLR, it became clear that multiple
building numbering systems were in use, by both the park and
its consultants, that created a source of confusion among all
parties. These numbering systems include the National Register
of Historic Places and National Historic Landmark numbers,
NPS-appointed numbers found on the Denver Service Center
building lists, and the List of Classified Structures numbers.
GRCA and NPS personnel, and their consultants, who work
with these numbering systems should consider coordinating
their efforts to produce a single, cohesive, and useful numbering
system that meets the needs of all parties while clearly
identifying each building or structure within the Village Historic
District.

Future research should also utilize several archives that were not used
during this project due to contract limitations. The bulk of NPS records
(Record Group 79) are housed at the National Archives in College Park,
Maryland. A second substantial collection of NPS records exists at the
NPS Historical Collection in Harpers Ferry, West Virginia. Together,
both archives contain the most comprehensive holdings of NPS-related
materials. In addition, the collection at the Department of the Interior
Library in Washington contains a complete historical set of annual
reports for both the Department of the Interior and the NPS, as well as
complete sets of NPS proceedings of official conferences. The
Department of Agriculture Library in Washington D.C. contains a
complete set of annual reports for the Department of Agriculture and the
U.S. Forest Service, the agency that was responsible for the GRCA
prior to 1919.

Photographic collections were searched on-line, when possible. Certain
photographs were used in this document when permission was granted
by the source agency. Others were used solely during document
preparation efforts and may prove useful to future researchers or GRCA
personnel. The archives searched on-line were the Fred Harvey
Collection at Northern Arizona University; the Denver Public Library
collections, the Denver Museum of Art collections, and the Library of
Congress’ American Memory collection. It is likely that these
collections have additional resources related to the Village Historic
District that have not yet been digitized.
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Summary of Findings

According to guidelines provided by the National Historic Landmarks
program, further discussed in Chapter IV of this CLR, the Village
Historic District is a nationally significant part of American history
under National Historic Landmark Criterion 1 for its association with
the American park movement and under Criterion 4 as an exceptionally
valuable example of American landscape architecture, specifically as the
most significant and intact example of NPS town planning principles.
Prior to its National Historic Landmark eligibility, the Village Historic
District was listed on the National Register of Historic Places under
Criterion A for its important association with the development of Grand
Canyon National Park. The district was also significant under Criterion
C as an example of community planning within a national park, and as
a comprehensive illustration of NPS Rustic-style architecture and
landscape architecture.

The Village Historic District possesses a high degree of integrity of
location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association
for its period of significance (1897-1942). Although changes have
occurred within the district since the period of significance that have
adversely affected the integrity level, none of these changes have
generated a substantial loss of integrity.

The recommended treatment approach is rehabilitation, because the
Village Historic District retains a high level of integrity, yet must undergo
sensitive alterations, due to continued use and changes in visitation and
visitor and staff needs. Rehabilitation is defined as “the act or process
of making possible a compatible use for a property through repair,
alterations, and additions while preserving those portions or features
which convey its historical, cultural, or architectural values.”# Although
rehabilitation is the primary treatment approach, it must be implement-
ed with an emphasis on preservation of historic and contributing features.
This combined approach will allow park managers and
personnel to protect significant cultural resources while implementing
necessary new features and services. ' '

The 1995 GMP states that the vision for the South Rim of GRCA,
including the Village Historic District, is “to allow visitors direct access
to canyon panoramas and to offer a range of visitor experiences—from
more social experiences in the Grand Canyon Village to solitary
experiences elsewhere along the rim.”> The over-arching treatment
concept for the Village Historic District is to offer recommendations
that support the GMP-stated vision while making alterations and new
additions into the Village Historic District landscape compatible with the
existing historic character and, at the same time, preserving contributing
cultural landscape resources. The following general treatment
recommendations for the entire Village Historic District reflect the
treatment concept and GMP vision for the South Rim:

Retain the overall pattern of spatial organization and circulation

~created by the layout of streets, vegetation, and topography.

Avoid altering street alignments, removing large masses of
contributing woodland vegetation, or excessively altering the
existing topography.

Assess the presence of non-native and invasive vegetation
throughout the Village Historic District. Remove areas of non-native
and invasive vegetation that are detrimental to contributing and
native vegetation. Revegetate the disturbed areas with native
vegetation. Areas that are not as intensively affected may be
monitored and controlled, if removal efforts are not necessary.

Maintain the historic zoning and separation of land uses within
the Village Historic District and as developed through master planning
efforts of NPS landscape architects during the period of significance.

Retain all contributing buildings and structures.

Deocument all features prior to their alteration or removal.
Create a baseline of information about the selected feature(s)
through photographic, graphic, and written documentation to aid
future researchers in their studies or promote accurate reconstruction
or restoration efforts if the feature will be re-installed in the future.

Assess the potential National Register eligibility for features
within and adjacent to the Village Historic District that post-date
the period of significance, yet might soon meet the fifty-year
requirement or might be eligible under National Register Criterion
G, “Properties That Have Achieved Significance Within the Last
Fifty Years.” These include features that were built during the
Mission 66 and Parkscape U.S.A. development efforts between
1956 and 1972. Features that are found to be eligible for the
National Register should be protected and maintained.

Minimize new construction as much as possible. If new facilities
must be introduced, site them in previously developed or disturbed
locations, such as the former site of Babbitt’s Store at the intersection
of Village Loop Drive and Center Road.

Sensitively site new accessibility features in order to retain the
historic character of the Village Historic District and the feature which
will be altered. Consider the visual impact, as well as the impact to
historic fabric, the proposed construction will have on historic features.

s Refer to the Grand Canyon National Park Architectural
Character Guidelines, particularly the section entitled “Site
Materials and Elements,” for guidance concerning appropriate
designs and materials for small-scale features.

e Perform maintenance on all features—both contributing and
non-contributing.

Cultural landscape management, rehabilitation, and preservation
strategies included in this CLR take into account the sometimes
conflicting goals of protecting historic, cultural, and natural resources,
and providing for the comfort, edification, and enjoyment of visitors.
The treatment plan included in this CLR carefully considers the
inter-relationships between all park resources. The findings of future
investigations into the site’s history should be utilized to update and
evaluate this CLR to assure that management strategies continue to
properly address the needs of the park’s resources.

4 Us. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, The Secretary of the
Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties with Guidelines for
the Treatment of Cultural Landscapes (Washington D.C.: Heritage Preservation

- Services, 1996), 48.

5

National Park Service, General Management Plan, 8.
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Introduction

This chapter focuses on the physical development of the Grand Canyon
Village National Historic Landmark District (Village Historic District)
landscape from 1848 until 2003. This CLR acknowledges that
significant periods of regional and local prehistory and-history exist
prior to 1848, yet the post-1848 chronology documents the years that
were most vital to the development and evolution the Village Historic
District as it appears today.

The following historical narrative divides the 1848 to 2003 timeline into
separate periods whose events significantly affected the physical
evolution and appearance of the cultural landscape. These periods are as
follows:

o Exploration, Mining, and Tourism: Nineteenth-century
Development at the South Rim, 1848-1892

¢ Federal Ownership and Early Park Planning, 1893-1924
¢ Grand Canyon Village Matures, 1924-1932

e The New Deal and Park Development During the Great
Depression, 1933-1942

+  World War II and Post-War Recovery, 1943-1955

¢ The Mission 66 Era to the Present Day, 1956-2003

Chapter lI: Landscape Physical History

Exploration, Mining, and Tourism:

Nineteenth-century Development at the South Rim, 1848-1892

With the signing of the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo in early 1848, the
United States government gained all Mexican territory north of the Rio
Grande River and increased its territorial holdings by 20 percent. This
new American territory encompassed almost all of what is now the
American Southwest including today’s Grand Canyon Village National
Historic Landmark District in Grand Canyon National Park (GRCA).

In the 1850s, Americans began to lead organized expeditions to explore
and survey the Grand Canyon territory. In 1858, Lt. Joseph Ives led a
U.S. Army steamboat expedition to the Colorado River. The chief
scientist of the Ives expedition was John Strong Newberry, who later
became one the founders of the modern study of American geology
(Figure 3).

With the outbreak of the American Civil War (1861-1865), American
exploration of the Grand Canyon environment essentially halted. In
1869, American-led exploration returned in full force when John
Wesley Powell, a one-armed veteran of the Civil War and future
founder of the United States Geological Survey (USGS), led a small
expedition that completed the first successful run of the Colorado River
through the Grand Canyon.! In 1869, another event significant to the
future GRCA occurred when the western work force of the Central
Pacific Railroad met that of the eastern Union Pacific Railroad at
Promontory Point, Utah to drive the final railroad spike that joined the
lines to form the first transcontinental railroad in the United States. In
1871, another Army Corps of Engineers expedition, this time led by
Lt. George Wheeler, set out to conduct a geological survey of the land
west of the 100th meridian (Figure 4). One member of the Wheeler
expedition was photographer Timothy O’Sullivan who, in 1872,
published the first photographs of the Grand Canyon.

John Wesley Powell’s successful Grand Canyon run won him national
acclaim. Building on this, he raised funds to lead a second expedition
on the Colorado in 1871-72 (Figure 5). In 1873, invited by Powell,
noted American landscape painter Thomas Moran visited the North Rim
of the Grand Canyon and painted the soon-to-be-famous Chasm of the
Colorado (Figure 6). This image was published and distributed widely,
helping to broaden the fame of and spark the public’s fascination with
the Grand Canyon. In 1874, the U.S. Congress bought the painting to
hang next to Moran’s Grand Canyon of the Yellowstone in the U.S.
Capitol. In 1875, Powell would publish his recordings of these
Colorado River investigations in Exploration of the Colorado River of
the West, followed in 1878 by his historic work on the need for land
reform in the West, Report on the Lands of the Arid Regions of the
United States.?

The linking of rail lines from both the eastern and western United
States, the wide distribution of the first images of the Grand Canyon,
and Powell’s writings about his travels created an interest that would
drive how development would occur in the Grand Canyon in the century
that followed (Figure 7). By the beginning of the twentieth century,
Americans would regard the Grand Canyon as a destination to view and
experience rather than a hazardous chasm to be avoided.

1 powell was a self-taught geologist who lost his right arm at the Civil War

Battle of Shiloh.

2 1 1879, Congress created the USGS and named Powell as its first director.
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Figure 3. Detail from Rio Colorado of the West, explored by 1st. Lieut. Joseph C. Figure 4. Detail, Explorations and Surveys South of Central Pacific Railroad. War
Ives, Topl. Engrs. under the direction of the Office of Explorations and Surveys, drawn Department, Preliminary Topographical Map. George M. Wheeler, 1871.
by Frhr. F. W. v. Egloffstein, topographer to the expedition, 1858. (Library of
Congress Digital ID #g4302c np000062 http://hdl.loc.gov/loc.gmd/ g4302c.np000062)
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Figure 5.

Wesley Powell's second Colorado River expedition, 1875. (John Wesley
Powell Photographs, Grand Canyon National Park Museum Collection
Catalog #17262.)

Figure 6. Thomas Moran, “Chasm of the Colorado,” 1873-74. (Collection of the
Department of the Interior Museum, Washington, DC.)

Figure 7. Underwood & Underwood’s map, “Grand Canyon of the Colorado, Grand
Canyon Tour, Map #2,” 1904. Map shows location and extent of stereographic views
of the area published. (Library of Congress Geography and Map Division, Washington,
D.C., Call # G4332.G7 1904.U5 TIL.)
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Mining, Tourists, and the Santa Fe Railroad
Come to the South Rim

In the 1870s, several copper mining districts were developed in areas
close to the Grand Canyon, including Grand Wash Cliffs, Mt.
Trumbull, and the Grand Gulch Mine. In the 1880s, several mines
were established near the western edge of the Grand Canyon, but
anticipated mining riches within the canyon itself never materialized.3
Despite the hundreds of mining claims in and around the canyon, mar-
ginal mines and inaccessibility stymied large-scale mining.

By the mid-1880s, however, prospectors like Capt. John Hance chose
to make their homes at the canyon. These pioneers supported themselves
by entertaining tourists. Hance built a cabin east of Grandview Point
where visitors could stay, and built trails into the canyon which he used

to guide tourists below the South Rim.4 William W. Bass, another miner '

turned tourist guide and promoter, established a camp facility near
Havasupai Point on the South Rim. Bass built a wagon road to his camp
from Ash Fork, Arizona and ran a stage line that conveyed tourists to
the rim. In 1896, James W. Thurber built the Bright Angel Hotel, later
renamed the Bright Angel Lodge, at the present site of Grand Canyon
Village, and extended a stage road from his other tourist camp at
Grandview Point to the new hotel. In the mid-1890s, local prospector
William “Buckey” O’ Neill occupied a log cabin—O’Neill’s Camp—
near the head of the Bright Angel Trail (Figure 8).5

Five years earlier, the Santa Fe Railroad had published its first
promotional booklet on the Grand Canyon, and thus began implementing
its plans to bring travelers in the Southwest to the Grand Canyon
(Figure 9).% In 1896, as part of this effort, the Santa Fe purchased the
rights to one of Thomas Moran’s later paintings entitled Grand Canyon.
The railroad made color reproductions of the painting that were
displayed in railroad terminals across the country.’

- On September 17, 1901, the Santa Fe Railroad completed tracks from

Anita, Arizona to the South Rim and inaugurated service to the Grand
Canyon, initiating regular rail service to the Village.® Within the next ten
years, nearly fifty buildings, both permanent and temporary, sprang up
near the railroad’s Grand Canyon terminus. Included among these was the

‘photography studio that brothers Ellsworth and Emery Kolb built directly
on the rim in 1904.9 In January 1903, the railroad-sponsored luxury resort

hotel, the El Tovar, designed by architect Charles Whittlesey, opened
(Figure 10). The El Tovar’s interior was designed by Mary Elizabeth Jane
Colter. Soon after, Colter designed her first building: the Fred Harvey
Company’s Hopi House, located just east of the El Tovar Hotel.10 In
1906, John G. Verkamp built a curio store to cater to tourists who were
visiting the rim. In 1910, the Babbitt Brothers of Flagstaff, Arizona built
a general store and a grocery at the rim. The Grand Canyon—specifically
what developed into the Grand Canyon Village on the South Rim—was
becoming a premier American tourist destination.

3 Donald J. Hughes, In the House of Stone and Light: Introduction to the Human
History of the Grand Canyon, (Grand Canyon, AZ: Grand Canyon Natural History
Association, 1978), 47.

4 Michael Anderson, Living at the Edge: Explorers, Exploiters and Settlers of the
Grand Camyon Region, (Grand Canyon, AZ: Grand Canyon Natural History
Association, 1998), 59. Grandview Point is approximately fourteen miles east of
Grand Canyon Village.

5 O'Neill's cabin is the only structure from that period that still exists in Grand
Canyon Village. .

6  Kathleen L. Howard and Diana F. Pardue, “Promoting the Southwest in Pictures
and Print,” in Inventing the Southwest: the Fred Harvey Company and Native
American Art (Flagstaff, AZ: Northland Publishing Company, 1996), 90.

7 The Santa Fe later hired Moran to produce more paintings of the Southwest, which
the railroad used to promote their tourist routes and destinations; Ibid., 95-96.

8

The first automobile to be driven to the Grand Canyon arrived just three months
after the Santa Fe; See Anderson, Living at the Edge, 81.

9 Anderson, Living at the Edge, 94-95.

10 The Hopi House was the first among Colter's eight buildings that would be built

on the South Rim. The Fred Harvey Company operated the Santa Fe Railroad's
hotel and railroad concessions, including those at El Tovar.

" Figure 8. Early photograph of Bright Angel Camp on the South Rim (undated). (Fred

Harvey Collection, Cline Library, NAU; AZ 326 Box 2, Folder 1, Print 2-1-4)
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Figure 9. Map of Santa Fe Sysiem Lines. This map was included in a promotionat
booklet published shortly after the opening of the railroad’s El Tovar Hotel at the Grand
Canyon in 1904. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #15781)

Figure 10. Panoramic photo of the eastern facadé of the El Tovar Hotel, 1904. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #9835)
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Chronology by Landscape Characteristics, 1848-1892:

Land Use and Activities

Early Settlement

Early Tourism Initiated

Mining

W.W. Bass Camp
Established

Prospecting Near
Village Site

Tourism Promotion Begun

1884

1884

1889-1891

1890

1890-1891

1892

Pioneer miner John Hance settled in a log cabin that he built at Grandview Point, approximately
fourteen miles east of the present site of Grand Canyon Village. In addition to prospecting and
mining, Hance developed his property as a tourist destination that later became known as the
Hance Hotel. Hance built trails into the canyon and guided tourists below the rim.11

Philip and William Hull, early sheep ranchers at Grand Canyon, conveyed the first tourists into
the canyon near Grandview Point in 1884.12 Hance had built the canyon trail to facilitate his
prospecting activities. 13

Between 1889 and 1891, Louis D. Boucher, a Canadian prospector, arrived near the area of
today’s Grand Canyon Village. Prospecting over the Coconino Plateau and on the Tonto
Platform below the rim, he eventually established a homestead beneath the rim, approximately
nine miles west of the Bright Angel Fault at Dripping Springs. There he built several trails that
led down to the Colorado River. Boucher lived alone and later became known as the “Hermit,”
after which today’s Hermits Rest is named.14

William W. Bass, a miner-turned tourist guide and promoter, established a camp facility on the
South Rim near Havasupai Point, approximately twenty-five miles west of the present site of
Grand Canyon Village. He built a wagon road from Ash Fork, Arizona to his property, and ran
a stage line that conveyed tourists to the rim.15

New York prospector Daniel Lorain Hogan arrived at the South Rim in 1890. He initially
prospected along the Bright Angel Fault in the inner canyon. He and partners Jeffrey Sykes and
Charles McLane built a winter shelter at Indian Garden. In 1893, Hogan filed the Orphan
Copper claim with partner Henry Ward. The Orphan Mine was located below Maricopa Point
just two miles west of the present-day Village. 16

The Santa Fe Railroad (the precursor to the AT and SF Rallroad) published its first promotional
booklet on the Grand Canyon in 1892.17

11 ys. Department of the Interior, National Register of Historic Places, Grand Canyon Village, by Michael P.
Scott, inventory-nomination forrn (Washington, DC: September 21, 1995).

12 Anderson, Living At the Edge, 59.
13 1bid., 61.

14 mid., 76-77.

15 id., 44.

16 1bid., 77-78.

17 Howard and Pardue, Inventing the Southwest, 90.
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Response to Natural Environment

Hydrology, Geology, Climate

Circulation Networks

A and P Railroad Completed

Wagon Road Constructed

Stage line Inaugurated

A and P Railroad Stage
Line Commenced

Vegetation

Grazing Impacts

1882

1885

1892

1892

1880s-1930s

Since 1848, development in and around the Grand Canyon has been predicated on the availability
of water. The hydrologic and geologic character of the region makes water resources scarce.
The Coconino Plateau, which extends from the South Rim of the canyon and gently slopes
southward to the San Francisco Peaks, contains no perennial streams, and gets as little as seven
inches of annual precipitation. In addition, the extreme geology and landforms make access to
the springs that appear along the canyon walls difficult.

In the 1850s, when United States road surveyors located the east-west wagon road through
Arizona, they avoided the arid Coconino Plateau, and instead chose a route that straddled the
35th parallel that followed a string of springs.

The Grand Canyon Village occupies a very arid region where initially water had to be obtained
from distant sources or else catchment tanks had to be built to store rainwater. A series of
natural slopes, swales, and washes in and around the Village site provided limited areas for rain
runoff, where, during wet periods, dams could be built to create water basins.

In 1882, the Atlantic and Pacific Railroad line was completed to Williams, Arizona.

A seventy-three-mile-long wagon road was constructed from Flagstaff to Hull Ranch and on to
John Hance’s cabin at Grandview Point in 1885. This route, approximately nine miles east of
today’s Grand Canyon Village, would soon become the main tourist approach to the canyon. 18

A regular Flagstaff-to-Grandview stage line was inaugurated in 1892. The line was run by Philip and
William Hull who had maintained a cabin and sheep ranch near Grandview since the early 1880s.1°

The Atlantic and Pacific Railroad inaugurated a thrice-weekly stage line to Grandview over the
Flagstaff wagon road.20

Prior to the erection of sufficient fencing around the Park boundary in the 1930s, the grazing of
livestock impacted the density and types of vegetation in and around Grand Canyon Village.

18 Anderson, Living At the Edge, 59.
19 gee Chronology by Landscape Characteristic: 1848-1892, “Land Use” section, 1884.
20 Anderson, Living At the Edge, 64.




Landscape Physical History
January 2004

Grand Canyon Village National Historic Landmark District Cultural Landscape Report
Grand Canyon National Park

Federal Ownership and Early Park Planning: 1893 -1924

In 1893, President Benjamin Harrison established the Grand Canyon .

National Forest, bringing all territory in and immediately adjacent to the
Grand Canyon under the purview of the Federal government. In 1905,
all U.S. forest reserves were transferred from the Department of the
Interior to the Department of Agriculture’s (USDA) Division of
Forestry, the precursor to the U.S. Forest Service. The new division was
led by Gifford Pinchot, a noted conservationist and close political ally of
President Theodore Roosevelt. In 1903, Roosevelt himself visited the
Grand Canyon and stated what would be the guiding principle, and

contested ideal, of the Grand Canyon in the twentieth century. He declared _

that the Grand Canyon was a destination of singular national importance.

The ages have been at work on it, and man can only mar
it. What you can do is to keep it for your children, your
children’s children and for all who come after you, as
one of the great sights which every American, if he
travels at all, should see.?!

During this period, Pinchot and Roosevelt developed a national forest policy
with which they attempted to chart a middle course between the timbering
of national forests for commercial purposes only and the desires of those
such as Sierra Club founder John Muir, who wished to exclude government-
owned forests from the national economy. In 1906, Roosevelt issued a
presidential proclamation making the entire Grand Canyon a Federal forest
preserve. In 1908, Roosevelt, again by presidential proclamation, created
the Grand Canyon National Monument (Figures 11, 12). In less than ten
years, one implication of Roosevelt and Pinchot’s policy could be seen in
the rapidly rising number of visitors to the Grand Canyon. Soon, the
Federal government’s key task at the Grand Canyon was to understand how
to accommodate visitors. To do so, they turned to the nascent field of planning.
These efforts had a direct effect on the future Grand Canyon Village.

Early Park Planning at Grand Canyon Village

In 1909, the U.S. Forest Service developed “A Working Plan For
Grand Canyon National Monument.” Written by District Forest:
Examiner W.R. Mattoon, the document outlined a general management
and development plan for the Grand Canyon National Monument.
Mattoon recommended extending the monument’s boundary, adopting a
fire protection plan, developing a scenic drive along the rim, regulating
automobile traffic, constructing shelters and seating along the rim,
creating tourist campgrounds, and constructing additional roads and
trails to provide more public access.2Z In 1910, the Forest Service
followed its “Working Plan” with a document titled “A Townsite Plan
for Grand Canyon National Monument” (Figure 13). Also written by
Mattoon, the document detailed plans to develop. a townsite at the
railroad’s terminus, then known merely as “Grand Canyon.”

In 1915, the World’s Fair was held in San Francisco, California and
Grand Canyon National Monument received more than 100,000
visitors, as many travelers incorporated a visit to the Grand Canyon into
their World’s Fair trip. The Forest Service’s inability to handle so many
visitors accelerated Federal planning efforts on the South Rim.23 Early
surveys of the Village show a place in disarray, with meandering roads
and scattered buildings (Figure 14). In 1916, Mattoon’s successor as
Forest Supervisor, Don P. Johmston, in collaboration with forest
examiner Aldo Leopold, completed a revised plan for the Village of
Grand Canyon. They proposed using a system of land-use zones that
they hoped would allow visitors to avoid the less attractive services and
industrial activities at the canyon. In 1917, Johnston and Leopold
refined the plan to include seven separate zones, each containing different
uses that would be regulated by a specialized set of guidelines.24

In 1918, the Forest Service hired prominent landscape architect Frank
Albert Waugh (1869-1943) to develop an even more comprehensive
plan which, when published later that year, was formally titled “A Plan
For the Development of the Village of Grand Canyon, Arizona.”
Waugh chaired the University of Massachusetts’s Division of
Horticulture—later the Division of Landscape Architecture—at
Ambherst. He influenced landscape architectural design through the pub-
lication of numerous books and articles, including his Book of
Landscape Gardening and The Natural Style of Landscape Gardening.
In his writings, Waugh developed his theory of the “natural style”
which historian Linda Flint McClelland has described as being depend-
ent on “a close study of nature for practitioners and adherence to the
principles of composition followed by nature.”2> Indeed, McClelland
asserts that “Waugh’s unique contribution to American literature was
his introduction of an ecological approach to landscape gardening.”26

21 president Theodore Roosevelt quoted in Stephen J. Pyne, How the Canyon Became

Grand: A Short History (New York: Penguin Group, 1998), 113.

22 w.Rr. Mattoon, A Townsite Plan for Grand Canyon National Monument, Prepared
for U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Tusayan National Forest (July
18, 1910, GC-NP Archives Accession #17460), 8-10.

See discussion in Ethan Carr's Wilderness by Design: Landscape Architecture and
the National Park Service, (Lincoln, Nebraska: University of Nebraska Press,
1998), 117.

24 id., 118.

25 . Linda Flint McClelland, Building the National Parks: Historic Landscape Design
and Construction, (Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University Press, 1998),
81-82.

26 1bid., 81-82.

23

Figure 11. “Grand Canyon National Monument within Grand Canyon National
Forest, Arizona,” published by U.S. Forest Service, 1908. (Library of Congress
Geography and Map Division, Washington, D.C., Call #G4332.G7 1908.U5 TIL.)
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Figure 12. 1909 Guide Map of Grand Canyon National Monument. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #27764)
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Figure 13. U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, “Working Map Grand Canyon Vicinity, Tusayan National Forest,” July 18,
1910. This map was included in Forest Supervisor W.R. Mattoon’s report “A Townsite Plan for Grand Canyon National Monument,” July
1910. It shows existing conditions as well as a proposed new street layout. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #17460)
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Figure 14. “Working Plan Map Grand Canyon, Tusayan National Forest, Rim Area,” Surveyed by H.D. Burrall (U.S. Forest Service),
August 1917. This map was the first topographical survey prepared of the Grand Canyon Village area. It depicts existing conditions and spe-
cial use permits granted to various entities. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #28344-G)

Figure 15. “General Plan of the Village of Grand Canyon, Arizona.” This map was included in landscape architect Frank A.
Waugh’s 1918 report to the U.S. Forest Service: A Plan for the Development of the Village of Grand Canyon, Arizona. The plan
depicts his proposed scheme for developing a rational village layout. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #17458)
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Figure 16. Detail from Rand McNally and Company’s 1919 map of “Grand Canyon
National Park, Arizona.” This map shows the existing development and boundaries of
the newly established Grand Canyon National Park. (Library of Congress Geography
and Map Division, Washington, D.C., Call # G4332.G7 1919. R3 TIL.)

The Waugh Plan, 1918

Waugh’s 1918 plan for Grand Canyon Village anticipated the imminent
transfer of the Grand Canyon National Monument from the Forest
Service to the newly-created National Park Service (NPS) in the
Department of the Interior. His plan outlined the service, infrastructure,
and organizational needs of the emerging town at the Santa Fe Railroad
terminus that had become known as the town of Grand Canyon. Unlike
written plans and reports that preceded it, Waugh’s plan directly
addressed the unique social, economic, and commercial situation of the
town and accurately forecasted the central role that automobile travel
would play in tourist accessibility to the park.

According to Waugh, since there was no outside commerce or industry
to support it, and the majority of the land was owned by the Federal
government, the town derived its existence solely from the scenic
tourism value of the place. In addition to these atypical attributes, the
site was devoid of any significant water source and thus required the
Santa Fe Railroad to haul in water over 120 miles on rail tank cars.27
Waugh recommended that the Federal agency that administered the site
act paternalistically in order to insure both the enjoyment of the traveling
public and the welfare of the residents of the town who served the public.
Waugh maintained that “the Government is responsible to the public,
trustee for the public, in effective control of the situation through land
ownership, and must decide, not advise. The town is more of a public
utility than a social group. Therefore every part of the Village plan must
first submit to the test of being consistent with the interests of the visiting
public and must be limited by that requirement. 728

Waugh’s physical plan also emphasized an asymmetric, non-linear,
layout of streets and lots to the south and east of the proposed plaza
(Figure 15). These mainly residential lots would provide space for
housing for Santa Fe, Fred Harvey, and government employees.
Irregularly shaped, quarter-acre lots lined each of the winding streets
with variable widths. This design was intended to keep the “streets very
simple and informal in character.”29 To further the informal character,
Waugh suggested that scattered trees be maintained within the street right
of way in order to “preserve and accentuate the natural informality of the
surroundings.”30 Waugh believed that by using these design principles
the town would obtain “a distinctive character” and “that that character
is exemplified in the neighboring forests along the canyon rim and in the
Tusayan National Forest through which we approach the town.”3!

Waugh’s proposal also incorporated recommendations for improvements
to tourist facilities. He suggested improving the existing footpath that
led from El Tovar to Yavapai Point, east of the Village; constructing an
automobile-accessible lookout at Yavapai Point; building a distinctive
shelter at Yavapai Point that would entice visitors to this scenic destination,;
reserving an open area along the rim east of the railroad terminus; and
developing Tusayan Garden as an “unpretentious botanic garden devoted
exclusively to the local flora.”32

Waugh aimed to create “an artistically effective introduction for the
canyon view” by proposing a broad, straight walk that ascended from
Grand View Road to the canyon rim through the proposed “Government
Park” and “Tusayan Garden.” Identified as the Tysayan Mall, Waugh
envisioned this corridor as a pathway that would rise “by rustic stone
steps,” to the rim that would be “dignified and inviting and of sufficient
dimensions and importance to suggest that it leads to something worth
while.”33

Waugh’s proposals in his 1918 plan provided the blueprint for future
planning efforts. although within a few years the NPS, in collaboration
with the Santa Fe Railroad and their planning consultants, would
propose an alternative plan. Waugh’s work at the Grand Canyon,
however, would later be referenced and many of his recomumendations
would be developed.

27 Frank A. Waugh, A Plan for the Development of the Village of Grand Canyon,
Arizona, (Washington, DC: Government Printing Office, 1918), 4-6.

28 Ibid., 8-9; At the time that Waugh wrote the Village plan, Grand Canyon had a
permanent population of approximately 300 to 400 persons, with another 200 tourists
visiting daily. Although the Fred Harvey Company and the Santa Fe Railroad had
organized both a school and a post office, Waugh argued that much needed to be
accomplished in order to create a viable town. His design for the physical layout of
the town was predicated on establishing a central plaza or civic center where the
town's principle public buildings would be located.

29 1bid., 11.

30 1bid.

31 g,

32 id., 15.

33 id., 14.
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The National Park Service Era Begins at the Grand Canyon,
1919

In 1919, the Grand Canyon’s designation as a national monument was
abolished with the creation of the Grand Canyon National Park
(GRCA) (Figure 16). The park was to be administered by the NPS,
created in 1916 within the United States Department of the Interior.

In January 1919, NPS landscape architect Charles Punchard traveled to
the Grand Canyon to study conditions and possible development options
for the soon-to-be-designated national park. With the help of George
Goodwin, the NPS Chief Engineer, and William H. Peters, the Acting
Superintendent of the new GRCA, Punchard identified the need for
improved scenic drives for automobile travelers as the park’s most
pressing issue. Heeding their recommendations, NPS Director Stephen
Mather stated that the Grand Canyon needed “broad development,”
including road and trail improvements, administrative buildings,
residential areas, campgrounds, and utilities (Figure 17).34

In 1920, NPS landscape architects Daniel Hull and Paul P. Kiesseg
undertook a thorough study of the landscape at the Grand Canyon
Village. In 1921, Hull began developing plans for the layout of the
Village. In 1924, his Community Development Plan was adopted for
Grand Canyon Village (Figure 18). This comprehensive plan was the

result of a public-private collaboration between Hull, the Santa Fe

Railroad, -.and the latter’s consultants, the Chicago architecture and
planning firm of Graham, Anderson, Probst and White.33

Hull’s 1924 plans reiterated Waugh’s proposal for a plaza or “Village
Square” near the terminus of the railroad track, with the proposed
administration building to be located on the north side. Hull left the
vacant areas on the rim undeveloped and instead attempted to locate
services and residential areas away from the rim. His design applied
Johnston’s and Leopold’s zoning ideas and emphasized the use of
existing vegetation and the area’s topography for aesthetic effect. Ethan
Carr maintains that Hull’s 1924 plan for Grand Canyon Village “would
become the essential blueprint for construction in the Village over the
next twenty years.”36

34 Carr, Wilderness by Design, 119.

35 “Grand Canyon Village,” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form,
1995. Also see Ethan Carr's discussion of Graham, Anderson, Probst, and White in
Wilderness by Design, 125-127.

36 Carr, Wilderness by Design, 120-121.

Figure 17. 1920 Water Development Project plan showing new water lines in vicinity
of Bright Angel Camp. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #3226)

Figure 18. “Grand Canyon Natiomal Park General Plan [for] Community

g sl L

Development,” 1924. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #71367)
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Chronology by Landscape Characteristics, 1893 -1924:

Land Use and Activities

National Forest Established

Tourist Facilities Purchased

Bright Angel Hotel
and Stage Road Built

Santa Fe Promotion

Control of Forest
Preserves Transferred

Game Preserve Established
Promotional Artwork
Developed ‘

National Monument
Established

1893

1895

1896

1896

1905

1906

1906

1908

A\

The Grand Canyon National Forest was established by President Benjamin Harrison in 1893.

James Wilbur Thurber assumed operation of the Atlantic and Pacific’s Flagstaff-to-Grandview
stage line. That year, Thurber also purchased John Hance’s ranch, trails and tourist facilities
that were located at Grandview Point, fourteen miles east of Grand Canyon Village.37

In 1896, James W. Thurber built the Bright Angel Hotel, later Bright Angel Lodge, at the
present site of Grand Canyon Village. He also extended a stage road from his tourist camp at

~ Grandview to his new. tourist hotel and camp.38

In 1896, the Santa Fe Railroad purchased the rights to one of Thomas Moran’s paintings titled
Grand Canyon. The railroad made color reproductions of the painting that were elaborately
framed and hung in railroad terminals across the country. Moran was later hired by the railroad
to produce paintings of the Southwest, which they then used in promoting tourist destinations.3%

In 1905, control of the nation’s forest preserves was transferred from the Department of the
Interior to the Department of Agriculture’s (USDA) Division of Forestry (later renamed the

Forest Service).

In 1906, portions of the existing Grand Canyon Forest Preserve were set aside as Grand Canyon
Game Preserve by Presidential Proclamation 694, November 28, 1906. The new game preserve
was administered by the Forest Service (USDA).

In 1906, at the behest of the Santa Fe Railroad, painter Louis Akin came to the Southwest.
During his trip he painted a work titled EI Tovar Hotel, Grand Canyon.*0

The Grand Canyon National Monument was established under the purview of U.S. Department
of Agriculture’s Forest Service in 1908. The former National Forest and game preserve were
incorporated into the new National Monument. 41

37 Anderson, Living At the Edge, 63-64.

3 mid., 64. :

39 Howard and Pardue, Inventing the Southwest, 95-96.
40 id., 9%.

41 President, Proclamation, “Grand Canyon National Monument, Proclamation 794,” 11 January 1908.
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The U.S. Forest Service developed “A Working Plan For Grand Canyon National Monument”

in 1909. Written by District Forest Examiner W.R. Mattoon, the document outlined a general
management and development plan for the Grand Canyon area. Mattoon recommended extending

the monument’s boundary, adopting a fire protection plan, developing a scenic drive along the

rim, regulating automobile traffic, constructing shelters and seating along the rim, creating
campgrounds, and constructing additional roads and trails to provide more public access.42

In 1910, Mattoon further developed the “Working Plan” and produced a document titled “A
Townsite Plan for Grand Canyon National Monument.” In it, Mattoon detailed plans to develop
a town site at the railroad’s terminus, then known merely as “Grand Canyon.” This was the
first published official government plan that stated the importance of controlling development
along the rim. The plan was developed in response to the perceived unruliness of the commercial
development then taking place at the South Rim.

In 1915, the year that the World’s Fair was held in San Francisco, the Grand Canyon National
Monument received over 100,000 visitors. In an effort to provide much-needed visitor services,
the Forest Service freely issued licenses to all livery outfits that wished to offer their services
to the visitors. The confusion, disorganization, and rampant competition that resulted increased
awareness of the deficiencies of administration and funding at the Grand Canyon and furthered
efforts to transfer the monument’s administration from the Forest Service to the proposed new
division of the Department of the Interior, the NPS.43

NPS created.

In 1916, U.S. Forest Service supervisor, Don P. Johnston, in collaboration with forest examiner,
Aldo Leopold, completed a revised plan for the Village of Grand Canyon. Their proposal employed
a system of land-use zones that they hoped would allow visitors to avoid the less attractive services
and industrial activities at the canyon. In 1917, they refined the plan to include seven separate
zones, each to house different uses and to be regulated by a different set of guidelines. These zones
were: the “Rim Zone,” the “Accommodation Zone,” the “Residence Zone,” the “Commercial

" Zone,” the “Seasonal Camp Zone,” the “public Camp Grounds,” and the “Stables Zone. %4

In August 1917, the Forest Service completed a topographical survey and a detailed existing
conditions plan of the rim area at Grand Canyon National Monument.

42 Mattoon, A Townsite Plan for Grand Canyon National Monument, 8-10.
43 Carr, Wilderness by Design, 117.
4 1bid., 118.
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Waugh Plan 1918 In 1918, at the request of the Forest Service, landscape architect and educator Frank A. Waugh
Completed (1869-1943) developed a report entitled “A Plan For the Development of the Village of Grand

Canyon, Arizona.” The proposals included in the plan provided a blueprint for future planning
efforts at Grand Canyon.45 '

Improvements Recommended 1919 In January 1919, NPS landscape architect Charles Punchard traveled .to the Grand Canyon to
study current conditions and contemplate the future development of the soon-to-be-designated
national park. With Punchard, NPS Chief Engineer George Goodwin, and William H. Peters,
the Acting Superintendent of the new GRCA, made a careful assessment of conditions at the
park. They recommended improving scenic rim drives for automobile travel as the park’s most
pressing issue. Heeding Goodwin and Peters’ recommendations, the Director of the NPS,
Stephen Mather, stated that Grand Canyon needed “broad development,” including road and
trail improvements, administrative buildings, residential areas, campgrounds, and utilities.46

National Park Established 1919 In February 1919, the U.S. Congress abolished the Grand Canyon National Monument and
established the GRCA in its place. The NPS (created in 1916) assumed administrative control
of the new park on August 15, 1919.

Landscape Study Completed 1920 In 1920, NPS landscape architects Daniel Hull and Paul P. Kiesseg undertook a thorough study of
the landscape at the Grand Canyon Village. Hull began developing plans for the layout of the
Village in 1920. His plans reiterated Waugh’s proposal for a plaza or “Village Square” near the

. terminus of the railroad track with the proposed administration building located on the north side.
His plans left undeveloped all of the vacant areas on the rim, and instead attempted to locate services
and residential areas away from the rim. His design applied Johnston and Leopold’s zoning ideas,
emphasized the exploitation of existing vegetation, and conformance with the topography. Historian
Ethan Carr maintains that Hull’s 1920-1921 plan for Grand Canyon Village “would become the
essential blueprint for construction in the Village over the next twenty years,” and that “the town
planning methods [Hull] employed established a basic procedure for planning new “park villages”
that protected the visual character of the surrounding scenery, and responded both to
natural features and to the demands of maintaining and ameliorating earlier tourist development. ”47

Congressional 1924 In April 1924, President Calvin Coolidge signed a Congressional appropriations bill that set
Appropriations aside $7.5 million for road and trail construction in the National Parks.

NPS Community 1924 After two years in development, a Community Development Plan was adopted for Grand Canyon
Development Plan Village. This comprehensive plan was the result of a public-private collaboration between the NPS
Adopted Landscape Engineering Department, the Santa Fe Railway Company, and the latter’s consultants,

the Chicago architecture and planning firm of Graham, Anderson, Probst and White .48

45 Waugh, A Plan for the Development of the Village of Grand Canyon, Arizona, 4-6.
46 Carr, Wilderness by Design, 119.
47 Ibid., 120-121.

48 “Grand Canyon Village,” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
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James W. Thurber built the Bright Angel Hotel (later Bright Angel Lodge) at the present site of
Grand Canyon Village in 1896. He also extended a stage road from his tourist camp at
Grandview to his new tourist hotel and camp at the rim.4°

During the mid-1890s, William “Buckey” O’Neill, a local prospector, occupied a log cabin next
to Thurber’s Bright Angel Hotel near the rim. His mining interests in and around the canyon
led him to pursue a rail link to the South Rim. In 1897, O’Neill became one of the key
organizers of the Santa Fe and Grand Canyon Railway.50 The SF and GCR was backed by a
small New York City investment firm with mining interests in the area, by the Santa Fe Railroad
Company, and by several local residents.

Construction on the SF and GCR began in 1899. The line was completed only as far as Anita,
Arizona, twenty miles short of the canyon rim. Service to Anita began in March 1900.5!

In anticipation of the railroad’s arrival at the South Rim, William Wallace Bass, proprietor of
Bass Camp (tourist facilities) near Havasupai Point, constructed a primitive road that connected
his camp to the railroad via Rowe Well, some three miles Southwest of the location of the
proposed rail terminus.52

In 1901, due to mounting financial troubles related to the cost of construction, the SF and GCR
went bankrupt. The Santa Fe Railroad Company, one of the venture’s largest creditors, took
control of the line that year. A subsidiary company, named the Grand Canyon Railway, was
formed to run the new line.>3

The Santa Fe Railroad completed the railroad tracks from Anita, Arizona to the South Rim of
the Grand Canyon, and inaugurated service on September 17, 1901 (Figure 19).54

After the completion of the Grand Canyon Railway, a primitive automotive road began to appear

. alongside its tracks. The road led from Williams, Arizona to the Grand Canyon Railway

terminus at the rim and was used by locals and by tourism operators like Martin Buggeln and
Sanford Rowe. Eventually, both Coconino County and the U.S. Forest Service expended funds
to maintain segments of this road.3>

49 Anderson, Living At the Edge, 64.

50 “Grand Canyon Village,” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.

51 Spencer Crump, Rails to the Grand Canyon, (Corona del Mar, California: Zeta Publishers Company, n.d.), 21-27.
52 United States Department of the Interior, National Park Service, Historic American Engineering Record, South
Entrance Road Historic American Engineering Record, by Michael F. Anderson, (HAER No. AZ-45, 1993), 3
53 Crump, Rails to the Grand Canyon, 21-27.

34 Tbid., 21-27.

55 Anderson, South Entrance Road HAER Report, 3.

.

Figure 19. Trains in the railyard. Railroad Depot building is visible in center left
background. Building on left is former 1913 power house. (Grand Canyon Museum
Collection Catalog #4441)
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Olde Maine Road Built 1919-1920
Park-to-Park Highway 1920
Inaugurated

Congressional 1924
Appropriations

NPS Community 1924
Development Plan

Adopted

By 1913, an alternative entrance to Grand Canyon Village had been developed. The approach
consisted of a branch road that extended west from the Flagstaff-Grandview Stage Road to the
approximate location of today’s south entrance station. It then turned northward toward Grand
Canyon Village. The route, which was never more than a fourteen-foot-wide, bladed earthen
roadway, served early automobile traffic to the Grand Canyon.50

Between 1919 and 1920, Coconino County built the Olde Maine Road that connected the town of
Maine (about fifteen miles west of Flagstaff and later renamed Parks) to the Grand Canyon via the
Williams-Grand Canyon Road. The County built the road to accommodate automobile traffic, and
continued to maintain it until the BPR completed the modern south approach road in 1932.57

"~ In 1920, Stephen Mather, Director of the NPS, announced the opening of a “National Park-to-

Park Highway” that connected all of the western national parks. The loop road, which Mather
had publicized for five years, extended from Denver, down the Rocky Mountains, across to
California via the Grand Canyon, up the Sierra Range to the Cascades, across the northern
Rockies at Glacier Park, and back to Denver. The loop was composed of over 6,000 miles of
designated state and county roads, of which about 2,000 were paved.38

In April 1924, President Calvin Coolidge signed a Congressional appropriations bill that set
aside $7.5 million for road and trail construction in the National Parks.5® GRCA received
$275,000 in road and trail funding. The first road projects undertaken included the surveying
and grading of Village Loop Drive, Avenues A, B and C (now Apache, Boulder and Coconino
streets), and a section of South Park Entrance Road through the Village.50

After two years in development, a Community Development Plan was adopted for Grand Canyon
Village. This comprehensive plan was the result of a public-private collaboration between the NPS’s
Landscape Engineering Department, the Santa Fe Railway Company, and the latter’s consultants, the
Chicago architecture and planning firm of Graham, Anderson, Probst and White.6! The circulation
elements of the plan included a new entrance road that approached the Village from the south and
culminated at a central plaza on the south side of the railroad tracks. The plan also called for
construction of a series of gently curving roads that followed the natural topography. It called for the
creation of two residential areas on either side of the proposed south entrance road. One area would
house NPS employees and the other would house Fred Harvey and Santa Fe employees.62

56 mbid.

57 hid.

58 Carr, Wilderness By Design, 87.

59 Carr, Wilderness By Design, 151-152.

60  «Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995,
61 mbid.

62 United States, Department of the Interior, National Park Service, Division of Landscape Architecture, Western

Office, Design and Construction, Grand Canyon National Park, General Plan Community Development,
(June 24, 1924, Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #71367).
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In his report on “A Working Plan for Grand Canyon National Monument,” Forest Service
examiner W.R. Mattoon explained the preferred technique for forest thinning for scenic effect
along the rim of the canyon. He maintained that “the key to the operation is in opening up
vistas through the trees ... [where] in places sweeping panoramas will be afforded.”63

W.R. Mattoon’s 1910 “Townsite Plan for Grand Canyon National Monument” recommends
that roads be laid out with a thirty-foot width, but argues that all western yellow pine trees and
large junipers or pinyons should be left in the right-of-way. On residential lots, Mattoon
recommended that the Forest Service ranger approve all cutting or pruning of green trees. %4

In his 1918 report entitled “A Plan for the Development of the Village of Grand Canyon,
Arizona,” landscape architect Frank Waugh described the existing vegetation. He described the
existing land as rolling and “generally well timbered” with good specimens of western yellow
pine in the ravines and a heavy growth of pinyon and juniper on higher ground.65

Waugh recommended the development of Tusayan Garden, an “unpretentious botanic garden
devoted exclusively to the local flora.”6

In 1896, James W. Thurber built the Bright Angel Hotel (later Bright Angel Lodge) at the
present site of Grand Canyon Village. He also extended a stage road from his tourist camp at
Grandview to his new tourist hotel and camp.67

William “Buckey” O’Neill, local prospector, erected a log cabin at the present site of the Bright
Angel Lodge. His mining interests in and around the canyon led him to pursue a rail link to the
South Rim. In 1897, O’Neill became one of the organizers of the Santa Fe and Grand Canyon
Railway.68

The “Buckey” O’Neill cabin still stands. It was incorporated into the Fred Harvey Company’s
1935 development of the Bright Angel Lodge on the South Rim.

63 w.R Mattoon, A Working Plan for Grand Canyon National Monument, Prepared for U.S. Department of Agricultire,
Forest Service (June 28, 1909), 61.

64 Mattoon, A Townsite Plan, 6, 9.
65 Waugh, 4-5.

66 Ibid.,. 15.

67  Anderson, Living At the Edge, 64.

68 «Grand Canyon Village,” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
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Buildings and Structures (continued)

Railroad Related Construction 1901-1914 Between 1901 and 1914, nearly fifty permanent and temporary structures were erected near the
terminus of the Grand Canyon Railway. Most of these structures were related to the
developing tourist industry and associated service and residential needs. They included stables,
a railroad depot, a power house, and numerous modest residences for railroad and Fred Harvey
employees (Figures 20, 21, and 22).%9

Cameron Hotel and 1903 By 1903, Ralph Cameron had purchased the former Red Horse Stage station and moved it to
Camps Built the South Rim near the trailhead (Bright Angel Trail). He added a second story to the station
-building, built several tent cabins and opened Cameron’s Hotel and Camps (Figure 23).70

Kolb Studio Built 1904 In 1904, near the Bright Angel trailhead, brothers Ellsworth and Emery Kolb erected the first
section of their photography studio directly on the rim. The brothers expanded the building
substantially in 1915 and again in 1925.7!

El Tovar Hotel Built 1904 On November 1, 1904, the El Tovar Hotel opened. The Santa Fe Railroad hired architect
Charles Whittlesey to design the luxury resort at the rim of the Grand Canyon.

Hopi House Built 1905 In 1905, Hopi House, designed by Fred Harvey architect, Mary Elizabeth Jane Colter, was built
on the South Rim next to the El Tovar Hotel (Figures 24 and 25). It served as Fred Harvey’s
Native American craft demonstration and sales building.

In 1905, the Santa Fe Railway also hired a “landscape artist” to design the area surrounding
El Tovar, Hopi House, and the stables.”2

T e s 2SR ISR AT

Figure 20. The first Grand Canyon power house, built in 1913 near El Tovar and the
railroad tracks. This photo was taken in 1925 just before it was replaced with the
existing Power House. (Northern Arizona University Cline Library, Jack Greening

Collection: Call # NAU.PH.90.9.1847.) Bright Angel Hotel 1905 The Santa Fe Railroad hired California architect Francis Wilson to remodel and convert the
Remodeled Buckey O’Neill Cabin and Bright Angel Hotel into a Bright Angel Camp. The camp provided
alternative, and more modest, guest accommodations than the El Tovar Hotel (Figure 26).73

Verkamp’s Curio Store Built 1905 John G. Verkamp erected his curio shop near the site of the El Tovar in 1905. 74
Mule Barn, Livery Stable 1906 The Fred Harvey Company built a mule barn (Bldg. #0562), livery stable (Bldg. #0563), and
and Blacksmith Shop Built a blacksmith shop (Bldg. #0564) south of the railroad tracks in 1906.75

69 Carr, Wilderness By Design, 117.

70 Anderson, Living At the Edge, 86-87.

7L Anderson, Living at the Edge, 94-95.

72 “Grand Canyon Village™ National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
3 id.

74 oid.

5 1bid.
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Figure 21. 1905 artist’s rendering of the planned El Tovar stables complex, including (from left to right) the Blacksmith Shop, Wranglers’
Dormitory, Livery Stable, and Mule Barn, drawn from an imaginary perspective before the buildings were constructed. (from Michael F.
Anderson’s Along the Rim, 32) '

Figure 22. 1910 photograph of the east side of the El Tovar stable complex, including the former Fred Harvey Transportation
Department Dormitory (left) and Livery Stable (right). (Northern Arizona University Cline Library, Call # NAU.PH.640.61.)
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Figure 23. Circa 1905-10 photo of Bright Angel Camp, Grand Canyon. By L.C. Figure 24. 1905 Photo of Hopi House at Grand Canyon Village (Photo by Detroit Figure 25. 1905 Photo of Navajo hogans located near Hopi House (Photo by Detroit
McClure, Denver. (Library of Congress American Memory Project On-line, Western Publishing Company). (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #9845) Publishing Company). (Grand Canyon Archives Photo Collection #9844)
History/ Genealogy Department, Denver Public Library. Reproduction #MCC-1198.)

—
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The Grand Canyon Railway Depot was erected in 1910.76

In 1914, the Fred Harvey Company constructed a sales room and lookout point on the rim west
of the Bright Angel Hotel. Known as Lookout Studio, the building was designed by Fred Harvey
architect Mary Elizabeth Jane Colter to blend with its surroundings.

The U.S. Forest Service built a residence for its ranger at Grand Canyon. Located north of the
first administration building (Bldg. #0001), the cabin was remodeled and occupied by the Park
Superintendent after 1922. In 1931, the building was demolished.”?

Circa 1914, the Santa Fe Railroad built the Fred Harvey Garage (Bldg. #0551) to accommodate
its new fleet of touring motorcars. In addition, the railroad erected two residences for its
executives (Bldg. #0552 and #0554).

The first Grand Canyon School (Bldg. #SRB0208) was built in the Village around 1917.

Between the time that the NPS began managing the Grand Canyon and the adoption of the 1924
master plan, NPS constructed a number of structures. Included among these was the rustic-style
1921 Administration Building that was designed by NPS landscape architect Daniel Hull. The
building was later remodeled for use as the park superintendent’s residence (Bldg. #0001).

The NPS also built several permanent employee’s residences and utility buildings. These included
the assistant superintendent’s house (Bldg. #SRQO0003, the general foreman’s residence
(Bldg. #SRQ0002), a rangers’ dormitory (Bldg. #SRB0076), and a mess hall for NPS employees
(Bldg. #SRQ0024). These residential buildings were erected on the south side of the railroad
tracks in what would later be designated the NPS Area. In June 1922, the mess hall was
converted into the chief ranger’s residence and a new mess hall was authorized for construction.
The earliest NPS utility buildings at the Grand Canyon were a carpenter shop (Bldg. #SRB0069)
and a blacksmith shop (Bldg. #SRB0074).78

The NPS erected a community building in 1924. The structure burned in 1933 and was rebuilt
in 1935 (Bldg. #SRB0044).

76 Ibid.
77 1bid.
78 Ibid.

Figure 26. 1906 photo of the Bright Angel Hotel on the South Rim in Grand Canyon
Village. The Bright Angel Hotel was originally erected in 1896 by tourist operator
James Thurber. Here it is seen after it was acquired and remodeled by the Santa Fe
Railway Company in 1905. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #9828)
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Grand Canyon Village Matures: 1924-1932

In 1920, Stephen Mather, Director of the NPS, announced the opening of
a “National Park-to-Park Highway” that connected all the western national
parks. The loop road extended from Denver, Colorado, along the Rocky
Mountains, across to California via the Grand Canyon, up the Sierra
Range to the Cascades, across the northern Rockies at Glacier Park and
back to Denver. The loop was composed of over 6,000 miles of designated
state and county roads, of which about 2,000 miles were paved.

In 1924, President Calvin Coolidge signed a congressional
appropriations bill that set aside $7.5 million for road and trail
construction in the National Parks. Over the next ten years, the NPS
would collaborate with the USDA’s Bureau of Public Roads and use the
funding to build new roads to GRCA and to improve roads within it. In
Grand Canyon Village, Village Loop Drive was surveyed and graded,
and Avenues A, B, and C (now Apache, Boulder and Coconino streets),
and a section of South Entrance Road from Williams, Arizona to the
Village were completed.” As intended, the direct result of Mather’s
highway and the BPR road building projects was greater visitation to the
parks in the western United States. During the 1925-1926 travel season,
63,000 visitors arrived at the South Rim in approximately 20,000
automobiles. This number increased to 77,000 visitors in 25,000 cars
during the 1926-1927 season. By 1927, travel to the Grand Canyon by
automobile exceeded rail travel for the first time in the park’s history.80

By 1928, GRCA Superintendent Minor R. Tillotson would report to the
Director of the NPS concerning automobile travel in the park.

With a total of 167,226 visitors, travel to the Grand
Canyon exceeded that for any previous year in the
history of the Park...The extent to which the auto is
becoming the popular method of travel to the Park is
particularly noteworthy. A total of 32,316 cars carrying
99,303 passengers entered the Park this season as
against 28,479 cars carrying 89,681 passengers last
year. This represents an increase in 10.73 percent in
visitors by auto. Rail travel, on the other hand shows a
decrease of 6.51 percent.8!

In 1929, almost 200,000 people visited GRCA. This was the apex of
GRCA visitation for several years as the park began to suffer the effects
of the October 1929 stock market crash and the beginning of the Great
Depression of the 1930s. By 1933, visitation had dropped to just over
100,000. First rail travel, and then auto travel, dropped precipitously.

Despite this, the Fred Harvey Company, the primary concessionaire at
Grand Canyon Village, constructed or upgraded several projects on the
South Rim. In Grand Canyon Village, the company constructed several
“utility buildings” such as a new auto paint shop and garages for the
employee residences (Figures 27, 28, and 29).

Road building continued unabated as well. In 1931, the South Approach
Highway (Arizona Highway #64) to the park—and by extension to
Grand Canyon Village—was completed. Most important was the
creation by the Fred Harvey Company of an alternative water source for
the Village, which had long been dependent on daily water trains for its
water supply. In 1931 and 1932, the company constructed a water
pumping plant at Indian Garden, four and one-half miles down the
Bright Angel Trail from the Village, within the Canyon. The plant

pumped water from Indian Garden Spring to the South Rim and its

system included a reservoir with a 70,000 gallon capacity.

79 United States Department of the Interior, National Register of Historic Places,

National Historic Landmark Nomination: Grand Canyon Village Historic District,
by Michael P. Scott, et. al., nomination form, (Washington, DC: February 8, 1997).

80 Anderson, “South Entrance Road HAER Report,” 2-3.
8l Grand Canyon National Park Annual Report, 1928, 1.
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Figure 27 1929 Plan: “A.T.&S.F. Ry. System Standard Five Room Section
Houses.”(Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #68100)

Figure 30. Pre-1925 aerial photo of the Village. Note the absence of Center Road an
concessionaire utility buildings. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #13639-13644)

- e aves:
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Figure 28. 1929 Plan: “A.T.&S.F. Ry. System Standard Five Room Section Houses.” Note
stone fence pier near center of plan. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #68100)

A ol Z

Figure 31. Photograph ca. 1930s showing spray ponds and Bright Angel Camp. (from
Michael F. Anderson, Along the Rim, page 11).

Figure 32. 1932 aerial photo of Bright Angel Hotel complex taken prior to development of
Mary E.J. Colter’s Bright Angel Lodge. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #9543)
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Building (built 1929) taken from the parking area in the “public plaza.” The plaza,
designated as such on the 1924 Master Plan, was used as a parking area from the time
it was completed. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection #9504)

Chronology by Landscape Characteristics, 1924-1932:

Land Use and Activities

Park Planning Advocated

Peak Business Year
for Park Operators

Stock Market Crash

Decline In Park Attendance

Circulation Networks

Automobile Travel Growth

BPR Agreement Formalized

South Entrance Road
Surveyed

1925

1929

1929

1930-1933

1925-1927

1925

1925

In 1925, at the eighth National Parks Conference that was held at Mesa Verde National Park,
then assistant and associate NPS directors Horace Albright and Arno Cammerer advocated the
creation of “general development plans” for all national parks. The impetus for such plans
derived from the massive road building program initiated after the 1924 roads and trails
appropriations bill, and from the subsequent establishment of a cooperative agreement with the
BPR.82 (Refer to Figure 30 for an aerial view of the Village during this era.)

In 1929, private operators within GRCA experienced their most profitable year to date.
Attendance at the park rose over 14 percent from the previous year.83

On October 29, 1929, a record number of shares were traded as investors dumped stocks for
whatever value they would bring. The Great Depression of the 1930s had begun.

Between 1930 and 1933, visitor numbers at the Grand Canyon dropped over 60 percent, with
attendance numbers falling to pre-1925 levels. In addition, park operators sustained significant
revenue losses as large as 48 percent below their 1929 peak.34 (Refer to Figures 31 and 32 for
aerial views of the Village during this era.)

During the 1925-1926 travel season, 63,000 visitors arrived at the South Rim in approximately
20,000 automobiles. This number increased to 77,000 visitors in 25,000 cars during the 1926-
1927 season. In 1926-1927, travel to the Grand Canyon by automobile exceeded rail
travel for the first time in the park’s history.85

In 1924, the NPS entered into an agreement with the Department of Agriculture’s BPR. The
agreement charged BPR engineers with designing and managing the construction of park-
related roads. Both parties formalized it in 1925.86

In the summer of 1925, the BPR completed a survey for the South Entrance Road alignment.37

82 Carr, Wilderness By Design, 195-197.

83 GRCA Annual Report, 1933, 1.

84 1pid., 1.

85 Anderson, “South Entrance Road HAER Report,” 2-3.
86 id., 4.

87 1id., 5.
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‘Between January 1927 and December 1928, the 7.42-mile long South Entrance Road
was completed.

In 1928, construction began on a permanent, automobile-grade road from Williams to Grand
Canyon Village. NPS Director Stephen Mather and Assistant Director Horace Albright had
lobbied aggressively for this road since 1924. They argued that the Grand Canyon was not being
properly developed as a national park because it was not easily accessible to everyone, due to
the lack of adequate highways.88

Today’s Village Loop Drive developed in separate segments over a seven-year period. The 1924
comprehensive plan, which clearly delineated a loop road to allow for easy circumnavigation of

the Village, provided a blueprint for the development of Village Loop Drive. The first segment, .

built in 1928, consisted of the last 2,000 feet of the 1928 South Entrance Road. As designed,
this segment extended two 16-foot wide lanes separated by a 30-foot wide landscaped island
from the planned civic plaza east to the terminus of the existing Grand Canyon-to-
Grandview/Desert View Highway near the Fred Harvey Garage (Bldg. #0551).

The second segment of Village Lobp Drive was constructed between 1930 and 1931. The new
road extended from the civic plaza to the new public campground and the Fred Harvey Cabin
Camp that was located at the southwest edge of the Village.

The third segment, completed in 1931-1932, consisted of a segmeht of the new West Rim Drive
that extended west of the Village along the rim. The portion of this road located in the Village
began at the Superintendent’s Residence (Bldg. #0001) where it connected to the terminus of the

~ South Entrance Road and the Grand Canyon-to-Grandview/Desert View Highway. The segment

extended west and connected with the Cabin Camp access road at the west end of the Village.
The project also incorporated significant landscaping work. In addition to the 30-foot wide auto-
motive road, a 950-foot long stone retaining wall was erected south of the roadway. The stone
retaining wall and stairs located at the head of the railroad tracks was also rebuilt at this time.89

A concrete sidewalk and arch, stone walls, and concrete stairway were erected near the Kolb
Studio around 1930.90

In 1932, the NPS constructed a large landscaped island at the center of what was designated as
the civic plaza on the 1924 plan (Figure 33). The island allowed for traffic movement and
parking in front of Babbitt’s Store without interrupting traffic flow on the (Old) South Entrance
Road—now called Center Road.%!

88 Ibid., 2-3; “Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.

89 United States Department of Interior, National Park Service, Historic American Engineering Record, Village

Loop Drive, by Michael F. Anderson, (HAER #AZ-41, 1994), 7-11.

90  «Grand Canyon Village Historic District,” National Historic Landmark Nomination, 1997.
Anderson, “South Entrance Road HAER Report,” 19.

91 Anderson, “South Entrance Road HAER Report,” 19.
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Buildings and Structures

NPS Residences Built 1925-1931
Park Concessionaire’s - 1925-1933
Development

NPS Utility 1925-1928

Buildings Erected

Babbitt Brothers Store 1926

Built
Auto Camp Begun 1926
Water Tanks Relocated 1926-1929

Twenty-eight buildings were erected by the NPS between 1925 and 1931. All were located within
the NPS residential and utility area, along the newly constructed Tonto, Kaibab, and Juniper
Hill streets (Includes: Bldgs. #SRQ0006 and #SRQO0007; Bldgs. #SRQ0011 and #SRQO0013;
Bldgs. #SRB0078 and #SRBO0075; Bldg. #SRB0103; Bldg. #SRB0100; Bldg. #SRQ0017; also,
two garages built in 1925 that were demolished).2

“The Santa Fe Railway’s construction program between 1925 and 1929 was significant in
immediately shaping and defining the basic physical elements of the [1924 comprehensive] plan.
The rapid development of those elements by the railway can be attributed to readily available
financing for construction, the advantage of close involvement with the creation of the plan
(most of which was geared toward park concessionaire’s facilities), and well-organized
architectural and construction divisions within the Santa Fe Railway organization.”%3 Some of
the most important construction projects of this period were a new power plant (Bldg. #0567),
and the new sanitary sewer treatment plant. Another major Santa Fe construction project was
the Fred Harvey Laundry Building (Bldg. #0569), which was completed in 1926.

Between 1925 and 1928, five utility buildings were erected near the carpenter and blacksmith
shops in Grand Canyon Village. This construction formed the quadrangle that would later be
designated as the NPS Utility Area. Construction included Bldgs. #SRB0078, #SRBO0075,
#SRB0069, and two garages that were demolished. 4

The Babbitt Brothers Trading Company erected its general store on the designated civic plaza
in 1925-1926. The store was destroyed by fire in 1994.95

In 1926, seventeen one-room, rustic-style cottages were erected in what was first designated the
Fred Harvey Auto Camp, and was later known as the motor lodge or as Grand Canyon Cabin
Camp. Still later, the complex was referred to as the Maswik Cabins. Six of the cabins remain
today (Bldg. #0610 through Bldg. #0615). In addition to the cabins, the original camp included
a central lodge building that contained restrooms, a lunch counter, and a delicatessen. The camp
expanded when additional cabins were constructed in 1927 and 1929. The lodge and the
majority of the cabins were replaced by the existing Maswik Lodge in the early 1970s.%

Between 1926 and 1929, the water storage tanks that were originally located near the El Tovar
Hotel were moved to a new location west of Avenue C.97

92 “Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
93 Ibid.
94 Dbid.
95 Ibid.
% Ibid.
97 1bid.

-28



Landscape Physical History
January 2004

Grand Canyon Village National Historic Landmark District Cultural Landscape Report

Grand Canyon National Park

Concessionaire Housing
. Erected

2nd Administration
Building Completed

Rangers’ Residence Built

Mule Corral Built

Checking Station House
Moved

Hospital Erected

NPS Construction

Stone Retaining Wall Built

Dance Platform and
Mud Ovens Built

1927-1930

1929

1929

circa 1930

1930

1930

1930

1928

circa 1930

The Santa Fe Railway built 25 residences in the park concessionaire’s residential area between
April 1927 and September 1930 (Bldgs. #SRQ0799, #SRQ0800, #0812 through #0823, Bldgs.
#SRQO0801 through #SRQO0808). The houses were constructed using standard plans. Many were
duplexes. One of the houses (Bldg. #8SRQ024) was moved from its original location west of
the railroad tracks to Apache Street in September 1929.

The second administration building (Bldg. #SRB0103) was included as one of the key structures
on the 1924 comprehensive plan. Located on the east side of the designated civic plaza at the
intersection of Center Road and Village Loop Drive, the building was designed in the NPS
Rustic style. It was completed in April 1929.98

The Ranger’s Residence (Bldg. #SRQO0017), designed to accommodate up to four unmarried
rangers, was completed in 1929,%

The Santa Fe Railway built a stone and wood mule corral at the Bright Angel Trailhead circa 1930.100

The 1925 checking station house (Bldg. #SRQ0016) was moved from the park’s south entrance
to Kaibab Street within the NPS residential area in 1930. The building was remodeled to house
a park ranger. 101

A hospital was erected near the NPS Residential Area in 1930. The same year, NPS completed a gas
and oil station building (Bldg. #SRB0079) and a warehouse (Bldg. #SRB0078) in the utility area.l02

During the year, NPS erected two houses on Kaibab Street (Bldgs. #SRQ0014 and #SRQ0015),
along with five laborer’s cabins (Bldgs. #SRQO061 through #SRQO0065) and an adjacent
comfort station (Bldg. #SRB0060) near the NPS utility area.103

In 1928, Jesus Morales, Santa Fe Railroad stonemason, constructed a stone retaining wall west
of the 1910 railroad depot along the railroad right-of-way.104

The Hopi House dance platform and mud ovens were built circa 1930.105

9% 1bid.

9 bid.

100 «Grand Canyon Village” National Historic Landmark Nomination, 1997.

101 «Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
102 1pid.

103 mid.

104 pig.

105 «Grand Canyon Village” National Historic Landmark Nomination, 1997.

If-29

0000060002000 0000000050000000000000000000600



Grand Canyon Village National Historic Landmark District Cultural Landscape Report

Grand Canyon National Park

Landscape Physical History
January 2004

Amphitheater Built

Water System Constructed

NPS Construction

Fred Harvey Paint
Shop Built

El Tovar Hotel Renovated

Coal Storage Building
Erected

Small-scale Features

Concrete Walk and
Arch Built

Village Loop Drive
Landscaping and
Wall Built

circa 1930

1931-1932

1931

1931
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1931-1932

The Maswik Amphitheater was built circa 1930 on the west end of the Village just southwest
of the intersection of Village Loop Drive and the railroad tracks. 106

The Santa Fe Railway Company built a water system to supply water to Grand Canyon Village
from the spring located below the rim at Indian Garden. Designed circa 1925, survey and
construction on the water line and pump house did not begin until 1931.107

During 1931, five cabins for bachelor laborers (Bldgs. #SRQ0051 through #SRQO0055), two
houses on Kaibab Street (Bldgs. #SRQ0019 and #SRQ0021), a comfort station in the public
campground (now demolished), and the remodeling of the first Administration Building (Bldg.
#0001) for use as the Park Superintendent’s residence were completed. 108

In 1931, the Santa Fe Railway built a paint shop (#0572) for the Fred Hafvey Company in the
concessionaire’s utility area south of the railroad tracks.109

In 1931, the Santa Fe Railway installed bathrooms in twenty-five rooms at the El Tovar Hotel
and remodeled the rooms. The project was designed and supervised by Fred Harvey architect
Mary Elizabeth Jane Colter.110

Bldg. #SRBO0088, originally used as a coal storage building, was built in the NPS utility area
during the summer of 1932.111

A concrete sidewalk, arch, and stairway were erected near the Kolb Studio circa 1930.112

Today’s Village Loop Drive was developed in separate segments over a seven-year period. The
third segment, located between the NPS Superintendent’s Residence (Bldg. #0001) and the cabin
camp on the western end of the Village, was completed between 1931 and 1932. The project
also incorporated significant landscaping work that included the construction of a 950-feet-long
stone retaining wall on the south side of the roadway. The stone retaining wall and stairs that
are located at the head of the railroad tracks were also rebuilt at this time.!13

106 ppig.
107 «Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
108 g,
109 pid.
110 g,
11 1hig,
112 «Grand Canyon Village” National Historic Landmark Nomination, 1997.

113 Anderson, Village Loop Drive HAER Report, 7-11.
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The New Deal and Park Development During the Great Depression: 1933-1942

In 1933, showing a perceptive understanding of the path that the NPS
would utilize in the 1930s, GRCA Superintendent Minor R. Tillotson
noted that, “from a purely mercenary point of view, the park is in a fair
way to gain more in the form of physical improvements by the National
Recovery Act than would have transpired for a number of years—in some
instances perhaps not at all—under a normal trend of park affairs.” 114
Though he cited the June 1933 National Recovery Act in discussing the
impact of Federal emergency relief funds on the Grand Canyon, the
funds that NPS administrators would use to realize the pent-up demand
for infrastructure at the national parks were actually administered by
several Federal relief programs during the 1930s. The two programs
under which the vast majority of funds expended at GRCA were from
the Public Works Administration (PWA) and the Civilian Conservation
Corps (CCC).115

The availability of PWA funds enabled the construction or improvement
of the vast majority of roads in and to the park in the mid-1930s to early
1940s. PWA funds were granted to private contractors to hire workers
to build state and Federal infrastructure projects. In addition, the reality
engendered by the dire economic conditions of the Great Depression
caused fierce competition between road builders. As a result, the NPS
and the BPR, the Federal agency responsible for road construction in the
national parks, obtained lower prices for their construction projects.

By July 1933, nearly 200 men arrived at the South Rim and established
CCC camps in Grand Canyon Village. Company #819 immediately
began work. In 1933 and 1934 alone, CCC workers on the South Rim
constructed sixteen miles of telephone line, built seventeen miles of

-boundary fencing, created water reservoirs for game, eliminated fire

hazards by removing dead timber, and instituted insect and pest control
over 300 acres. During their stay at the GRCA, CCC workers helped
clean ditches, maintain roads, and survey and mark park boundaries.
They built tennis courts, campgrounds, a new firehouse, and the Grand
Canyon Village School. 116 Just three years after Congress initiated
funding for the CCC, senior executives at NPS declared that “the CCC
had advanced forestry and park development by 10 to 20 years.”117
Tillotson’s vision of the future had come to pass (Figures 34, 35, and 36).

During this same- period, the Fred Harvey Company built another
Colter-designed. building in the Village, the Bright Angel Lodge, and
redeveloped the Bright Angel Camp area (Figures 37 and 38). By 1937,
there were two CCC camps at the South Rim headquarters; Company
819 had been joined by Company 847, which built a second camp near
the Santa Fe housing area. Together, the CCC crews at the South Rim
built storage tanks and a pump house, helped to revise and rebuild the
head of the Bright Angel Trail, laid power line, built drainage systems,
and helped to maintain the South Rim’s roads, and foot and horse
trails.!1®8 By 1942, the combination of concessionaire and Federally-
funded construction had completely transformed Grand Canyon Village.

114 GRCA Annual Report, 1933, 2.

115 Michael F. Anderson, “Polishing the Jewel: An Administrative History of the
Grand Canyon National Park” (Ph.D, diss., Northern Arizona University, 1999),
Jn 6, 221.; When it began in 1933, the CCC program's official name was the
Emergency Conservation Work (ECW) program. From the program's beginnings,
the national press corps and the general public embraced the “CCC” appellation.
Acquiescing to reality, the program's name was formally changed to the CCC in
1937; See John C. Paige, The Civilian. Conservation Corps and the NPS,
1933-1942: An Administrative History 1985, <http://www.cr.nps.gov/history/
online_books/ccc/ > .

116 The tennis courts stood within the perimeter of the original athletic track that was
built behind the 1939 school building (NPS Building #0227). According to maps,
the track was rebuilt in a new configuration between 1966 and 1976. It is not
known when the tennis courts were removed, but they once stood in the vicinity of
the present Community Recreation Center (NPS Building #1537-built 1996).

117 Paige, The Civilian Conservation Corps.

118 GRCA Annual Report, 1938, 12-13.
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Figure 34. 1935 “South Rim Village Area, Part of the Master Plan.” (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #28342)
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(Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #26769)
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Figure 37. Aerial photo of Mary E.J. Colter’s Bright Angel Lodge complex taken
shortly after the building’s completion in 1935. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection
Catalog #9538)
Figure 36. 1941 Master Plan for South Rim Village Area. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #74826)
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Chronology by Landscape Characteristics, 1933-1942:

Land Use and Activities

Village Development 1933-1942 “The development of the Grand Canyon Village after the comprehensive plan was approved

Activities occurred in two distinct phases. The second phase was tied directly to the Emergency
Conservation Works (ECW) programs initiated in the National Parks from 1933 through 1942.
This phase witnessed substantial development of NPS facilities and Village infrastructure
including footpaths, roads and utilities. Park concessionaires’ development activities focused
primarily on expanded visitor and tourist accommodations. Development during the second
phase generally adhered to the 1924 comprehensive plan, however, the NPS made some
modifications in order to accommodate new facilities or as a 'refinement of Park Service
philosophy concerning aesthetically sensitive development within national parks.”119 (Refer to
Figure 39 for an aerial view of the Village during this era.)

CCC Camp Established 1933 In May 1933, the director of the NPS approved sites for two CCC camps at GRCA. One of
these, Camp NP-2, was located at the east end of Juniper Hill.120 By July 15 of that year, the
camp contained its full quota of 200 enrollees consisting primarily of Arizona men.12!

Staff Added 1933 In 1933, three landscape architects and an engineer were assigned to work at GRCA in support
of the Emergency Conservation Works (ECW) program. 122

CCC Camp Established 1934 In August 1934, another CCC camp was authorized at Grand Canyon Village. Camp NP-4 was = = LR ,;’_: e
built along Avenue C (Coconino Street) on the south edge of the Village.123 s TS B
Cattle Barred From Village 1934 CCC crews completed approximately seventeen miles of drift fencing along the southern

boundary of the park in an effort to eliminate from the Village over-grazing by range cattle. 124

S i A e

Figure 38. 1938 pian: “Proposed Reclaimed Sewage Water Line to Outside Toilets at
Bright Angel Camp for Future Guest Room Unit.” (Grand Canyon Museum Collection
Catalog #68493)

119 «Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
120 mig.

121 GRCA Annual Report, 1933, 26.

122 pid., 5. -

123 «Grand Canyon Viilage™ National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
124 GRCA Annual Report, 1934, 1.
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Figure 39. 1935 aerial photo of Grand Canyon Village. By this date, the 1924 Master
Plan layout has been realized in the circulation system, and in the general separation of
uses. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #9539)
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1934

1934-1935

1935
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1935

1935-1936

Avenue B (Boulder Street) and the Hermit Rim Road were paved in 1934.125

CCC crews completed the upgrading of the service road in the residential area of the Village.
The job consisted of grading and draining the unimproved roadways in accordance with
approved surveys and the laying of a minimum six-inch layer of heavy rock with a top layer of
crushed stone. 126

CCC crews built footpaths through the NPS residential areas in 1934.127 The work included the
completion of 1,000 feet of four-foot-wide, crushed rock footpaths with weathered limestone
curbing on either side. The paths connected the residential area with the school and the
community building.128 '

In 1935, a segment of the recently completed Village Loop Drive, near the El Tovar Hotel, was
realigned. The new alignment passed directly north of the railroad depot at the bottom of the
hill that ascended to the hotel. The old alignment was retained as a service road for the rim-side
concessions. 129

CCC crews constructed a new parking area adjacent to the Connhunity Building
(Bldg. #SRB0044).130

CCC crews improved and expanded the public campground at the Southwest corner of the
Village by adding two blocks of campsites as proposed on the “Meinecke Plan” that allowed for
individual camp plots while protecting much of the existing vegetation. In addition, crews
completed the surfacing of approximately one-half mile of service roads in the campground, and
the clearing and grading of another one-eighth mile of new roads in the same area. The
improvements also included the installation of corrugated iron drainage pipes with headwalls. 131

Avenue A (Apache Street) and Avenue B (Boulder Street) were re-graded and paved in
1935-1936.132

125 «Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
126 GRCA Annual Report, 1934, n.p.

127 Patricia Mott, Memorandum to Division Chief, Res. Mgmt.; Historic Architect; Cultural Resource Manager; Res.
Mgmue. Files on Historic Structures, Regarding CCC Work Projects in Grand Canyon National Park.
November 28, 1983.

128 1hid.

129 Anderson, “Village Loop Drive HAER Report,” 7-11.

130 Mott, Memorandum to Division Chief.

131 GRCA Annual Report, 1935, n.p.

132 «Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
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Circulation Networks (continued) ®
Plaza Parking Area 1935-1936 A formal parking lot was built within the civic plaza area in 1935-1936.133
Constructed ‘
Walks and Steps Built 1936 CCC laborers built a walkway and steps in front of the Administration Building (Bldg. #SRB0103). .
Footpath Built 1936 The CCC constructed a footpath from the post office to the community building. 134 ®
Steps and Path Built 1936 CCC crews built steps and a walkway from the school building to the playground near the school. 135 :
Stone path and Steps Built 1936-1937 The stone path and steps behind Kolb Studio (Bldg. #SRB0533) were built by the CCC between .
: 1936 and 1937.136 : ' ‘ ?
Sidewalks Constructed 1937 In 1937, CCC crews built a concrete sidewalk along the north side of Village Loop Drive .
between the community building (Bldg. #SRB0044) and the administration building (Bldg.
#SRB0103). The path continued north across a CCC-built footbridge over Bright Angel Wash ‘
_ and terminated on the south side of the railroad tracks. The footbridge was rebuilt in 1988.137 o
Footpath Resurfaced 1936-1937 CCC crews resurfaced the path between Verkamp’s store (Bldg. #0546) and the Yavapai .
- - - 138
Observation Station to the east of the Village. Figure 40. View of CCC-built stone culvert at Navajo Street and Village Loop Drive .
(looking north), circa 1935. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #9540) .
Roads Resurfaced and 1938 The BPR resurfaced 14.6 miles of the South Entrance Road from the south boundary of the park .
Culverts Built through the Village to Grapevine Canyon on the Desert View Road. The project included the .
laying down of a bituminous treated, plant-mixed aggregate over the existing asphalt-bound,
macadam pavement in order to “secure a uniform riding surface.” In addition to this work, CCC .
crews laid 275 feet of thirty-inch culvert pipe along the west side of the South Entrance Road .
_near the Administration Building (Bldg. #SRB0103) (Figure 40).139 ‘
Paths and Sidewalks Built 1939 CCC crews built paths and sidewalks, including those around the school (Bldg. #SRB0208) and .
in other unspecified locations in the Village.140 ®
133 Anderson, “South Entrance Road HAER Report,” 2-3. .
134 Mott, Memorandum to Division Chief, n.p. .
135 1bid., n.p. .
136 «Grand Canyon Village” MNational Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995. -
137 1bid. o
138 Mott, Memorandum, n.p. .
139 GRCA Annual Report, 1938, 9, 13-14.. ®
140 Mott, Memorandum, n.p. Q
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Figure 41. CCC crew transplanting trees and shrubs in the NPS residential area,
December 31, 1937. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #7850)
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CCC crews constructed a traffic control island at the intersection north of the Administration
Building (Bldg. #SRB0103).141

The flagstone walks through the Bright Angel Cabin area were completed in 1940.142

During the CCC’s tenure at GRCA, the crews accomplished many landscape projects, includ-
ing erosion control, fire fighting, tree pest control, and the planting of shrubs in residential areas
(Figure 41). In addition, the crews helped lay sod, plant seeds, and re-vegetate burned -or dam-
aged areas. In some cases they obliterated old roads by planting new trees ot transplanting exist-
ing specimens, and helped to eradicate exotic plant species within the park.143

In 1935 and 1936, under the direction of the Branch of Forestry and funded with Emergency
Conservation Work funds, the NPS completed a “Master Plan — Vegetation Type Map” of the
entire park. The map indicated that vegetation in the area of Grand Canyon Village consisted
mainly of cultivated areas with what it termed “Residential” species. The adjacent areas were
dominated by ponderosa and pinyon pine, as well as by Utah juniper.144

CCC crews planted shrubs and plants in the residential areas and also seeded and laid sod at the
recreation field.145

CCC crews planted trees in unspecified areas at the South Rim in order to obliterate old roads.
The crews also cut down and treated trees that had been damaged by insect infestations. 146

Wildflower seeds were sown along roadsides throughout the park. These were referred to by
the superintendent as “demonstration wildflower gardens” in his 1940 annual report.147

CCC crews completed a landscaping project at the Village gas station.148

141 pid.
142 «Grang Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
143 Mott, Memorandum, n.p. i

144 GRCA Annual Report, 1936, n.p.

145 Mott, Memorandum, n.p.

146 mbid.

147 GRCA Annual Report, 1939; 1940, n.p.

148 Mott, Memorandum, n.p.
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Vegetation (continued)

Landscaping At New School

Trees and Shrubs Moved

Seed Collection and
Eradication of Exotic Plants

Buildings and Structures

Sewer and Water
Lines Extended

Stone Wall Built

Stone Wall Built

PWA Construction

New Community Building
Erected

1940

1939-1940

1939-1940

1933

1933-1934

1934

1934-1935

1934-1935

In 1940, CCC crews participated in the construction of foot paths and landscaping around the
newly constructed school building (Bldg. #0227).149

CCC crews dug up and replanted over 5,000 trees and shrubs around various structures and res-
idences, in open areas, and along roads and trails throughout the park.150

The CCC took part in NPS programs of ongoing seed collection, exotic plant eradication, and
erosion control (including grading of earthen embankments) programs throughout the park. 151

CCC crews extended sewer and water lines within the Grand Canyon Village. 152

A stone wall was erected along the canyon rim behind the Bright Angel Camp. The wall replaced
an earlier wood fence.153

In 1934, the CCC built a stone wall along the rim north of El Tovar and Hopi House. 134

Public Works Administration (PWA) funds were used to construct six new buildings in the
Village between 1934 and 1935. The buildings were the post office (Bldg. #SRB0166), two
postal employee’s residences (Bldgs. #SRQ0809 and #SRQO0810), a new house for the Chief
Ranger (Bldg. #SRQ0012), and a residence for the park doctor (Bldg. #SRQQ0009), and a fire
equipment storage building (Bldg. #0097).155

The current community building (Bldg. #SRB0044) was built in 1934-1935 using CCC labor and
PWA funds (Figures 42 and 43). The location of this structure was the first major deviation from
the 1924 comprehensive plan. The site west of the “civic center” was chosen as a more central
location than the original site at the east edge of the Village. 156

149 GRCA Annual Report, 1940, 8.

150 pig., 8.

151 1big,, 8.

152 Mott, Memorandum, n.p.

153 «Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
154 mig.

135 1big.

156 mia.

Figure 42. The newly completed Community Building, ca. 1935. (Cline Library, NAU)
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Athletic Field Improved 1934-1935 The CCC completed leveling the community baseball field, the grading of the racetrack, and the
reconstruction of the grandstand and fence that surrounded the field.!57

Bright Angel Lodge Built 1935 The Santa Fe’s new Bright Angel Lodge, replacing the late-nineteenth-century Bright Angel

Hotel and camp, was completed in June 1935. The lodge complex was designed by Mary E.J.
Colter, and incorporated the historic Buckey O’Neill Cabin (Bldg. #0508), Powell Lodge (Bldg.
#0509), the original Cameron Hotel (Bldg. #0526, also known as Red Horse cabin), along with
a main lodge building (Bldg. #0507), and nine smaller guest cabins (Bldgs. #0517 through
#0525). Later in 1935 and 1936, an additional ten cabins were erected at Bright Angel Lodge
(Bldgs. #0510 through #0514 and Bldgs. #0527 through #0531).158

Wall Rebuilt 1935 Crews reconstructed a section of the rim-side wall and footpath that ran between Bright Angel
Lodge and the El Tovar Hotel. The new, stone retaining wall was eighteen inches wide, twen-
ty-seven inches high and extended 648 feet.159

Fred Harvey Auto Camp 1935 The Santa Fe moved approximately forty cabins from the Bright Angel Lodge site to the Fred

Expanded Harvey Auto Camp in 1935. In addition, they built eight more Colter-designed cabins there in
1935. By 1936, there were a total of 101 cabins, laundry rooms, lavatories, and the main lodge
building at the Auto Camp complex.160

Three Buildings Razed 1935 Three “undesirable” structures near the old Post Office building were demolished by CCC
crews. 161

Figure 43. 1937 plan: “Moving Officer’s Bldg. & Brown Bldg. for Dormitory Use in
Dormitory Area, Grand Canyon, Arizona.” (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Mess Hall Remodeled 1935 The former mess hall in the NPS residential area was remodeled into a duplex residence by CCC
Catalog #68095) crews. (Bldg. #SRQ0024).162

CCC Construction 1935-1936 During the 1935-1936 construction season, CCC crews built a bathroom addition to the park
administration building (Bldg. #SRB0103), expanded the grandstands at the recreation field, and
landscaped the area around the postal employee houses on Avenue A (Apache Street) (Bldgs.
#SRQO0809 and #SRQO0810).. The CCC also began construction on a service road behind the post
office (Bldg. #SRB0166) and built footpaths at an unidentified location in the Village.163

157 GRCA Annual Report, 1934, n.p.
. 158 «Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
159 GRCA Annual Report, 1935, n.p.
160 «Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
161 Mott, Memorandum, n.p.
162 1big,
163 Jpid.; “Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
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Buildings and Structures (continued)

NPS Utility Buildings 1935-1936 During 1935 and 1936, the CCC erected a plumbing shop (Bldg. #SRB0080), an ECW warehouse
Erected (Bldg. #SRB0090), a jail and watchman’s office (Bldg. #SRB0087), and four multi-bay garages
in the NPS residential area (Bldgs. #SRB0099, #SRB0183 through #SRB0185) (Figure 44).164

Employee Cabins Built 1936 The CCC erected ten NPS employee residences and a four-car garage (Bldg. #SRB0043) on
Juniper Hill in 1936.165

Wading Pool Built 1936 CCC crews built a wading pool at the school’s playground area, along with steps and a
walkway from the school building to the play area.166

Telephone Building 1936-1937 The Mountain States Telephone Building (Bldg. #0500) was erected behind the post office in
Constructed 1936.167

Men’s and Women’s 1937 In 1937, the Santa Fe Railway erected the Fred Harvey men’s dormitory (Bldg. #0576, later
Dormitories Built known as Victor Hall) west of the community building near the railroad wye. The same year,

the company erected a women’s dormitory (Bldg. #0539, later known as Colter Hall) just
Southwest of the El Tovar Hotel. At the same time, the “Brown Building” or Fred Harvey
Officer’s Dormitory (Bldg. #0578) building was moved from its original located behind the El
Tovar Hotel to a site just west of the Fred Harvey Men’s Dormitory. The building was
remodeled to house Mexican employees, who were segregated from white employees. The
building was renamed “Victor Hall Annex.” 168

Service Station Built 1937 The Fred Harvey Service Station (Bldg. #0862), located on Center Road, just south of Figure Acrial bhoto of NPS residential ook twest. Feb ”
- . 169 . Aerial pnoto o resiaential area, looking northwest, rebruary )
Avenue B, was erected in 1937 (Figure 49). 1938. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #8036)
Lookout Studio Remodeled 1937 In 1937, the Santa Fe Railway remodeled the Lookout building to serve as the Fred Harvey

photo studio.170

Freight Platform Built 1938 CCC crews erected a freight platform at the railroad depot and a truck route that connected the
depot and the platform.17!

164 «Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
165 pid.

166 Mott, Memorandum, n.p.

167 1pid.

168 pid,

169 ppid.

170 ppig.

171 pig.
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Figure 45. 1936 plan for Fred Harvey Service Station at Grand Canyon. (Grand
Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #68517)

Grand Canyon School
Erected

CCC Work

Steps Rebuilt

Sewer Line Built

Auto Camp Cabins Built

El Tovar Remodeled

First School Remodeled

CCC Projects

1938-1939

1938-1939

1939

1939

1939-1940
1940
1940

1940-1942

Financed with $35,000 in PWA funds, and built with CCC labor, the Grand Canyon School was
erected on Avenue B in 1938-1939.172

The original “teacherage” (Bldg. #SRQ0066) was ‘moved from its location west of the first
school building to a site on Juniper Hill in 1938. A new, three-room, postal employee’s
residence was built on the same street in 1939.173

CCC crews rebuilt the steps at the Administration Building (Bldg. #SRB0103) and at the
Hospital (Bldg. #SRB0100).174

CCC crews laid 870 linear feet of six-inch, tile sewer line with manholes in the NPS residential

area. This work consisted of revisions to the old sewer line that ran below residences #2 through
#5.175

Eight auto camp cabins designed by Mary E.J. Colter (Bldgs. #0581 through #0589) were
completed in 1940.176

A dining room addition was made to the El Tovar in 1940, and its music room was converted
into additional guest rooms.177

The original Grand Canyon School building was remodeled for use as a temporary museum and
workroom for the park naturalist in 1940.178

The last two years of the CCC construction program at Grand Canyon Village were highlight-
ed by the construction of three NPS employee houses (Bldgs. #SRQO0023, #SRQO0025,
#SRQ0027) on Tapeats Circle in the NPS residential area.l7?

172 «Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
173 Ibid.; GRCA Annual Report, 1939, 11.

174 Mott, Memorandum, n.p.

175 GRCA' Annual Report, 1939, 11-12.

176 «Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
177 tid.

178 pid.

179 Mott, Memorandum, n.p.
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Small-scale Features

Log Footbridge Built 1938 CCC crews erected a log footbridge over the drainage ditch along the path that led to the
Santa Fe Depot. 180
Patio Built 1939 The flagstone patio just north of Bright Angel Lodge was constructed in 1939.181 \
Handrails 1939 CCC crews completed handrails at the steps that led to Kolb Studio (Bldg. #SRB0533)
on the rim.182
180 GRCA Annual Report, 1938, 8.
181 «Grand Canyon Village” National Historic Landmark Nomination, 1997.
182 Mott, Memorandum, n.p.
II-43




Victq_’f"HaiIg, Victor Anneg,

e Wlsslng)

Map Sources: South Rim Village Master Plans for 1935,
1938, and 1941; Moving Officers Bid'g & Brown Bld'g, 1937;
National Historic Landmark nomination, 1997; and historic
aenals and photographs. 0

g

Rim Cabins
Bright Angel Cabins

Powell Cabin
Parking lot

Bright Angel Lodge

-~

Colter Hall

Co.rnmt;nityf:": ) 4
" Buildin

[ Concessionaire?
Housing -~

~Fred Harvey [ Ry s
Service Station’ " _Early alignment of
currently Sehool L SunitOive

" . Grand Canyon
~" Middle School -

NF{S-:ngse\Ba

——

and Equipment Shads

o~

la

(Bldgs. #SRQ
. H#SRQO027). -

T (Missing) -

“Physician's Residence..
13y (Bldg. #SRQO009)-
'* R Lois .

 cristRanger, ParkEngiesr,
_.-‘and Assistant Superintendent residence--
Q0023, #SRQ0O025;

NOTE:

Vegetation locations are
representative and are

based primarily on historic

aerial photographs.

A/E FiRM

PRIME:
VAN DIJK WESTLAKE REED LESKOSKY
SCALE: 1" =400' PHOENIX, AZ

. . SUBCONTRACTOR:
JOHN MILNER ASSOCIATES
800 1200 N CHARLOTTESVILLE, VA

DESIGNED:

JLB

TECH REVIEW:

RMM
DATE:
JANUARY 2004

SUB SHEET NO.

H

LANDSCAPE FEATURES

circa 1942

GRAND CANYON VILLAGE NATIONAL HISTORIC LANDMARK DISTRICT







Grand Canyon Village National Historic Landmark District Cultural Landscape Report
Grand Canyon National Park

Landscape Physical History
January 2004

World War Il and Post-War Recovery: 1943-1955

Figure 46. 1950 Master Plan for South Rim Village Area. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #26771)

In December 1941, the United States was attacked by Japan and began
its participation in World War II. Most NPS and private employees left
the Grand Canyon to join the war effort. Visitation to GRCA dropped
to below 100,000 people and the Bright Angel Lodge and public
campgrounds were closed for the duration of the war. The last CCC
company left the South Rim in 1942. What historian Michael Anderson
has termed the “ironical golden years” in the park’s history had come
to an end.183

Afier World War Il ended in 1945, tourists began to return to the Grand
Canyon. In 1950, almost twice as many people visited the Grand .
Canyon as had visited the park in 1940. For many years, despite this
increase, and despite official planning efforts, the park remained grossly
underfunded and unable to handle its growing deluge of visitors.

In 1950s, GRCA planners completed comprehensive master plans for the
park that called for substantial development of new tourist facilities on the
South Rim (Figures 46 through 49). In addition to proposing that three
new lodges be built, the plans proposed construction of two
additions to the Bright Angel Lodge complex, although the planners called
for little redevelopment within the original Grand Canyon Village.
Instead, they proposed a new alignment for South Entrance Road that
would create an expansive loop road east of Grand Canyon Village, touch
the rim near Mather Point, and continue east and south to the Village
where it would intersect with Village Loop Drive at the Fred Harvey
Garage. It was hoped that this new entrance road would divert traffic from
Grand Canyon Village’s congested roads and provide visitors with a new
approach to the rim. In 1954, when the new South Entrance Road was
built, the former entrance road was redesignated as “Center Road,” or the
Grand Canyon Village Commercial Access Road.184

In 1954, NPS conducted an official visitor survey for the park that
revealed that the demand for GRCA accommodations was almost 20
percent higher than the park’s available capacity.185 Such overcrowding
eclipsed the positive scenic and recreational aspects of the park; this was
a problem shared throughout the park system. To combat the crisis,
NPS Director Conrad Wirth proposed an ambitious, agency-wide effort
that he named Mission 66.

183 Anderson, Polishing the Jewel, 173-233.
184 Anderson, South Entrance Road Historic American Engineering Record, 11.

185 United States Department of the Interior, National Park Service, “Mission 66 For
Grand Canyon National Park and Monument,” 1956, 5.
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Figure 47. 1950 plan for concessionaire housing area. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #26771)
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Figure 48. 1952 Development Plan for South Rim Village. (Denver Service Center TIC Drawing # GRCA 113-2105C)
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Figure 49. 1955 Development Plan for South Rim Village, Concessionaire Area.(Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #74227)
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Chronology by Landscape Characteristics, 1943-1955:

World War II 1941-1945
CCC Work Ceased 1942
Army Presence 1943-1946

Expansion Study Completed | 1946

Former CCC Camp Occupied 1947

In December 1941, the United States was attacked by Japan and began its participation in World
War II. Most NPS and private employees left the Grand Canyon to join the war effort.
Visitation to GRCA dropped to below 100,000 and the Bright Angel Lodge and public
campgrounds at the South Rim were closed for the duration of the war.

In 1942, the last CCC company was disbanded at the Grand Canyon and the national
program ceased.

Between 1943 and 1946, numerous military groups came to the park for training exercises.
While there, they occupied one of the two former CCC camps. During 1943, over 12,000 men
in units of up to 800 men each, made the trip to Grand Canyon Village. In addition, between
1942 and 1943, seventeen employees of the U.S. Army Signal Corps were stationed at Grand
Canyon Village to “collect weather data of a confidential nature. ”186

In 1946, park superintendent Harold Bryant completed a study of park needs that related to the
expansion of accommodations in Grand Canyon Village and made several policy decisions as a
result of the study. Among these were plans to limit expansion to the west to the base of Hopi
Hill; devote the canyon rim to public use; require employee housing to be located south of the
railroad tracks; and re-route the park’s main South Entrance Road in order to “bypass the
present confusion of roads in the Village and reach the rim more easily.” Bryant also
emphasized the need for an additional water source for the Village. 187

The return of a full complement of park staff and concessionaire employees necessitated
the remodeling and use of several buildings in the former CCC camp as temporary staff
quarters.188

Meeting on Development 1948 On February 26 and 27, 1948, Superintendent Harold Bryant met with Thomas Vint, the chief
Proposals of development for the NPS to discuss park development. They determined that a proposed new
museum would not be located at Yavapai Point, but instead be built a quarter-mile east of the
" Fred Harvey Garage on East Rim Drive. They also decided that the high cost of extending
utilities prohibited the construction of a new entrance station at the park’s southern boundary. 189
186 GRCA Annual Reports, 1943-1946.
187 GRCA Annual Report, 1946, 1.
188 GRCA Annual Report, 1947.
189 GRCA Annual Report, 1948, 5.
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Land Use and Activities

Post-WWII
Development Plans

Scenic Protection
Bill Passed

Visitor Survey Conducted

Circulation Networks

New South Entrance
Road Envisioned

Train Service Re-established

1950

1951

1954

1946-1947

1947

In 1950, GRCA planners completed an all-encompassing Master Plan for the park. The new
plan called for substantial development of new tourist facilities on the South Rim. In addition
to including proposals for three new lodges on the rim, the plan proposed construction of two
additions to the Bright Angel Lodge complex. The plan called for very little clearing and
reconstruction within the original Village. Alternatively, the plan proposed a new alignment for
the South Entrance Road. The new alignment would create an expansive loop road east of the
established Village that touched the rim near Mather Point and then continued east and south to
the Village where it intersected with Village Loop Drive at its easternmost point near the Fred
Harvey Garage (Bldg. #0551). This new entrance road was intended to divert traffic from the
congested roads within the Village and provide visitors with a new approach to the rim. Also
included in the 1950 plan was the construction of substantial visitor facilities within the loop of
the new South Entrance Road. These planned facilities included a proposed concessionaire’s
cabin area, a trailer court, a public campground, and a central commercial core that included
shops, a lunchroom, an information center, and a grocery store. 190

On July 12, 1951, President Truman signed Senate Bill 109 that provided for scenic protection
for the South Approach Road (AZ Route 64) south of the National Park.!91

A visitor survey was conducted at Grand Canyon in 1954. The survey revealed, among other
things, that on average the demand for accommodations was 19 percent higher than actual avail-
able capacity at the park.!%2

As early as 1946, park planners and park Superintendent Harold Bryant acknowledged the need
for an alternative approach road to the rim. In his 1946 annual report, Bryant stated that planners
were studying whether to “re-route the incoming road from the south so that visitors will bypass
the present confusion of roads in the Village and reach the rim more easily.”193 In 1947, the
NPS regional office of the Division of Plans and Design prepared a drawing that proposed a new
entrance route from the south. The proposed route included a broad loop that extended
northeast and turned gradually west to enter the Village on its east end.194

In 1947, train service to the Grand Canyon was resumed after travel restrictions imposed during

- WWII were lifted.195

190 1950 Master Plan, drawings.

191 GRCA Annual Report, 1952.

192 «“pMission 66 For Grand Canyon National Park and Monument,” 5.
193 GRCA Annual Report, 1946, 1.

194 Anderson, South Entrance Road HAER Report, 22-23.

195 GRCA Annual Report, 1947, 1.
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Circulation Networks (continued)

Footpaths Resurfaced - 1951

New South Entrance 1953-1954
Road Built

Vegetation

Mistletoe Control Program 1951-1952

Buildings and Structures

CCC Camp Dismantled 1944
CCC Buildings Remodeled 1947

Auto Camp Additions 1947

In 195.1, park staff accomplished the resurfacing of several.miles of footpaths along the canyon

rim and through the Village. The work consisted of seal coating and chipping the existing
surface of the paths.!96

Reacting to a post-war boom in visitation, and the related congestion at Grand Canyon Village,
park administrators planned and built a new southern entrance road that bypassed the heart of
the Village and approached the rim east of the densely built town. After the completion of the
new South Entrance Road in 1954, the old entrance road was redesignated “Center Road” or
Route 32, the Grand Canyon Village Commercial Access Road.!97

NPS staff felled, pruned, and removed trees infected with mistletoe. A total of 3,397 trees were
treated. 198

The buildings and tent platforms that comprised CCC camp number NP4-A at the Grand
Canyon Village were dismantled, salvaged, and moved to Phoenix by the Army Corps
of Engineers.!9?

In 1947, the NPS remodeled three former CCC barracks near the NPS residential area into eight
apartments for seasonal temporary NPS personnel. Two other CCC buildings were remodeled
as permanent living quarters for park staff.200

In 1947, Fred Harvey began adding to its Auto Camp at the west end of the Village (Figure
50). They planned to move twenty-two old cabins from the Bright Angel Hotel area to the auto
camp, build forty prefabricated cabins, redecorate the existing cabins, erect a twenty-foot
square linen storage building, and install a new soda fountain and cafeteria equipment.20!

196 GRCA Annual Report, 1951. _
197 Anderson, South Entrance Road HAER Report, 11.
198 GRCA Annual Report, 1952.

199 GRCA Annual Report, 1544; Based on 1950 Master Plan drawings, it is likely that camp NP4-A was located
south of the Santa Fe residential area off Avenue C, and camp NP1-A was located just southeast of the NPS
residentiai area. The 1950 plans show that at least three buildings from the latter CCC camp still remained at that date.

200 GRCA Annual Report, 1947, 1.

201 mig., 5

Figure 50. 1950s photo of Fred Harvey Auto Camp (later known as the motor lodge).
(Grand Canyon Museumn Collection Catalog #9966)
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Verkamp’s Residence Erected 1948

Railroad Utility 1950
Building Erected

Checking Station Destroyed, 1952
Rebuilt

Elementary School 1953
Constructed
Teacherage Built 1953-1955

Small-scale Features

Tables Installed 1947

. The Verkamp’s concession erected a residence on Avenue B (Boulder Street) for its employee
in 1948 (Bldg. #506). The building was later remodeled circa 1960.202

In 1950, the Santa Fe Railway erected a utility building (Bldg. #548) on Village Loop Drive
west of the 1910 railway depot (Bldg. #549).203

The south entrance checking station was destroyed when it was accidentally struck by a car. The
building was rebuilt using insurance funds.204

In 1953, a new elementary school building (Bldg. #323) was constructed just east of the 1939
school (Bldg. #SRB0227).205

Three residences for teachers were built on Boulder Street between 1953 and 1955 (Bldg. #322,

#325 and #326).206

In 1947, approximately fifty tables were built and installed in the campground area at Grand
Canyon Village, replacing a number of deteriorated tables.207

202 «Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
203 bid.

204 GRCA Annual Report, 1952,

205 “Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
206 «Grand Canyon Village” National Historic Landmark Nomination, 1997.

207 GRCA Annual Report, 1947, 2.
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The Mission 66 Era to the Present Day: 1956-2003

Mission 66 was an intensive, ten-year planning and construction
program undertaken by the NPS to address the extraordinary demands
being made on the nation’s parks. The program, begun in 1956, aimed
to upgrade and extend the national parks’ infrastructure, visitor services,
and building stock in order to accommodate the projected boom in
visitors predicted for the park system by the NPS’s fiftieth anniversary
in 1966 (Figure 51). The program came on the heels of a long period of
congressional under-funding of the parks, and during a period in which
the number of national park visitors increased exponentially.

Some of the design and planning philosophies that informed the Mission
66 program included the use of modern design principals and materials
to create functional and economical buildings, the decentralization of
services and park destinations in order to diminish overcrowding, and
the democratic accommodation of large numbers of visitors. At the
Grand Canyon, Mission 66 planning focused on how to address
overcrowding in the visitor accommodation areas. The park’s initial
Mission 66 report summarized problems that GRCA administrators had
struggled with since the beginning of the NPS management of the Grand
Canyon. For example, “the problem of Grand Canyon National Park is
compounded by expanded automobile travel in an area tailored to the
needs of railroad travel, with developed areas over centralized because
of limited sources of water supply, [and] all tied to a situation made
unalterable due to deficient operating funds.”208

The original Mission 66 program for GRCA called for decentralization
of the developed areas in order to “disperse anticipated visitor impact
on the park.” However, the plan to decentralize by building more
visitor facilities on the east end of the park, namely at Desert View, was
stymied by the meager existing water supply there. Therefore, the plan
stated that if no new sources of water were identified, that decentralization
plans would have to be abandoned. If decentralization proved to be
impossible, the Mission 66 plan recommended that visitor accommodations
be limited, and that the park be reoriented for mainly daytime usage.209

At the Grand Canyon Village, most of the Mission 66 development
occurred outside the boundaries of the Village Historic District (Figures
52, 53, and 54). Major developments included the construction of a new
visitor services center to be located eastern end of Grand Canyon Village
at the Mather Service Area. By 1961, this newly developed area included
a visitor center, an amphitheater, the ninety-six-room Yavapai Lodge, a
campground, a trailer village, and a new camper services building.
Mission 66 construction in or near Grand Canyon Village included the
building of a new south entrance station in 1958, new employee
residences in 1957-1958 and 1961, road and parking improvements such

as South Approach Road, South Entrance Road, Mather Parking Area,
Yavapai Spur Road and Parking Area, and 16.4 miles of East Rim Drive,
1954-1961, and the Trailview Overlook in 1961 at Bright Angel
Traithead.210 The NPS also used Mission 66 funds to expand its residential
area, to create a new NPS maintenance area south of Grand Canyon
Village, and completed several other projects by the end of the 1960s.211

Another major planning effort was undertaken in the mid-1970s as the
NPS continued to struggle with overcrowding and ever-increasing
automobile traffic (Figures 55 and 56). This new development was
facilitated by the construction of a more consistent and sustainable water
supply system in the late 1960s. By the early 1950s, the water provided
from Garden Creek at Indian Garden was insufficient to meet the needs
of the South Rim developed area and the Santa Fe Company concessionaire
had to pay to have supplemental water shipped in by train from
Flagstaff. Planning for a new water source began as early as the 1940s,
but did not become a NPS priority until 1965 when the Union Pacific
Railroad, and its subsidiary the Utah Parks Company, donated the North
Rim water system to the NPS. Construction on the cross-canyon water
line commenced in 1965, was delayed by a massive flood in December
1966, and was finally completed in 1970.

Upon completion, the new pipeline was capable of carrying 190 million
gallons of water annually from Roaring Springs on the North Rim across
the canyon to the South Rim in a pipe that ranges from six to eight inches
in diameter.212 In the 1970s, the increased water supply allowed for the

'development of additional visitor facilities that included overnight lodging

accommodations. The largest of the lodging developments occurred at
Maswik Lodge, Yavapai Lodge, and at the fifty-four-room Kachina
Lodge, all of which were completed between 1971 and 1979.

As visitation increased exponentially in the 1980s, finding alternative
means of travel for visitors became the focus of the NPS and private
operators. In 1989, a year where almost four million people visited the
park, a privately-owned company rehabilitated the Grand Canyon
Railway, whose passenger rail service ended in 1968, and began new
rail service to Grand Canyon Village. With park visitation nearing the
five million mark in the twenty-first century, similar efforts to create
alternative means to enjoy the Grand Canyon will continue.

208 1hid., 3-4.
209 1hid., 3-4.

210 73, Frontiersman, A Newsletter Associated with the Mission 66 Frontiers
Conference (Grand Canyon National Park, April 24-28, 1961), n.p.

21 Greg Robinson and Zehra Osman, Rehabilitation Plan and Cultural Landscape

Recommendations for NPS Housing in Grand Canyon Village Historic District,
(Grand Canyon National Park, Arizona: NPS, 1993), 13-14.

212 Anderson, Polishing the Jewel, 314-316.

Il - 62




Grand Canyon Village National Historic Landmark District Cultural Landscape Report Landscape Physical History
Grand Canyon National Park . January 2004

T
P ?-‘»'/-;’k % ;]

2

BN LG b g MANCIERS

REY P : LY 2

Figure 51. 1957 Existing Conditions, Grand Canyon Village Region.(Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #74827)
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Figure 52. 1961 plan: “G.C. Village Community Center.” (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #74827)
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Figure 53. 1966 plan: “G.C. Village Rim Concession, First Stage of Development.”(Grand Canyon Museum Collection
Catalog #26779)

LR

Figure 54. 1961 map depicting Mission 66 construction projects at Grand Canyon National Park. This map accompanied a tour conducted
in connection with the National Park Service’s “Mission 66 Frontiers Conference” held at the Grand Canyon in April 1961. (Grand Canyon
Museum Collection Catalog #57838)
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Figure 56. 1976 Open Space and Landscaping Plan for Grand Canyon Village. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog
#26982)

Figure 55. 1976 South Rim Village - Comprehensive Design Plan. (Grand Canyon Museum Collection Catalog #26782)
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Chronology by Landscape Characteristics, 1956-2003:

Land Use and Activities

Mission 66 Plans

Mission 66 Conference Held

1956-1966

1961

At the Grand Canyon, Mission 66 planning focused on addressing overcrowding in the visitor
accommodation areas. The dilemma facing park managers was how to accommodate the throngs
of visitors to the canyon without adversely affecting the natural setting. A limited water supply,
an “outmoded” early-twentieth-century physical layout, and an extended period of underfunding
added to the challenges faced by GRCA.

At the Grand Canyon Village, most of the Mission 66 development occurred outside the
boundaries of the Village Historic District. Developments included the construction of a new
visitor services center located east of the Village at the Mather Service Area. By 1961, this
newly developed area included a new visitor center (1957), amphitheater behind the visitor
center (1961), new ninety-six-room lodge (Yavapai Lodge, 1958, expanded 1962, 1972),
Mather Campground (1960), Mather Trailer Village (1961), and Fred Harvey camper service
building (1961). Additionally, Mission 66 resulted in the substantial expansion of the NPS
residential area, the creation of a new NPS maintenance area south of the Village, the construction
of the Albright Training Center, Grand Canyon High School (#324, 1958), and many trail and
road improvements. In the late 1960s, the Mather Business Center, located within the new
visitor services center, was built. It included a medical clinic, Babbitt’s General Store, a bank,
and a post office.213

Other Mission 66 projects included a water storage facility located near the trailer village (1957,
1961), a new south entrance station (1958), new employee residences (1957-58, 1961), road and
parking area improvements (South Approach Road, South Entrance Road, Mather Parking
Area, Yavapai Spur Road and parking area, and 16.4 miles of East Rim Drive, 1954-1961), the
Trailview Overlook (1961) at Bright Angel Trailhead, two experimental pre-fabricated cabin
units built by Fred Harvey in the Auto Camp area, and Grand Canyon High School (1958).214

The Mission 66 Frontiers Conference, sponsored by the NPS, was held at GRCA between April
24 and April 28, 1961. The conference, attended by NPS Director Conrad Wirth, examined the
accomplishments and future direction of the Mission 66 program. In addition, GRCA staff
offered a guided tour of the park’s Mission 66 projects.215 '

213 Robinson and Osman, 13-14.
214 Tpe Frontiersman, n.p.
215 13 Frontiersman, n.p.
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Circulation Networks

Mission 66 Plans

Grand Canyon Railway
Service Halted

Steel Stair Installed

Center Road-Apache Street
Intersection Reconstructed

Railway Reopened

Center Road Widened and
Redesigned

Greenway extended

1956-1966

1968-1969

circal 1980

1984

1989

1994

2002

Mission 66 projects that impacted the circulation systems at the Village included mainly trail and
road improvements.2!6 These included the construction of a new south entrance station (1958),
the completion of the Trailview Overlook (1961) at Bright Angel Trailhead, and a number of
road and parking area improvements, namely to the South Approach Road, the South Entrance
Road, the Mather Parking Area, the Yavapai Spur Road and parking area, and 16.4 miles of
East Rim Drive (1954-1961).217

The Grand Canyon Railway ended its passenger service to Grand Canyon in 1968. In 1969,
freight service was halted.218

A steel stairway that connects the railroad tracks to Village Loop Drive in the vicinity of Bright
Angel Lodge was installed.219

The intersection of Center Road (Old South Entrance Road) with Apache Street (Avenue A) was
reconstructed and curbed in 1984220

The Grand Canyon Railway was reorganized and rehabilitated under a new, privately owned
company. Service along the original track was initiated in September 1989. A new depot was
eventually built on the west end of the Village at Maswik Transportation Center.221

Center Road, the remaining original segment of the 1928 South Entrance Road, was widened
and resurfaced in early 1994. In addition, masonry curbing was installed, and most of the CCC-
built culvert headwalls along the road were replaced.?22

The Grand Canyon Greenway was extended into the Village Historic District from east to
Navajo Street, linking the Canyon View Information Plaza with the Village.

216 Robinson and Osman, 13-14.

217 tbid.

218 «Grand Canyon Depot,” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form,” 1986.
219 “Grand Canyon Village” National Historic Landmark Nomination, 1997

220 Anderson, South Entrance Road HAER Report, 11.

221 id.

222 i
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Vegetation

Vegetation Study 1984

Buildings and Structures

Grand Canyon 1958
High School Built

Trailers Erected circa 1960
Thunderbird Lodge Built 1968
Cross-Canyon Water line 1970
Complete

Bus Shelters Built circa 1970

Transformers and Fence Built circa 1970

Radio Antenna Erected circa 1970

The limited evidence included in a photographic comparison of vegetation from 1935 and 1984
showed that, in general, vegetative patterns at Grand Canyon Village changed little over the
period. The only discernible changes were the presence of additional grass undergrowth, which
the author attributed to the removal of livestock grazing in the area.223

Grand Canyon High School (Bldg. #324) was erected Southwest of the 1939 school building.224

Three pre-fabricated trailers (Bldgs. #TH-01 through #TH-03) were erected in the NPS utility
area circa 1960. The building currently used as Boy Scout facilities (Bldg. #241) behind the
former Post Office (Bldg. #166) was erected around the same time. A 1948 residence on Boulder
Street was remodeled circa 1960 (Bldg. #506).225

The motel-like Thuhderbird Lodge (Bldg. #1300) was erected on the rim between Brighf Angel
Lodge and the El Tovar Hotel 226

NPS finished construction of the new cross-canyon water line that brought water from Roaring
Springs on the North Rim to the Grand Canyon Village.227

Four bus shelters were erected on Village Loop Drive circa 1970.228

The transformer structure and surrounding chain link fence west of the Power House were
erected circa 1970.229

A radio antenna was erected behind the Mountain States Telephone Building circa 1970.230

223 Jean Armstrong, Vegetative Trends in Grand Canyon From 1935-1984-Photographs, Grand Canyon National
Park: Division of Resource Management, 1984, n.p.

224 ys. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, Grand Canyon National Park, “Existing Structures

List,” 2003.

“Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995; “Grand Canyon Village”
National Historic Landmark Nomination, 1997.

“Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.

225

226
227
228

Anderson, Polishing the Jewel, 316.

“Grand Canyon Village” National Historic Landmark Nomination, 1997.
229 id.

230 big.
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Verkamp’s Storage
Building Altered

Maswik Lodge Developed

Kachina Lodge Built
Modular House Erected
Library Built

Buildings Remodeled

NPS Employee Cabins
Remodeled

Babbitt Store Burned

1970

early 1970s

1971

1972

1974

circa 1980

1986

1994

The Verkamp family concession altered a building just south of their curio shop for use as a
storage building (Bldg. #547).231 Maps indicate that the building was originally erected prior to
1935. It is now occupied as a three-room residence.

The Maswik Lodge was developed on a portion of the site of the original Fred Harvey Auto
Camp in the early 1970s. The construction required the demolition of significant portions of the
original auto camp.232

Construction on the Kachina Lodge (Bldg. #1301) was completed. The new visitor lodge was
built between the new Thunderbird Lodge and the El Tovar Hotel along the rim.

The NPS erected a modular NPS residence on Juniper Hill (Bldg. #472).233

Coconino County erected a school library building (Bldg. #471) adjacent to the school in
1974.234

A 1936 NPS employee residence on Juniper Hill (Bldg. #169) was extensively remodeled. Other
buildings that underwent remodeling or reconstruction included the former Fred Harvey
Transportation dormitory (Bldg. #558), the 1906 Fred Harvey Carpenter Shop (Bldg. #575),
twelve circa-1930 Santa Fe employee residences on Boulder Street (Bldgs. #845 through #856),
and three Santa Fe Coal Sheds on Boulder Street alley (circa 1930, Bldgs. #859 through #861).235

Two, 1936 NPS employee cabins on Juniper Hill (Bldgs. #46, #48) were extensively
remodeled.236

The historic Babbitt store that faced onto the central plaza burned.237

231 “Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995.
232 Robinson and Osman, 14.
233 “Grand Canyon Village” National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, 1995

234 Rockrise, Odermatt, Mountjoy, and Amis, Concessionaire Building Study: Grand Canyon National Park,
(January 1975).

235 “Grand Canyon Village” National Historic Landmark Nomination, 1997.
236 1hid.
237 Anderson, South Entrance Road HAER Report, 19.
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Small-scale Features

Headwalls and Culverts
Built

Footbridge Built

Concrete Stair Built

Wayside Exhibit Erected

Stone Curb Installed

1960

circa 1970

circa 1970

circa 1980

1994

The headwalls and culverts at Village Loop Drive at its western crossing of Bright Angel Wash
were constructed circa 1960.238

A footbridge over Bright Angel Wash north of the powerhouse was built circa 1970.239

A concrete stairway that connects the hospital loop to Village Loop Drive was erected circa
1970.240

A wayside exhibit structure was erected near the Bright Angel Trailhead.24!

A new stone curb was installed at the “plaza” bus stop.242

238 id.
239 1hid.
240 1pig.
241 id.
242 g,

Il -60



Air Conditioning
Building

Parking lot

PRy

© Duplex #49 A/B Ei VA,
Boulder St. (Bidg. #326) ==/

- » Duplex #53 A/B 4 A . —Kaibab Streetand'.  *.
; Boulder St. (Bidg. #322) A A T e e DR .. Sunset.Drive continue
A - -Grand Canyon S A R
T T RS P rintopark- Gt
- “Singlé Family residen L
T e | NOTE:
/ / - Vegetation locations are
‘ — .| representative and are
i based primarily on historic
aerial photographs.
DESIGNED: DRAWING NO.
':%-# SUB SHEET NO. 113
Map Sources: South Rim Village Concessioner - LANDSCAPE FEATURES 20223
Area, 1961; South Rim Village-Concessioners SCALE: 1" =400 PO T HAKE REED LESKOSKY ORAWN. circa 1966 PRG.] SHEET
Residential, Utility, & Cabin Area, 1961, National TECH. REVIEW. | H No. D
Historic Landmark nomination, 1997; and aerial ; ' - SN A CIATES RMM L4
and ground photographs. 0 200 400 800 1200 N CHARLOTTESVILLE. VA DATE: 67
’ JANUARY 2004 GRAND CANYON VILLAGE NATIONAL HISTORIC LANDMARK DISTRICT —jor 2L







— Shuttle bus stops and
bus shelters

Shuttle bus shelter
Thunderbird Lodge

Lawn

Kachina Lodge Shuttle bus shelter

LT Maswik L o S SO L L $Q
-~ Transportation .—-" A SN = <

“Single family résidence. | /=
#45 Boulder St(Bldg.#1376) —/- ™
"Sin"gle;famiIy-res__jdehce RN
#64 J__lf]niper Hill (Bldg.'#472)
DESIGNED: DRAWING NO.
A%;:?M— SUB SHEET NO/ "3
PRIME: . —_— —rmaa——
ALE: 1* 400" VAN DIJK WESTLAKE REED LESKOSKY ORAVE LAN DSCAP E FEATURES PKGZOZ;:EET
SCALE: 1" =400 PHOENIX, AZ JB circa 2002 NO.
TECH REVIEW: _
Map Sources: Existing conditions base P e —— fgggﬁ&%ﬁg‘s{bﬂm&s RMM o 5
map and field verification. DATE:
P 0 200 400 800 1200 N CHARLOTTESVILLE, VA JANUARY 2004 GRAND CANYON VILLAGE NATIONAL HISTORIC LANDMARK DISTRICT ~—|or 67

00000000000000000000000000000000000000000000







Chapter Three
Landscape Existing Conditions Documentation







|

Grand Canyon Village National Historic Landmark District Cultural Landscape Report _ Landscape Existing Conditions Documentation
Grand Canyon National Park January 2004

Chapter lll: Landscape Existing Conditions Documentation

Introduction

This chapter includes written, graphic, and photographic documentation
of 2001 existing landscape conditions within the Cultural Landscape
Report (CLR) project area, which follows the 1997 Grand Canyon
Village National Historic Landmark District (Village Historic District)
boundary, and its associated landscape character areas. This information
is based upon review of available documentation, base maps, and a May
2001 site visit conducted at the Village Historic District.

JMA mapped existing conditions for the Village Historic District using
a CAD survey provided by the National Park Service’s Denver Service
Center. Field verification of the available base maps was undertaken as
part of the May 2001 site visit. The resultant drawings provided the
basis for diagrams and maps appearing in this report.

The existing conditions documentation in this chapter provides an
overview of landscape features and systems presented for the entirety of
the Grand Canyon National Park (GRCA) and within the Village
Historic District as a whole, while more detailed documentation is
organized by landscape character areas.

The Village Historic District is divided into nine unique landscape character
areas, each which exhibiting a coherent identity within the park:

* Rim Area;

» Utility Area;

« Railroad Area;

» Visitor and Community Services Area;
+ NPS Housing Area;

* NPS Service Area;

» Concessionaire Housing Area;

+ Community School Area; and

* Camp Area.

Existing conditions for these character areas are addressed in this
chapter through narrative descriptions and existing conditions
photographs. The following landscape feature categories were used,
where applicable, to describe existing conditions:

» Natural systems and features;
 Spatial organization;
* Land use;
» Circulation;
» Vegetation;
» Buildings and structures;
* Views and vistas;
-« Small-scale features; and
» Archeological sites.

All photographs used to illustrate written information in this chapter are
numbered sequentially in the text and located within the appropriate
character area section. The photographs are coordinated with
photographic station-point maps located at the end of this chapter.

Each individual landscape feature is highlighted once in bold text and
listed in the Inventory of Landscape Features located in Appendix A of
this report. The inventory identifies each feature’s contributing or
non-contributing status, condition assessment, Cultural Landscape
Report (CLR)-assigned inventory number, and any additional pertinent
information. Each feature is located, using its CLR number, on the
relevant existing conditions inventory map; the maps are found at the
end of each character area section. All attempts were made to accurately
locate each feature on the maps, although the locations should be
considered representative and approximate.

To aid in the location and cross-referencing of buildings, and where
applicable, building identification numbers were placed in parentheses
behind building names. Identification numbers for historic buildings
were derived from the park’s List of Classified Structures—an official
inventory of historic buildings and structures. Non-historic building
numbers were taken from the Denver Service Center’s Building
Numbers Database. All building names were derived from the Denver
Service Center’s database, which offered the most contemporary and
commonly-used nomenclature for historic and non-historic Village
Historic District buildings.
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Overview of the Grand Canyon National Park Landscape

The Grand Canyon National Park is an immense, complex ecosystem
encompassing over one million acres and 277 miles of the Colorado
River in northern Arizona. Situated on the southern end of the Colorado
plateau, the park is internationally known for views into the canyon
created by the Colorado River and its tributaries. Approximately 8,000
feet of exposed geologic strata, from an elevation of 9,200 feet at the
canyon’s highest point at the North Rim to 1,200 feet near Lake Mead,
provide one of the most complete records of geologic history visible to
the four to five million visitors who arrive at the park every year.
Surrounding the park are vast lands comprising Navajo, Havasupai, and
Hualapai Indian reservations, and the Kaibab National Forest.

Thousands of miles of exposed cliff faces, often broken by plateaus,
plunge to the canyon base from either rim. Smaller side canyons incise
the mesas, buttes, and pinnacles of the upper portions of the canyon,
exposing the multiple layers of rock including Kaibab Limestone,
Toroweep Formation, Coconino Sandstone, Hermit Shale, Supai
Formation, Redwall Limestone, Muav Limestone and Dolomite, Bright
Angel Shale, Tapeats Sandstone, and the precambrian rock below.

The varying levels of light, elevation, temperature, and precipitation in
the canyon have created multiple ecosystems that include: boreal forest
community, ponderosa pine community, pinyon-juniper woodland,
inner canyon scrub cornmunities, and riparian communities. The boreal
forest community is usually found in the colder, higher elevations along
the North Rim of the canyon, and includes a mix of conifers such as fir,
spruce, and aspen interspersed with meadows. The ponderosa pine
community is dominated by ponderosa pines and is found on both rims
of the canyon. It is a community historically shaped by fire and the
activity of the tassel-eared squirrel. The pinyon-juniper woodland
occurs on or below the rims and includes extremely drought- resistant
dwarf evergreens such as the pinyon pine that produces nuts for the
multiple bird and animal species. The Tonto Platform is the primary
home of the inner canyon desert scrub community characterized by low-
growing shrubs such as blackbrush, Mormon tea, turpentine broom, and
prickly pear cactus. Riparian communities surround the Colorado River
and other water sources in low areas of the canyon, such as Thunder
Spring, Roaring Spring, Bright Angel Creek, and Clear Creek. Plants
and animals requiring constant access to0 water, such as mosses, ferns,
and canyon tree frogs, thrive in this environment.

Sites of active human occupation and visitation related to park
activities are scattered throughout this vast and complex natural
system. The main areas of development, as outlined in the 1995
GRCA General Management Plan (GMP), are the South Rim, the
North Rim, and Tuweep. South Rim development is concentrated at
Grand Canyon Village, but also includes Desert View and many other
overlooks such as Grandview Point, Yaki Point, and Hermit’s Rest.
Direct access to the rim’s south side draws visitors from around the
world to view the enormous panoramas at the canyon. Trails and roads
provide access to the park’s developed and wild areas. The East and
West Rim Drives, the South Entrance Road, Tonto Trail, Bright Angel
Trail, and Hermit Trail, for example, are all part of a complex
circulation system available along or from the South Rim.

Development at the North Rim is minimal and includes Bright Angel -

Point and trails such as the North Kaibab Trail. Trails from both rims
connect at Phantom Ranch along the Colorado River. Tuweep is the
most remote of the developed areas and is located in the northwestern
section of the park, not far from its border.
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Overview of the Grand Canyon Village Historic Landmark District

Site Description

The Village Historic District, which encompasses the same property as
the CLR project area, is an assemblage of different landscapes with
distinctive characters that remain from their original planned uses in the
early twentieth century. The Village Historic District forms the center
of the greater Grand Canyon Village, containing many visitor services
and recreational opportunities as well as NPS staff and concessionaire
housing, maintenance facilities, and visitor accommodations.

The existing Village Historic District layout and form owes much to the
NPS planning efforts of the 1920s. Around this date, NPS landscape
architects and planners laid the foundation for land-use-zones which can
still be detected today. The separation of housing areas, utility areas,
maintenance areas, and rim areas, as well as the layout of roads and
spatial organization, in evidence today is a direct reflection of Daniel
Hull’s 1924 Master Plan for the Village.

Natural Systems and Features

Natural systems and features are generally part of broader patterns
found on the rest of the South Rim. Ponderosa pine communities and
pinyon-juniper associations are located throughout the South Rim.

The larger Village landscape is part of the Coconino Plateau which, in
geological terms, is the same formation as the Kaibab Plateau of the
North Rim. The Coconino and Kaibab Plateaus are generally rolling
landforms covering 1,152 square miles and lying between 6,000 and
9,200 feet above sea level.! The South Rim and Village Historic District
lie approximately 6,900 feet above sea level.

The Coconino and Kaibab Plateaus are underlain by porous Kaibab
limestone. In some places, this limestone bedrock lies only inches below
the soil surface. Precipitation falling on the plateau drains quickly down
into this subterranean karst complex, resulting in very little standing
surface water.2 Slopes on these plateaus do not exceed 4 percent. In
contrast, the plateaus give way to steep cliffs and are deeply etched in
many places by rugged ravines and tributary canyons running into the
Grand Canyon.

The topographic conditions at the canyon’s South Rim helped shape
early Village plans. The canyon rim and its plateau create a shelf of
buildable ground for some of the largest buildings in the Village. This
shelf drops precipitously, however, to the north into the canyon where

trails connect the developed areas of the rim to the Colorado River

below. South of the canyon rim is the Bright Angel Wash, a drainage
depression that drops nearly fifty feet in elevation from the canyon edge
plateau in some places. The Bright Angel Wash is a low-lying area used
as a railroad transportation corridor within the Village Historic District.
Gently sloping land south of the Wash provides the location for utility
and service areas that also require room for large-footprint buildings.
Entering the Bright Angel Wash from the south is a natural ravine
dividing two small hills to the east and west. Center Road occupies the
bottom of this ravine and was created as part of early park master-
planning efforts that took advantage of natural topography. The two hills
provide the location for residential neighborhoods.

Minor, human-made topographic modifications—ditches, culverts, and
swales—are present throughout the Village Historic District, typically
built in response to the need to control water flow.

Spatial Organization

Spatial organization in the Village Historic District is defined by
circulation patterns, topography, -vegetation, and building relationships.
Spaces range in scale and use from large community gathering spaces
and parking lots to smaller, private, residential yards.

Spatial organization for the Village took shape with Daniel Hull’s 1924
Master Plan. Hull designed spaces in relation to existing landform and
vegetation, as well as according to use. Much of this spatial
organization is still evident in 2001.

The Rim Area has many public spaces due to its heavy usage by
visitors. Gathering spaces, circulation corridors, and vehicle parking
lots are typical of this area. The Utility Area is a loose collection of
informal parking and utilitarian work spaces along with a massing of
woods. The Railroad Area is a linear space occupying the Bright Angel
Wash with nodes of development containing the Railroad Depot and
wye space.>

Jeremy Schmidt, A Natural History Guide: Grand Canyon National Park (New
York: Houghton Mifflin, 1993), 81-83.

Ibid.

In this CLR, the term “node” represents a center or concentration of activity. The
term has been adapted for use in this report from urban planner Kevin Lynch in his
book Image of the Ciry.
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The Visitor and Community Services Area contains woodland masses
and nodes of development such as building clusters and vehicular
corridors. The NPS Housing Area also has masses of trees surrounding
vehicular corridors. Houses line the streets to create a neighborhood
scale while reinforcing the street corridor. The NPS Service Area
consists of a vehicular corridor connecting two buildings clusters.
Masses of vegetation help to define these nodes and corridors.

The Concessionaire Housing Area consists of vehicular corridors with
houses that line the streets, similar to the NPS Housing Area. Woodland
masses help to define nodes of space within the area. The Community
School Area consists mainly of small gathering spaces located in front
of and between the two school buildings. The Camp Area essentially
consists of two vehicular corridors fronted with cabins. Private or
community spaces are located between the cabins.

Land Use

Land uses in the Village Historic District are comparable to those
proposed in the original zoning plan of the community. The first zoning
plans suggested areas for visitor accommodation, service and
maintenance, railroad access, camping, and residential areas for both
NPS personnel and employees of the Fred Harvey concessions and
Santa Fe Railroad. These land uses organize the site today. Current land
uses include visitor services and accommodations, transportation,
maintenance, administration, residential use, education, community
services, and agriculture/livestock.

Circulation

The district can be entered via two roads: the more recent South
Entrance Road located at the east edge of the Village Historic District;
and Center Road—the historic entrance road. Currently, Center Road
serves as a secondary entrance while the majority of visitor traffic is
routed along South Entrance Road.

Once in the district, Village Loop Drive serves as the primary vehicular
circulation route. The road creates a loop that accesses most locations
within the Village Historic District. Visitor parking opportunities are
scattered throughout the Village Historic District, although they are
concentrated in the Rim Area.

Within the district, a network of secondary roads, sidewalks, and paths
provides vehicular and pedestrian access to accommodations, housing,
attractions, and other facilities. Paved sidewalks and trails, the most
prominent of which is the Rim Trail, connect visitors and residents to
different places within the district. In many cases, sidewalks and paths
follow the primary and secondary roads. Unpaved, informal trails,
commonly called “desire paths” and created by random visitor and
resident use, also connect many paths, roads, and parking areas.

Shuttle buses offer an alternative to driving and walking. The historic
Grand Canyon Railway also provides alternative transportation into the
Village Historic District.
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Vegetation

As part of the Upper Sonoran Zone and on the edge of the Transition
Zone, the South Rim of the Grand Canyon, including Grand Canyon
Village, contains pinyon-juniper woodlands as well as ponderosa pines.
“On the South Rim, which is about 1,000 feet lower [than the Kaibab
Plateau on the North Rim], ponderosas are frequently mixed with
pinyon-juniper trees...”4

Most of the vegetation found within the Village Historic District is
native to the region, and includes naturally occurring, planted, and
transplanted trees and shrubs. The ponderosa pine and pinyon-juniper
communities are the dominant form of vegetation throughout the Village
Historic District; relatively few non-native ornamental plants exist in the
Village landscape.

Three main types of vegetated areas exist throughout the Village
Historic District: native woodland (ponderosa pine or pinyon-juniper
communities); ornamental or transplanted plantings of native vegetation;
and ornamental and invasive non-native vegetation. These vegetation
categories are described in greater detail for each character area in
which they are located. '

Typical native plant species observed at Grand Canyon Village include:

Ponderosa pine Pinus ponderosa
Pinyon pine Pinus edulis
Juniper Juniperus monosperma

Utah juniper
Mormon Tea

Juniperus osteosperma
Ephedra viridis
Century Plant Agave utahensis
Banana yucca Yucca baccata

Phlox Phlox sp.

Lupine Lupine sp.

Big sagebrush Anrtemisia tridentata

Non-native plant species observed at Village Historic District include:

Lilac Syringa vulgaris
Peach Prunus sp.
Iris Iris sp.

Non-native turf grasses

Buildings and Structures

Buildings and structures within the Village Historic District vary in
design from high style to utilitarian. They include large resort hotels,
cabins, administrative offices and residences, garages, and sheds.

Buildings and structures tend to differ according to the area in which
they are located. High-style and larger hotel buildings are sited in the
Rim Area and take advantage of scenic views. The train depot and
associated structures are located in the Railroad Area: The Utility Area
has the highest number of large maintenance buildings. NPS Park-
Rustic style administrative buildings are located in the Visitor and
Community Services Area. Residential housing units and their sheds,
coal sheds, and garages are located in the NPS Housing and
Concessionaire Housing Areas. These two residential areas have distinct
housing due to differing ownership and dates of construction. The
Community School Area contains educational buildings. Finally, the
Camp Area has three types of cabins to accommodate the varying needs
of visitor lodging and staff housing.

Views and Vistas

Scenic views and vistas from the Village Historic District are
predominantly found along the canyon rim, where visitors gather to
enjoy panoramic views of the canyon. Other areas of the Village
Historic District are set back from the rim and often covered by dense
or patchy vegetation which blocks or foreshortens views.

Small-scale Features

Small-scale features are numerous and located in every landscape
character area within the Village Historic District. The features tend to
support uses found in the area within which they are located. For
example, benches and telescopes in the Rim Area support visitor
services and recreational uses while dumpsters, fences, and propane
tanks support residential uses in the two housing areas.

4 Schmidt, A Natural History Guide, 76.
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Archeological Sites

Based on archeological surveys to date, it has been estimated that there
may be as many as 61,000 sites in the park. Only 3 percent of these
sites, however, have been formally recorded. Only two archeological
sites in the GRCA are individually listed on the National Register of
Historic Places: the Tusayan Ruins archeological site on the East Rim,
and the Little Jug archeological site west of the Toroweap Valley.
Determinations of eligibility from the Arizona State Historic
Preservation Office exist for all historic and prehistoric archeological
sites as part of a National Register of Historic Places multiple property
nomination prepared in the 1980s, as well as from a second nomination
for the Colorado River corridor comprised of 323 sites.

Grand Canyon Viilage and Village Historic District

According to the GMP, “some of the densest concentrations of sites are
in the Grand Canyon Village area, but few of these are large extensive
sites.”> The first comprehensive archeological survey of the Grand
Canyon Village area was conducted in 1973 by the Museum of Northern
Arizona’s Department of Anthropology. Prior to the survey, only three
archeological sites were recorded: GC483, GC601, and GC263. The
1973 survey was carried out to assess the impact of development upon
archeological resources in the area. A total of fifty-three archeological
sites were found, the majority of which were lithic scatters. A total of
twenty-three sites were assigned formal site numbers by the Museum of
Northern Arizona.

Only one site, a lithic scatter affiliated with the “Sinagua” culture,
appears to be within the Village Historic District and CLR project
boundary, in the vicinity of the NPS Housing Area. The apparent lack
of archeological sites within the CLR study boundary may possibly be
explained by the extensive development that took place at this point
from the early twentieth-century on.

A substantial number of sites, however, were identified just south and
east of the CLR study boundary. These sites are briefly discussed
because of their proximity to the project area. Of the fifty-three sites
identified, a majority were assigned a cultural affiliation that dated to the
Puebloan (10) and Cohonina (15) periods of occupation, ca. 1,300-
1,000 BP. Of the Puebloan sites, NA 11,802, NA 11,922, NA 11,923,
and NA 11,934 contained above-ground architectural remains, mostly
one-room masonry structures. Most of the Puebloan sites were located
just south of the Village Historic District. Of the Cohonina sites, NA
11,804 and NA 11,935 also contained architectural remains. Most of the

Cohonina sites were located east and northeast of the Village Historic
District. Only a handful were identified as dating to the Navajo and
Anglo occupation periods. Two sites, NA 11,803 and NA 11,929 were
identified as stone sweat houses, most likely of Navajo origin. Several
dump sites, including NA 11,921; animal pens; and historic road traces
were identified as dating to European occupation and use.®

Since the late 1970s, a large number of mitigation and clearance
projects have been undertaken prior to construction projects in and near
the Village Historic District. For more information on these archeological
surveys and investigations, please refer to the following texts:

» Balsom, Janet R. “A Little Knowledge Goes a Long Way: A
History of Archaeological Research at Grand Canyon” paper
presented at the Grand Canyon History Symposium, January
2002, Grand Canyon South Rim; papers from the symposium
are in press by the Grand Canyon Association, Grand Canyon,
Arizona. :

* Fairley, Helen C. “Archaeological Survey of the Mather Point
Orientation Center.” MS on file, Grand Canyon National Park
Science Center, Grand Canyon, Arizona.

» Schroeder, Melissa R., Amy Horn-Wilson and Helen C. Fairley.
“Archaeological Test Investigations and Mitigation Plan for the
Mather Point Orientation Center.” MS on file, Grand Canyon
National Park Science Center, Grand Canyon, Arizona.

5 NPS, “Draft General Management Plan,” 141.

Pilles, “Cultural Resources of Grand Canyon Village,” 28-50.
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Photograph 1. Canyon edge viewed to east from near Bright Angel Lodge. El Tovar
Hotel is visible in center. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 2. Village Loop Drive along its northern stretch, (JMA, 2001)

Landscape Character Areas

Rim Area

The Rim Area is a linear site located at the edge of the Grand Canyon
to take advantage of the spectacular views. The canyon edge determines
the linear organization of the buildings and circulation systems
throughout the area and provides a visual focus. The Rim Area is

bordered to the north by the canyon; to the west by the Bright Angel -

Trailhead; to the south by the Grand Canyon Railroad; and to the east
by Verkamp’s Store, which forms the eastern boundary.

The Rim Area is used for lodging, visitor services, and recreation,
circulation, and parking. Visitor lodging is located throughout the
character area, beginning at the western edge with the Rim Cabins,
Bright Angel Lodge, Bright Angel Cabins, Thunderbird Lodge, Kachina
Lodge, and ending with the El Tovar Hotel. Visitor services include
retail gift shops, food services, accommodations, and art galleries.
These services are housed in the Kolb Studio, Lookout Studio, Bright
Angel Lodge, El Tovar Hotel, Hopi House, and Verkamp’s Store.

Of architectural note are architect Mary Jane Colter’s Hopi House
(1905), Lookout Studio (1914), and Bright Angel Lodge (1935), and
Charles Whittlesey’s El Tovar (1905). :

Natural Systems and Features

Geologic features and landforms constitute the natural systems and
features in the Rim Area. The canyon edge drops steeply from the
developed area into the inner canyon (Photograph 1). The Rim Area
occupies a limestone and sandstone plateau upon which buildings,
structures, and other features are built. The southern edge of the plateau
slopes steeply into the Bright Angel Wash toward the Railroad Area.

Spatial Organization

In the Rim Area, spatial organization is determined by the relationship
between buildings, the canyon edge, and the southern plateau edge. The
linear arrangement of buildings along the canyon rim creates a long
corridor of space between the two. The corridor is used as a passageway
between Bright Angel Trailhead and Verkamp’s Store, as well as to all
points in between. Within this corridor, smaller spaces in front of
buildings, such as Bright Angel Lodge and El Tovar Lodge, act as
gathering places or plazas. These spaces are usually near building
entrances and are defined by building edges, retaining walls, and/or
changes in pavement material or pattern.

A node of space exists at the western edge of the Rim Area and is
defined by vegetation and the presence of the concessionaire mule corral.
The node acts as a gathering space for mule riders and wranglers as they
prepare to ride down the Bright Angel Trail.

Several interstitial spaces are created by the clustering of Bright Angel
Cabins, west of Bright Angel Lodge. The tight building relationships,
similar building characteristics, and connected circulation network
within the cluster create a unique space.

South of the line of Rim Area buildings, space is organized by the
relationship between the buildings and Village Loop Drive, both of
which act as space-defining edges. Much of the corridor space created
by this relationship is filled with parking lots and access drives.

Land Use

Current uses in the Rim Area revolve around visitor services. These
uses include recreation, such as mule rides, pedestrian trails, and scenic
viewing opportunities; food service in the lodges and snack bars;
commercial retail opportunities in the gift shops and galleries; and
accommodations in the lodges, hotels, and cabins.

Circulation

In general, pedestrian and vehicular circulation remain separated in the
Rim Area. Primary pedestrian paths are located along the rim edge and
north of the buildings. Vehicular circulation, such as roads, parking
lots, and turn-arounds, are typically located along Village Loop Drive.

The northern section of Village Loop Drive, which runs through the
Rim Area, is a one-way asphalt road with parallel parking along the
north edge (Photograph 2). Curb cuts along the Drive lead north into
parking lots and access drives.

Along Village Loop Drive, four shuttle bus stops are located close to
the road’s edge. Each stop consists of a similarly-patterned concrete
plaza, peeled-log bus shelter, and stone retaining wall. The two western
stops, found near the intersection of Village Loop Drive and West Rim
Drive, have larger plazas and more signage.
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At the eastern edge of the Rim Area, an access drive leads north and
west from Village Loop Drive (Photograph 3). The asphalt access drive
splits into two drives. The first drive heads north to the circular, asphalt
El Tovar Hotel turn-around (Photograph 4). A large, six-bay asphalt
parking lot with two parking islands is accessed from the eastern edge
of the turn-around and extends to the Verkamp’s Store (Photograph 5).
The Verkamp’s service area consists of an asphalt parking lot south of
the store. The second access drive (Photograph 6) leads west toward the
Kachina Lodge and Colter Hall parking lots. These double-bay
asphalt parking lots are edged in low, rectangular masonry curbing. The
El Tovar Hotel asphalt parking, west of the hotel, and El Tovar gravel
parking and service area, south of the hotel, are also located along this
drive. The access drive dead-ends into the Thunderbird Lodge access
loop (Photographs 7, 8). The asphalt loop is entered from Village Loop
Drive toward the eastern end of Thunderbird Lodge, heads west, and
then returns to Village Loop Drive at the western edge of Thunderbird
Lodge. Vehicles parallel-park along the north edge of the road.

The Bright Angel Lodge parking and service area is located east of
the Lodge and consists of a rectangular asphalt area, edged in rectangular
masonry curbing, and ringed with concrete sidewalks. The Bright
Angel Lodge parking lot is located south of Bright Angel Lodge
(Photograph 9). Accessed from Village Loop Drive, the asphalt parking
lot consists of two bays of angled parking with a bus drop-off lane to
the north of the parking spaces. A curb cut from Village Loop Drive
leads into an entry drive which accesses the western edge of the Bright
Angel Lodge parking lot and the circular road within the Bright Angel
Cabins (Photograph 10). The circular asphalt road with rough stone
edging encompasses most of the Rim Cabins, while several cabins are
located outside the southern edge. Rim Cabin parking is accessed from
the western edge of the circular drive (Photograph 11). These gravel
parking lots are very loose in form. A circular drop-off accesses the
west wing of the Bright Angel Lodge.

Pedestrian trails and paths weave through the Rim Area. The Rim Trail
is a stone-edged asphalt path that hugs the canyon edge, leading from
Mather Point, west through the Rim Area, and ending at Hermit’s Rest
(Photographs 12, 13). The Bright Angel Trailhead is located at the
western edge of the Rim Area, just beyond the mule corral (Photograph
14). The trailhead is a gravel area with a wayside that marks the
entrance and exit of Bright Angel Trail.

An asphalt path leads from the Rim Trail to the Kolb Studio terrace,
east of the Kolb Studio (Photograph 15). Currently, the path is chained
off, prohibiting visitor access.

A concrete sidewalk follows the curve of the Bright Angel Lodge bus
drop-off, south of Bright Angel Lodge (Photograph 16). The sidewalk
runs along the edge of Bright Angel Lodge, ending at its eastern edge.
Concrete sidewalks are also located along the north edge of the
Thunderbird Lodge access loop, between the Thunderbird Lodge,
Kachina Lodge, and Colter Hall, and around the El Tovar Hotel
circular drive.

In the Bright Angel Cabin cluster, mortared flagstone walks lead to and
from cabins. Flagstone walks are also present around the west edge of
Bright Angel Lodge and between Buckey O’Neill Cabin and Powell Lodge.

Several earthen paths lead to and from features throughout the Rim
Area. A gravel path with wood plank treads and stone edging leads from
the mule corral to the bus shelter on Village Loop Drive. Loose,
informal gravel paths run throughout the Bright Angel Cabin area and
adjacent parking areas.

The mule path leads from the Livery Stable in the Utility Area to the
oval mule corral in the western portion of the Rim Area. In the Rim
Area, the wide earthen path is edged with small stones and follows the
slope from Village Loop Drive to the mule corral.

Photograph 4. El Tovar loop. JMA, 2001)
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Photograph 7. West end of Thunderbird Lodge access loop with bus shelter. Note
planting of maple trees in front of lodge. JMA, 2001)

e
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Photograph 8. East end of Thunderbird Lodge access loop. Kachina Lodge on left, Photograph 9

. Bright Angel Lodge parking, with ca. 1920 light fixture, curbing, Photograph 10. Circular road within Bright Angel Cabins, with ca. 1920 ligh
El Tovar in center, Colter Hall on right. JMA, 2001) brown and white NPS sign. (JMA, 2001) fixture, stone edging. (JMA, 2001)
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Photograph 14. Bright Angel Trailhead with signage. (IMA, 2001)

Photograph 12. Western section of Rim Trail with stone edging, metal pipe railing.
(IMA, 2001)

Photograph 15. Asphalt path at Kolb Studio with stone retaining walls, stone and
concrete arch, and metal gate. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 13. Eastern section of Rim Trail. JMA, 2001)

Photograph 16. Concrete sidewalk with boulder edging along Bright Angel Lodge
parking. (JMA, 2001)
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Vegetation

In the Rim Area, vegetation takes multiple forms: transplanted native plants
used to revegetate disturbed sites or enhance various locations; naturally-
occurring native vegetation; and exotic plants arranged around certain
buildings. Due to the high concentration of development in the Rim Area,
vegetation appears only in small clusters. Larger massings of vegetation are
located at the eastern and western edges of the area where development is
less dense.

Native vegetation found in the Rim Area includes plants associated with the
pinyon-juniper plant community—such as Pinyon pine, juniper, yucca, cat-
claw acacia, and sagebrush. Examples of native vegetation can be found
east of the Hopi House (Photograph 17). Revegetation has occurred over
time to enhance and protect disturbed areas. The extent to - which
revegetation takes place at present is unknown. Some of the vegetation on
the rim edge may be naturally-occurring, native plants resulting from the
“Canyon rim-effect” of warm air rising from the canyon, favoring vegetation
that thrives in lower altitudes and warmer areas. In addition, ernamental
native vegetation occurs in several areas including the planting beds along
the Rim Trail and around the Bright Angel Cabins (Photograph 18).

Irrigated turf grass lawn is maintained around the El Tovar Hotel and
Kachina and Thunderbird Lodges (Photograph 19). The grass draws
wildlife, such as mule deer, which enjoy grazing on the lawn.

Ornamental exotic plantings, such as manicured hedges (Photograph 20)
and low shrubs (Photograph 21) are found around the bases of Thunderbird
and Kachina Lodges. Maple trees are located in front of Thunderbird Lodge
(Photograph 7).

- mﬁ%&’@%
Photograph 17. Vegetation near Hopi House. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 19. Lawn at El Tovar Hotel, with stone edging, bollard-and-chain fence. Photograph 20. Hedge at Kachina Lodge. (JMA, 2001) Photograph 21. Ornamental foundation planting of juniper shrubs. (JMA, 2001)
(IMA, 2001) .
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Buildings and Structures

To facilitate the organization of this section, buildings and structures are
described generally from west to east.

The four bus shelters in the Rim Area are constructed in a similar
fashion. The shelters have long, rectangular, wood-shingled gabled
roofs with log rafters. The roofs are supported by round, peeled-log
framing and six peeled-log posts on either side of the shelters. The posts
rest on flat-topped benches while one flat wood board runs between each
set of posts, creating a seat back. The logs are painted brown. The
bench seating is constructed of sandstone. The four shelters are located
as follows: Bldg. #445 is found at a bus pull-off at the western edge of
the Village Historic District; Bldg. #446 sits approximately 200 feet east
of the first shelter (Photograph 22); Bldg. #0507 is located east of
Bright Angel Lodge (Photograph 7); and Bldg. #0542 is found south of
El Tovar Hotel.

A wayside exhibit structure is located near the Bright Angel Trailhead
(Photograph 23). The exhibit has a coursed, rectangular stone
- foundation with square wood posts supporting a gabled roof structure
with wood shingles. An NPS exhibit describing the Bright Angel Trail
and mule concessions is located between the posts.

The Bright Angel Cabins are located south and west of Bright Angel
Lodge, near the western edge of the Rim Area. This cluster of sixteen
residential and utilitarian buildings is defined by its grouping of terra-
cotta-colored, peeled-log buildings organized around a circular drive.

The Red Horse Cabin (Bldg. #0526) was originally built in 1890 as a
Ralph Cameron-era cabin (Photograph 24). In 1907, it was used as a
post office and currently is used for visitor lodging. The terra-cotta
colored building is constructed of square logs and chinking atop an
uncoursed rubble foundation. The gabled roof has wood shingles and
exposed rafter tails and most of the windows are two-over-two double
hung. A coursed, rough-cut exterior stone chimney is located on the
west facade, as is the main entrance. '

Residential. Bright Angel Cabins (Bldg. #’s 0517-0525, 0527-0531)
serve as visitor accommodations and are similar in construction and
design (Photographs 10, 18, 25). All cabins are of terra-cotta colored
wood construction, . either board-and-batten siding, clapboard, or
chinked log, with wood-shingled gabled roofs. The gable ends are
typically shingled with wood shakes and painted terra-cotta to match the
cabins. The multi-light square and rectangular windows have brightly-
colored blue or green trim. The cabins rest on uncoursed stone foundations.

The Laundry Building (Bldg. #0520.1). shares construction and design
principles with the cabins. The terra-cotta colored building has
clapboard siding on its southern portion and upright board-and-batten
siding on the remaining sections. The southern portion has a wood-
shingled gabled roof, with exposed rafter tails, which abuts the tall end
of a shed roof to the north. The ends and sides of the shed roof section
are shingled with wood shakes painted to match the building. Windows
are multi-light in construction with red wood trim. An entrance, with
blue-painted door, is located beneath the gabled roof on the southern
section of the building and on the west facade.

The Utility Shed (Bldg. #0541) is a small, square, terra-cotta-color
painted wood building with board-and-batten siding, a wood-shingled
hipped roof and blue-painted wood double doors on the southern
elevation (Photograph 26). A tall, round, rusted metal pipe, secured by
wires, rises out of the roof.

An Equipment Shed (Bldg. #0536) is located northwest of the Bright
Angel Cabin cluster, yet is of similar construction (Photograph 27). The
equipment shed, once used as a telephone booth, is a one-room, terra-
cotta colored wood shed with clapboard siding and a shed roof supported
by six log rafters. Two narrow doors, whose upper halves consist of
screen windows, are located on the eastern elevation. The shed rests on
a masonry pad. A second equipment shed (Bldg. #483) could not be
located during field work, but according to the Denver Service Center’s
building database description, is likely similar in design and size to
Building #0536.7

One of the cabins is used as a Comfort Station (Bldg. #0524). Built in
1935, the comfort station is 785 square feet in size; its design is similar
to other cabins in the Bright Angel Cabin cluster.

The Bright Angel Lodge complex consists of Bright Angel Lodge,
Powell Lodge, Buckey O’Neill Cabin/Lodge, and five Rim Cabins.
These buildings are attached by breezeways or covered walks, and
generally serve the purposes of visitor housing and food service.

7 The May 7, 2003 print-out of the Denver Service Center's Building Number
Database describes both buildings as Equipment Sheds, formerly used as phone booths,
consisting of one room that is thirty-five square feet in size.

Photograph 23. Wayside exhibit structure. (IMA, 2001)
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Photograph 27. Equipment shed northwest of Bright Angel Cabins. (JMA, 2001)

5 SRERG

Photograph 28. Covered walkway along Rim Cabins with painted log railing on left.
(JMA, 2001)

Photograph 29. Buckey O’Neill Cabin. (TMA, 2001)
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The Rim Cabins (Bldg. #’s 0510-0514) are of similar construction and
connected through a series of adjoining porches and walkways
(Photograph 28). Located north of Powell Lodge, the cabins are
painted the same terra-cotta color as the Bright Angel Cabins and have
similar siding types of log, clapboard, and board-and batten siding.
Window trim, doors, and door trim are painted bright blues and greens.
The interconnected porches and walkways consist of wood plank
flooring and wood plank and log-beam roofs supported by log posts.
Wood railings extend between each post and a contemporary metal
handrail, attached to the inside of the posts, as an extra safety measure.

Powell Lodge (Bldg. #0509), built in 1935, serves as visitor lodging,
and loosely resembles an adobe American Indian dwelling. The
building has four attached wings, forming a cross-pattern floor plan.
The walls are constructed of mortared stone; log vigas extend from the
top of the wall. The multi-light windows, whose trim is painted blue,
have wood lintels and sills.

An Electrical Storage building (Bldg. #0535) is located directly south of
the Powell Lodge. The small, square building is constructed of dry-laid
stone and has a hipped, wood-shingled roof with exposed rafter tails.

The Buckey O’Neill Cabin (Bldg. #0508) was originally built in the
1890s and remodeled over time to become part of the Bright Angel
Lodge complex (Photograph 29). The cabin is made of round logs that
are saddle-notched at the ends. The roof is complex in design, consisting
of hipped sections, shed overhangs, and gables. Gable ends have board-
and-batten siding. A stone chimney is located on the cabin’s west
elevation. Most of the multi-light window trim and doors are painted
bright green while the remaining wood elements are blue. The cabin
measures approximately thirty-five feet by twenty feet.

Bright Angel Lodge (Bldg. #0507), designed by Mary Colter, was
completed in 1936 and has become a complex of visitor accommodations,
gift shops, museums, and a restaurant (Photograph 30). Bright Angel
Lodge exhibits numerous types, styles, and dates of construction. The
building facades are constructed of multiple materials including coursed
stone, vertical wood siding, adobe, and log. Because so many additions
and alterations have occurred, the roof is very complex with gabled,
flat, and hipped sections, all clad with a variety of shingles. The main
entrance faces Village Loop Drive and is located beneath a long, gabled
overhang supported by log posts and beams. A secondary entrance faces
the canyon rim and is located near the gift shop portion of the lodge
beneath a flat roof overhang, also supported by log beams and posts.

Northwest of the Bright Angel Lodge complex, the Kolb Studio (Bldg.
#SRB0533) overlooks the canyon edge (Photograph 31). The Kolb
Studio, completed in 1914, currently houses a gift shop and art gallery.
The building is of wood frame and log construction designed in the

Craftsman architectural style. The upper-story exterior walls are
covered in brown-painted wood shingles. The roof has multiple gables
with exposed rafter tails and is covered in wood shingles. The windows
are Craftsman-style, with smaller multi-light windows over large panes
of glass. The window trim is painted white. A rough stone chimney is
located on the front, or southern, facade. The Kolb Studio Garage
(Bldg. # SRB0617) is located south of, and across the sidewalk from,
the Kolb Studio (Photograph 32). Built in 1927, the garage is a small,
rectangular building with a shed roof and brown clapboard siding.
Small, square windows are located on the northern elevation.

Mary Jane Colter’s 1914 Lookout Studio (Bldg. #0532) is located
directly on the canyon rim and north of the Rim Cabins (Photograph
33). The Lookout Studio is constructed of coursed rubble native stone
and is generally rectangular in plan. Parapet rooflines and stone
chimneys mimic the irregular shapes of surrounding bedrock. An
uneven parapet on the roof steps up to incorporate the chimney and a
small observation room. The observation room has a small balcony with
a jigsaw-pattern railing. Low stone walls lead up to the building thereby
protecting visitors from the precipice. Multi-light, Craftsman-style
windows are located throughout the building. Although originally
constructed for viewing the canyon, the building now houses a gift shop.

Built in 1968, Thunderbird Lodge (Bldg. #1300) is located east of
Bright Angel Lodge and between Village Loop Drive and the canyon
rim edge (Photograph 7). Thunderbird Lodge is constructed with the
low, flat, and rectangular lines of the 1960s-era International style. The
lodge fagades are constructed of beige, manufactured brick with wide,
rectangular glass windows. Multiple levels of guest rooms create sever-
al layers of slightly overhanging rooflines, all with decorative concrete
panels along their edges. Built in 1971, Kachina Lodge (Bldg. #1320)
is located north of Thunderbird Lodge and is constructed with the same
materials and in a similar style as Thunderbird Lodge, although with a
smaller footprint (Photograph 20).

Colter Hall (Bldg. # 0539), was built in 1937 as a women’s dormitory
and is located south of Kachina Lodge and east of Thunderbird Lodge
(Photograph 8). Colter Hall’s building footprint resembles a wide
V-shape, with loosely-coursed rubble masonry walls. The roof is gabled
with clapboard gable ends. Windows are two-over-two double-hung
with brown-painted wood trim.

Built in 1905, the El Tovar Hotel (Bldg. #0542) is a large hotel built in
close proximity to the edge of the Grand Canyon (Photograph 34).
According to the 1985 El Tovar Hotel National Register Nomination,
the building’s foundation is rubble masonry and concrete. The super-
structure is of wood frame construction. The first floor is sheathed with
log slab siding complete with finely-honed corner notching that gives the
appearance of log construction. The upper stories have rough

Photograph 30. Bright Angel Lodge south entrance. JMA, 2001)

Photograph 31. Kolb Studio. JMA, 2001)
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Photograph 32. Kolb Studio Garage with stone wall. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 34. El Tovar Hotel front entrance, with historical marker in foreground.
(JMA, 2001)

Photograph 35. El Tovar Hotel porch gazebo area.

(UMA, 2001)

weatherboards. Log-slab moldings surround the windows on the first
floor while those on the upper stories have heavy, milled moldings. The
building has multiple roofs at several different levels. The uppermost
level is the wood turret which is wrapped in shingles and serves as the
most important element of the El Tovar silhouette. Directly below the
turret is a hip roof with bracketed eaves that shelters the central portion
of the building. The three-story wings to the north and south, flanking
the central portion, have mansard roofs pierced by dormers. On the
north and south ends, the roofs step down to second- and first-floor
terraces. The main entrance is located on the east side of the building
and has a gabled roof with hipped ends covering the large entrance
porch. Porches facing the canyon have peeled log posts. The railings
along all terraces and porches have jigsawn balusters cut in patterns
reminiscent of Swiss-Rustic detailing. The large porch on the north end
of the building has two attached gazebos to the east and west
(Photograph 35). An access ramp for wheelchairs was added to this
north end of the building. At the southernmost end of the building, the
surrounding grade drops down to the hotel’s basement level. Here, the
coursed rubble masonry walls contain arched openings similar to those
in the stone corner wall of the entrance porch.

The Hopi House (Bldg. # 0545) was built in 1905 and designed by
Mary Jane Colter (Photograph 36). The Hopi House is a large multi-
story structure of stone masonry, shaped and built like a Hopi pueblo
building. The building is rectangular in plan. The multiple roofs are
stepped at various levels giving the impression of pueblo architecture.
The sandstone walls are reddish in color. Tiny windows, like those of
true Hopi structures, allow a small amount of light into the building.

Photograph 36. Hopi House. JMA, 2001)
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Verkamp’s Gift Shop (Bldg. #0546) was built in 1905 and is located at
the easternmost end of the Rim Area boundary and on the edge of the
Village Historic District boundary (Photograph 5). The building has
stepped levels that create a balcony above the first floor entrance. A
wood trellis structure sits on the roof of the first floor. Several additions
have been attached to the rear, or east, elevation of the building. The
multi-level roof is a combination of shed, flat, and slightly gabled
construction. The building is sheathed in brown wood shingles. An
entry porch on the west elevation has arched openings and a seat wall.
Rectangular and square windows of all sizes, with white trim, dot all
four elevations. -

A small residential building, the Verkamp’s Residence (Bldg. #0547)
is located south of the Gift Shop (Photograph 37). Built in 1906, the
residence consists of a rectangular core with perpendicular ell attached
to the northern elevation. The roofs are gabled with wood shingles while
the walls are sheathed in brown wood shingle siding. Windows are one-
by-one rectangles with white trim. An entrance is located on the eastern
end of the ell.

Verkamp’s Residence shed is located east of, and adjacent to, the
Verkamp’s Residence. The shed is of wood construction with a gambrel
roof and is used for storage. A small storage shed, approximately three
to four feet wide and five to six feet tall, is located along the south edge
of the El Tovar/Verkamp’s parking lot (Photograph 38). Of unknown
purpose, the small structure has a shed roof, wood clapboard siding, and
has a rectangular opening on the east side.

In addition to buildings and sheltering structures, the Rim Area contains
various types of steps and walls. Stone walls are found throughout the
area. These stone walls are of varied height, serving as seating and/or
to retain earth along a grade. A low stone wall defines the bus shelter
areas in the Rim Area. The Mule Corral wall consists of an oval
rubble stone wall with rubble piers supporting a metal pipe rail
(Photograph 39). The corral is located west of the Bright Angel Cabins.

The Kolb Studio retaining walls are located east of the Kolb Studio and
help to retain earth around the path to the studio’s lower level
(Photograph 15). The wall consists of mortared rubble stone whose
height increases from two feet to approximately four or five feet as the
path cuts deeper into the grade. The Kolb Garage retaining wall is
located east of the garage and retains earth from the Rim Trail
(Photograph 32). The wall consists of dry-laid native stone and is
approximately three to four feet in height. The wall extends from the
garage east, to hug the trail. Lookout Studio stone walls are located
below the studio, along the terraces (Photograph 40). The walls consist
of mortared rubble masonry approximately five feet in height. The Rim
Trail wall consists of flat, coursed, dry-laid stone, approximately three
feet in height, that runs along the canyon side of the Rim Trail
(Photograph 41). The Bright Angel Lodge parking lot wall follows the
edge of the parking lot and consists of coursed stone laid approximately
three feet in height. The Bright Angel Lodge seat walls are low, stone
walls, approximately twelve to eighteen inches in height, that encompass
planting beds and serve as visitor seating (Photograph 42). Some have
flat, upright stones affixed to the rear of the wall to serve as seat backs.

Several types of steps aid circulation throughout the Rim Area. Stone
steps lead from the Mule Corral to the western bus shelters. Stone steps
also lead from Lookout Studio to the lower terraces (Photograph 43). A
set of wide stone steps interrupts the parking lot wall and leads from the
Bright Angel Lodge parking lot to the lodge entrance. Flagstone steps
take up the grade within the Bright Angel Cabin cluster. Concrete steps
lead from the El Tovar Hotel to the Railroad Depot on Village Loop
Drive (Photograph 44). Concrete steps are also located along the eastern
edge of Colter Hall. Both sets of steps have black metal pipe railing.
Wood steps are located in the service area south of El Tovar.

The Hopi House Dance Platform is located northwest of the Hopi
House (Photograph 45). The square platform consists of a mortared
stone retaining wall, approximately two feet in height, that supports a
concrete and gravel floor. Three stone treads lead up to the platform.

Photograph 37. Verkamp’s Residence in center (small building). JMA, 2001)
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Photograph 38. Storage shed near Verkamp’s. (IMA,

2001)
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Photograph 43. Stone steps at Lookout Studio terraces. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 44. Concrete steps from El Tovar Hotel to Depot at railroad below.
(JMA, 2001)

-19



Landscape Existing Conditions Documentation
January 2004

Grand Canyon Village National Historic Landmark District Cultural Landscape Report

Grand Canyon National Park

Views and Vistas

Views and vistas are essential, character-defining features of the Rim
Area. Buildings, trails, and other features on the rim are sited primarily
to take advantage of the spectacular views of the Grand Canyon
available from the edge.

Sweeping panoramic views toward the canyon are available along the
Rim Trail (Photograph 46) and from the north-facing sides of the Rim
Area buildings—most notably the area around the flagpole at the El
Tovar Hotel (Photograph 47) and the Bright Angel Lodge plaza. At the
western edge of the Rim Area is a recently constructed shuttle bus stop
in a location which offers excellent views of the canyon (Photograph 48).

Buildings located directly on the rim, including Kolb Studio
(Photograph 49) and Lookout Studio (Photograph 50), offer panoramic
vistas of the canyon from their windows, balconies, and exterior areas
that were constructed specifically to take advantage of the scenery.

Looking south, across Bright Angel Wash and the railroad tracks, from
the western portion of the Rim Area, the Utility Area presents a marked
contrast to the rim views on the north side of the character area
(Photograph 51).

Small-scale Features

Many small-scale features enforce visitor safety and facilitate enjoyment of
the views along the canyon rim. East of and adjacent to the Kolb Studio is
a path that descends between two mortared stone retaining walls and passes
under a concrete and stone arch with a metal gate (Photograph 15).

Telescopes along the rim wall make it possible for visitors to see distant
features of the canyon. Certain telescopes, such as the ones located just
east of the Lookout Studio, rest on metal bases that swivel (Photograph
52). One sculptural telescope is located near the El Tovar Hotel along
the Rim Trail. The telescope sits on a stone base with a bronze telescope
rest that fixes the scope vertically and horizontally on oriented views
(Photograph 47). The views are named on the bronze sculptural element.

Railings are found along stairs and ramps as well as at some points along

the Rim Trail. Rustic-style painted log railings are located around the
Bright Angel Rim Cabins and Lodge. Metal railings in the Rim Area
are painted green, brown, or black (Photograph 12). An extensive black
metal railing runs along the concrete stair leading from the El Tovar
Hotel down to the Railroad Depot (Photograph 44); another is found at
the Lookout Studio—along the stairs down to the adjacent overlook
(Photograph 53).

Wood plank steps are located across paths, as with the steps in the
western portion of the Rim Trail, and allow the trail to make a slight
grade change. Cut stone curbs—of similar material to the steps at the
south entrance to Bright Angel Lodge—are generally found along
contemporary asphalt sidewalks, along Village Loop Drive, the El
Tovar Hotel drop-off loop (Photograph 54), and Bright Angel Lodge
parking lot (Photograph 9).

Boulder edging marks the boundaries of the gravel parking lot near the
Mule Corral. In the Rim Area, boulders often function as wheel stops
and block vehicular traffic (Photographs 16, 41). Stone edging,
comprised of smaller rocks, appears along the loop road within the
Bright Angel Cabins (Photographs 10, 25) and are used to edge portions
of the Rim Trail (Photographs 12, 46). Wheel stops in parking lots are
typically composed of concrete, as in the lot east of Hopi House. Others,
such as those located near Verkamp’s Store, are composed of logs.

There are numerous benches scattered throughout the Rim Area. Along
the Rim Trail, notched-log benches add to the historic character of the
Village Historic District. These benches are comprised of a single,
massive log laid horizontally with a 90-degree section notched out along
its length to make a seating surface. One of these benches is located to
the east of Hopi House along the Rim Trail. Other types of wooden
benches are located throughout the site (Photograph 55).

Wood slat fencing exists near the Verkamp’s residence and consists of
thin, vertical wood slats. At the western-most shuttle bus stop, metal
pipe railing with curved posts extends across the canyon rim. Painted
wood privacy fencing screens the north and south sides of Bright Angel
Lodge from views of service areas (Photograph 56). Metal post
bollards are placed in various locations, such as in the Bright Angel
Cabins parking lot, to block vehicular access and/or protect features
such as fire hydrants from vehicles. Bollard-and-chain fencing is
utilized at locations along pedestrian paths around the lodges, such as
the circle in front of the El Tovar Hotel, to prevent visitors from
walking across the lawns (Photograph 19). Orange plastic mesh fencing
was visible during fieldwork along the Rim Trail.

Drainage-related small-scale features include metal drainage grates
covering drop-inlet storm drains. Examples of these grates are found
along the El Tovar drop-off loop, along Village Loop Drive, and in the
parking lots.

Photograph 45. Hopi House Dance Platform. (JMA, 2001)
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Photograph 46. Rim Trail view, with stone edging. JMA, 2001)
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Photograph 47. View from Rim Trail near El Tovar Hotel, with sculptural telescope
on rim wall. JMA, 2001)

Photograph 50. Lookout Studio panoramic vista. JMA, 2001)

2001)

Photograph 51. View of Utility Area from south side of Bright Angel Lodge.
JIMA, 2001)

Photograph 52. Telescopes along Rim Wall east of Lookout Studio. (JMA, 2001)
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Photograph 56. Painted wood privacy fencing. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 54. Small-scale features near El Tovar: stone curbing, fire hydrant,
light, and signage. JMA, 2001)

Photograph 57. Green-painted metal streetlight. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 58. Light with acorn luminaire. (JMA, 2001)
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Photograph 62. Hopi House sign. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 60.

Drinking fountain at left.

o

R

Photograph 61. Flagpole, wayside, stone edging, historical marker, and petrified
wood in front of Verkamp’s Gift Shop. (JMA, 2001)
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Photograph 65. Bicycle rack. JMA, 2001)

Lighting is found along parking, roads, and walkways throughout the
Rim Area. These lamps occur in four different styles. At Lookout
Studio along the stair in the side of the building is a single metal light
on a pole, approximately seven feet tall, incorporated into the metal
railing (Photograph 53). The luminaire is a four-sided, simple metal
enclosure with a pyramidal metal top.

In the Bright Angel Cabin cluster are several green-painted metal
street lights, approximately eighteen feet tall, featuring a curving lamp
arm and ornamental metal bracket with curled ends (Photograph 57).
These may be the circa 1920 light standards described in the National
Historic Landmark nomination for the Village Historic District. The
luminaires and lamp arms of some lights have been replaced by
contemporary “acorn” lights (Photograph 58).

From Thunderbird Lodge to the El Tovar Hotel, “Modern”-style lights
line the Rim Trail and other walkways (Photograph 59). These consist
of black-painted metal poles, approximately seven feet tall, set in
concrete footings and topped by saucer-shaped luminaires.

East of the El Tovar Hotel near Hopi House are more traditional-style
lights; these are each set on a black-painted metal post approximately
ten feet tall with a small cross-arm (Photograph 54). The four-sided,
tapered, glass luminaire has a metal top.

Drinking fountains include mortared stone fountains with metal
fixtures, such as one at the near the Bright Angel Cabin parking
(Photograph 60). The fountains are comprised of a lower faucet for
filling containers, and an upper fountain for drinking.

Other small-scale features include a flagpole near the El Tovar Hotel
and Verkamp’s Store and a piece of petrified wood at Verkamp’s Store
(Photograph 61).

Due to the need to orient, regulate, and educate the site’s many visitors,
there is a great deal of signage in the Rim Area. Four historical
markers, each composed of a bronze tablet on a two-and-a-half-feet
tall, tapered, masonry pedestal are located within the Rim Area. One
marker is located in the center of the turn-around circle east of the main
entrance to the El Tovar Hotel (Photograph 34), another near Hopi
House, a third at the entrance to Verkamp’s Store, and the fourth near
the entrance to Lookout Studio (Photograph 33).

The contemporary stone slab sign at the entrance to Hopi House is
constructed of an irregularly-shaped sandstone slab with painted
lettering, flanked by an arrangement of smaller stones (Photograph 62).
Wooden trail signs are located throughout the Rim Area and direct
visitors to particular trails (Photograph 14).

Wayside exhibits provide interpretive and practical information to
visitors unfamiliar with the canyon (Photograph 14). Waysides are
located along the Rim Trail at many points of interest such as Kolb
Studio and the Buckey O’Neill Cabin.

Orientation signs at the West Rim Drive and Village Loop Drive
shuttle bus stops stand about eight feet high, and are comprised of two
squared wood posts about two feet apart with sign placards placed
vertically between the posts to indicate bus stop names and display route
maps and other information (Photograph 22). Brown and white metal
NPS signs are located throughout the Village Historic District
(Photograph 9). Standardized vehicular traffic signs are found along
the parking lots, roads, and all intersections in the Rim Area
(Photograph 54). A contemporary directional sign, located near the
West Rim Drive bus stop, is comprised of brown and white metal arrow
indicators placed around an eight- feet-tall, square wooden post
(Photograph 63).

Many trash receptacles are located within the Rim Area (Photograph
64). Most trash receptacles are prefabricated and contemporary in style,
and include wood-framed, aluminum, white plastic or aggregate-paneled

bins. Plastic recycling bins in wood frames are frequently located near

the trash receptacles, as at the West Rim Drive bus stop. Dumpsters are

.located in service areas to the south of major buildings along the rim;

an example is found just southeast of the Bright Angel Cabins.

Other small-scale features in the Rim Area include bicycle racks
(Photograph 65); portable toilets located near the Mule Corral/Bright
Angel Trailhead; utility meters; and fire hydrants (Photograph 54).
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Utility Area

The Utility Area is used for support and maintenance operations and is
bordered by the railroad tracks to the north; the Maswik cabins to the
west; concessionaire housing and Village Loop Drive to the south; and
the Grand Canyon National Park Lodges office to the east. Village Loop
Drive bisects this area and the majority of features are located to the
north of this road. Characterized by a number of large industrial
buildings and utilitarian structures, the area is permeated by access
roads, employee parking lots, and pedestrian paths.

Natural Systems and Features

The Utility Area sits on the southern edge of the Bright Angel Wash.
North of the Power House and Purchasing and Receiving Building, the
land slopes gently down towards the railroad tracks, into the Wash.
There are, however, no specific natural systems and features in this area.

Spatial Organization

The spatial organization of the site features large, open work spaces
with utilitarian characters and uses. These are generally defined by, and
related to, the large utility and livery buildings.

A long, open central utility yard forms the spine of the Utility Area
(Photograph 66). Defined by the Power House and Purchasing and
Receiving Building to the north and by the Maintenance Shop, Livery
Stable and corrals to the south, the utility yard is enclosed on the east
end by the Mule Barn. A paved roadway follows the center of the
utility yard, which extends unpaved on the relatively level ground plane
to the building fagades on both sides.

Between the Livery Stable’s eastern end and the Mule Barn’s western
facade is an open yard space. The access road to the Power House’s
loading dock runs through the center of the area, and unpaved parking
and work areas extend to the facades of the two buildings.

West of the Livery Stable are corrals (Photograph 67). These fenced
enclosures are surfaced in compacted earth, and include troughs, hay
racks, and other equipment that supports the use of the corrals by a large
number of mules.

Between the Power House and Purchasing and Receiving Building is a
square, level site that is fenced with chain-link and board. This
substation space contains several transformers and tall metal power
structures that connect to numerous electrical lines radiating out to
nearby utility poles (Photograph 68). A low retaining wall on the
northern side sets this area apart from the railroad to the north.

In the southwestern corner of the Utility Area is the Community
Building space. This space is defined by a grove of trees and features
an outdoor terrace, adjacent parking, and a network of paths and
sidewalks. This shaded space has a sense of enclosure due to the grove
of trees surrounding the building.

The Village Loop Drive corridor is defined by adjacent vegetation,
buildings, and the pavement. The drive forms the primary vehicular
circulation corridor through the Utility Area.

A massing of vegetation exists between Village Loop Drive and
Apache Alley. These ponderosa pine woods help define road corridors
and nodes as well as acting as a visual barrier between the Utility Area
and other landscape character areas to the east and south.

Land Use

The Utility Area’s land uses are dominated by maintenance and support
operations, with some residential and civic uses.

Photograph 67. Mule corrals at west end of Livery Stable. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 68. Substation space. (IMA, 2001)
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Circulation

Circulation in the Utility Area consists primarily of vehicular circulation
for service and tourist vehicles. Village Loop Drive is the primary
public vehicular route through the area (Photograph 69). Unlike the
northern portion of the road, the Utility Area section is two-way. The
asphalt road is edged by thick, rectangular masonry curbing on its
northern edge and more narrow, masonry curbing on the southern edge.
Village Loop Drive curves northward near the southern corner of the
area to accommodate the Maswik Lodge parking lot.

A service road is accessed from Village Loop Drive (Photograph 70).
The road begins as an asphalt apron leading north into the Utility Area and
then quickly becomes "gravel and macadam as it turns west and
continues past the Power House and former Laundry Building. The road
then turns south to become a drive aisle through the Victor Hall and
Community Building parking lots (Photograph 70). The parking lots are
composed of single bays along the building fronts, paved in macadam and
gravel, and have a mixture of low stone edging and sandstone curbing.

The Old Village Bypass Road is an informal asphalt-paved service road
that runs along the northern edge of the Utility Area, north of the Power
House and Purchasing and Receiving Building, and along the railroad
tracks (Photograph 71). The road has wide gravel shoulders with no
curbing and is used mainly by NPS and concessionaire staff.

Gravel service roads are located west of, and behind, Victor Hall and
lead into the Concessionaire Housing Area—south of the Utility Area.
Victor Hall’s gravel road is currently blocked by boulders and parked
cars (Photograph 72).

Throughout the Utility Area, gravel parking is located near buildings
and serves as informal parking for visitors and staff. Gravel parking is
found north of the Victor Hall Annex, around the Livery Stable, and
between the Power House and former Laundry Building and the Old
Village Bypass Road. During fieldwork, vehicles were also observed
parking along the outside curve of the service road, between the former
Laundry Building and Victor Hall Annex.

A more formal asphalt parking lot is located west of the Maintenance
Shop (Photograph 73). A second asphalt parking lot is located between
the Blacksmith Shop and The GCNPL Office, although the pavement
deteriorates into a gravel surface as it reaches west toward the
Blacksmith Shop.

An informal, short asphalt access drive extends between Village Loop
Drive and Apache Alley.

Photograph 69. Village Loop Drive, south, with sidewalk. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 71. Old Village Bypass Road. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 70. Service road into utility area and parking lots. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 72. Gravel service road west of Victor Hall. (JMA, 2001)
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Photograph 75. Grove and grasses around Community Building. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 74. Wooded area south of Village Loop Drive. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 76.

Victor Hall. ({MA, 2001)

A stone-edged asphalt sidewalk leads from the eastern edge of the
Utility Area, running along Village Loop Drive to the Community
Building, where the sidewalk turns northwest to meet the front of the
building (Photograph 69).

Earthen paths are located throughout the area where staff and visitors
have worn away grass or groundcover over time when seeking the most
expeditious route to a destination. For example, earthen paths run
through the open space between the Victor Hall Annex and Purchasing
and Receiving Building. The earthen mule path to the Rim Area begins
at the northwest edge of this character area, although it is described in
the Railroad Area section.

Gravel and asphalt paths are located near the main entrance of the
Community Building. This formal network of paths increases accessibility
to the Community Building, the parking lots, and other points in the vicinity.

To the east of the Power House, a loading dock eases loading and
unloading operations.

Vegetation

The Utility Area is largely open, and as a functional space, contains
little ornamental planting. Ponderosa pines dominate the vegetation
around the edges of the area, particularly the woodland masses to the
south of Village Loop Drive (Photograph 74).

A grove around the Community Building is comprised of densely-
growing ponderosa pines (Photograph 75). Other vegetation includes
possibly invasive grasses along the margins of Village Loop Drive.

Buildings and Structures

Buildings and structures within the Utility Area support maintenance,
visitor service, and lodging activities. Utility Area buildings and
structures are generally described below as they occur from west to east
in the landscape.

Built in 1936, Victor Hall (Bldg. #0576) serves as concessionaire
housing and is located near the western edge of the Utility Area
boundary—east of the railroad tracks wye (Photograph 76). The building
exhibits elements of Swiss Rustic styling. Victor Hall has multi-level
gabled and hipped roofs. Several gable ends have scalloped wood
weatherboard. The facade is sheathed in a number of different materials
including cut stone, clapboard sidings, and patterned wood. Windows
are six-over-six double-hung and typically exist in sets of two or three.
Windows have rough stone sills and green-painted wood trim. Detailing
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includes a green Swiss Rustic railing on the roof of a first-floor
bump-out room and coursed stone pilaster chimney. An eroded asphalt
basketball court, with a single hoop, is located behind and south of
Victor Hall. '

Victor Hall Annex (Bldg. #0578) was built in 1913 (Photograph 77). It
is located northwest of Victor Hall and currently serves as concessionaire
housing. The rectangular, clapboard-sided building has a green-shingled
hipped roof. Windows are two-over-two double-hung with green trim.
Entrances are located on the first and second stories on the north

elevation. The first floor door is reached by concrete steps while the
second floor is accessed by a metal staircase. The Heating Plant (Bldg.
#576a) is located between Victor Hall and Victor Hall Annex
(Photograph 78). Its date of construction is unknown. The small, square
structure is constructed of concrete masonry units, has a concrete slab
shed roof, and two vented wood doors on the north elevation.

The Community Building (Bldg. #SRB0044) is located near the western
intersection of Village Loop Drive and the interior Utility Area service
road (Photograph 79). Completed in 1935, the building was rehabilitated
in 1999 and currently serves as a visitor education center and storage
area. The building has multi-level gabled, hipped, and shed roofs. The
overhanging eaves are supported by logs set parallel to the eaves as well
as exposed log rafter tails. Siding consists of brown wood clapboard,
sometimes arranged in decorative patterns. Windows are either one-
over-one or grouped in larger bays; all with green trim. Smaller windows
often have trellis-patterned mullions. A porch, with rustic wood railing,
stone foundation, and shed roof, is located on the northwest corner of
the building. The main entrance is located on the southeast corner of the
building, beneath a hipped-roof overhang. A stone wall, approximately
eighteen inches in height, is located around the northwestern corner of
the Community Building (Photograph 80).

The Storage Building (Bldg. #0575) is located north and west of the
Community Building (Photograph 81). The long, rectangular building
has a gently-pitched gable roof, several different kinds of vertical wood
siding, and various types of windows. Windows vary from traditional
two-over-two, to multiple-light, to contemporary aluminum. An
entrance is located on the west elevation and consists of a short, wide
door. Long, rectangular, brown metal storage trailers are located east
of the Storage Building (Photograph 82).

The Maintenance Shop (Bldg. #0572) was constructed in 1931 and is
located south of the Purchasing and Receiving Building (Photograph
83). The building shares some of the Swiss Rustic characteristics of its
surrounding counterparts. The rectangular building has a gently-pitched

SRR <
Photograph 79. Community Building. JMA, 2002)

Photograph 78. Heating Plant at Victor Hall. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 80. Stone wall at Community Building. Note typical trash receptacle and
picnic table. (JMA, 2001)

- 32

‘



Grand Canyon Village National Historic Landmark District Cultural Landscape Repori
Grand Canyon National Park

Landscape Existing Conditions Documentation
January 2004

e =

Photograph 81. Storage Building (former Carpentry Shop). (IMA, 2001)
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Photograph 83. Maintenance Building (former Paint Shop) with concrete loading Photograph 84. Purchasing and Receiving (former Laundry Building), with board
dock. (JMA, 2001) fence on left. (JMA, 2001)

gable roof with exposed rafter tails and stepped corner brackets.
Horizontal wood siding extends below the roof-line to cover the upper
third of the wall. The lower third is sheathed in coursed, rough stone.
Large, multi-light windows are located on all four sides of the building.
The main entrance is located on the west elevation, beneath a sign reading
“Engineering Department,” and a deeply inset square window. A small
shed addition is located on the south elevation. A concrete loading dock
is located on the west end of the building, near the entrance.

An Office/Storage structure (Bldg. #0573) is located east of, and
adjacent to, the Maintenance Shop. The small structure is constructed of
concrete masonry units with a concrete slab shed roof. .

The Purchasing and Receiving Building (Bldg. #0569), also known as
the Laundry Building, was built in 1927 and is located along the northern
boundary of the Utility Area (Photograph 84). The building has Swiss
Rustic styling with oversized, rounded corner brackets, decorative wood
siding below the overhanging eaves, and uncoursed stone siding. The
roof has a large, rectangular, gable-roof monitor. The lower roofs
gently slope away from the monitor. Windows are tall, rectangular,
multi-light bays on the north and south elevations. A shed addition is
located on the west elevation.

According to a 1985 National Historic Landmark Nomination, the
Grand Canyon Power House (Bldg. # 0567) was built in 1926 and

‘detailed like a Swiss Chalet with ties to the Californmia Arts-and-Crafts

movement (Photograph 85). 1t is constructed of reinforced concrete. On
the exterior, a native stone veneer makes up two-thirds of its height, and
exposed aggregate concrete with a decorative wood cornice and balcony
makes up the top third. A smaller wing at the west end of the building
repeats the wood cornice but has no balcony. The gable roofs of the
main building and wing are covered with rolled composition roofing.
Multi-story steel sash windows break up the rubble-masonry wall
surface. The windows have concrete lintels and spandrels between the
basement and upper levels. A concrete loading dock is located on the
eastern elevation of the Power House. Concrete steps lead from the
northeast corner of the building down to the Old Village Bypass Road
(Photograph 86). A rubble stone retaining wall extends east from the
concrete steps.

Built in 1907, the Livery Stable (Bldg. #0563) is located south of the
Power House, along the northern edge of Village Loop Drive
(Photograph 87). Exhibiting early Craftsman-style detailing, the Livery
Stable has a board-and-batten lower exterior while the upper wall has
shingle siding. It also has a steeple-like cupola on the roof, multi-light
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windows, and large sliding doors at the east and west ends of the
building. The Livery Stable is built upon a concrete foundation and has
a green-shingled gabled roof with hipped ends.

The Mule Barn (Bldg. #0562) was built in 1905 and is currently used
for concessionaire storage purposes (Photograph 88). The barn is located
east of the Livery Stable. Although architecturally similar to the Livery
Stable, the Mule Barn is much smaller. The barn also has a concrete
foundation and board-and-batten/shingle siding exterior. The roof has
green asphalt shingles and a low, square cupola. A single row of square
windows is located on the south elevation. Barn doors are located on the
west elevation. A concrete and asphalt ramp leads to the northern door
(Photograph 89). The hayloft door is located beneath a hipped roof
dormer on the southern elevation. To the south and east of the Mule
Barn, a cut-stone masonry retaining wall supports the earth around
part of the barn (Photograph 90). A second, upper wall supports the
asphalt sidewalk located along Village Loop Drive behind the lower
wall.

The Blacksmith Shop (Bldg. #0564) was built in 1908 and is located on
the south side of Village Loop Drive, across from the Livery Stable
(Photograph 91). The building is an L-shaped wood-frame structure
built upon a concrete foundation. Like the Livery Stable and Mule Barn,
the Blacksmith Shop exterior consists of board-and-batten siding
halfway up the wall while shingle siding continues to the roof. The
hipped roof has green asphalt shingles. A single row of square windows
is located on the north elevation while double doors are located to the
east. Metal pipe chimneys rise up from the roof. Concrete steps and a
concrete pad are located on the northeast corner of the building.

The Grand Canyon National Park Lodges Personnel Office (GCNPL
Personnel Office) (Bldg. #558) was built in 1920 and is located south of
Village Loop Drive and across from the Mule Barn (Photograph 92).
The office was once the Fred Harvey Transportation Department
Dormitory and Shirley Hall but now serves as administrative offices for
Xanterra concessionaire staff. The building is long and rectangular,
having a low or flat roof with a very slight eave. The exterior walls are
sheathed with brown stucco and have two-over-two double-hung
windows of various sizes. The main entrance is located on the west
elevation beneath an enclosed shed porch.

A Bus Shelter (Bldg. #450) is located directly east of the GCNPL
Personnel Office. Of contermnporary construction, the rectangular shelter
has a wood-shingled gable roof supported by log rafters and beams. The
roof rests on four square stone posts. The posts sit on a stone seat wall
foundation where long wood planks span the posts creating seat backs.

Photograph 87.
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Livery Stable. (JMA, 200

1)

Photograph 86. Concrete steps, rubble stone retaining wall at Power House
2002)

Photograph 88. Eastern facade of the Mule Barn. (JMA, 2001)

. (JMA,

It - 34

000000V 00000000000000000000000000000000000




Q..0...O.Q.QOOQOQ.Q.QQ‘.OC00000000000‘0000001

Grand Canyon Village National Historic Landmark District Cultural Landscape Report
Grand Canyon National Park

Landscape Existing Conditions Documentation
January 2004

Photograph 91. Blacksmith Shop with concrete pad. (JMA, 2001)

Photograph 90. Cut-stone masonry retaining wall at corner of Mule Barn. (JMA,
2001)

Photograph 92. GCNPL Personnel Office (former Fred Harvey Transportation
Department Dormitory). (JMA, 2001)

The U.S. West Office (Bldg. #0500), also known as the Mountain
States Telephone Building, was built in 1936 and is located along the
southern edge of the Utility Area boundary—south of the Personnel
Office. The long rectangular building has a gable roof. The exterior
walls have a stone foundation that extends to cover the lower third of
the wall while horizontal clapboard siding covers the upper third.
Windows are six-over-six double hung and exist singly or in pairs.
Stone piers, located at building corners, extend from the ground to the
roof line. The entrance is located in a small ell addition on the
northwestern elevation. A metal frame radio tower is located directly
south of the building (Photograph 93).

A small, square, brown-painted storage shed, called the Cell Phone
Equipment Building (Bldg. #1564), with gabled roof and clapboard
siding, is located directly south of the U.S. West Office (Photograph
94). A second storage shed is located just east of the Cell Phone
building (Photograph 95). This seemingly contemporary small, square
shed has a gabled roof, board-and-batten siding, and one multi-light
window with green trim. The entrance door is located beneath a small
gabled porch roof on the north elevation.

The Boy Scout Building (Bldg. #241) is located east of the U.S. West
Office and its associated sheds (Photograph 96). The building has a
gabled roof and clapboard siding. Square two-over-two windows, with
light green trim, are located on the west, east, and south elevations.
Two sets of double garage doors are located on the north facade, as is
an attic vent in the gable end.

Between the Power House and Purchasing and Receiving Buildings, a
concrete platform supports an electrical substation (Photograph 68).
The substation consists of utility boxes, high voltage towers, and other
electricity-supplying equipment. Utility poles and power lines weave
throughout the Utility Area.

Views and Vistas

The Utility Area is set back from the Rim and therefore offers no views
of the canyon itself. Within the central utility yard in the core of the
character area, long views of this space include the facades of the Mule
Barn, Livery Stable, Power House, and Purchasing and Receiving
(Photograph 66).
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Small-scale Features

Small-scale features related to circulation include cut sandstone curbs
found along Village Loop Drive and the asphalt sidewalks that accompany
the roadway. These contemporary curbs are of evenly-cut sandstone.
Similar curbing is used to protect trees and reinforce slopes along the
road edge (Photograph 97). In a few places boulder edging is used
along the road margin. Boulders are used in the Utility Area to control
vehicular access, as wheel stops, and to protect small features, such as
fire hydrants in the utility yard, from vehicles (Photograph 98).

Stone edging lines Community Building parking lot, while smaller .

stones line the paths to the building (Photograph 79). Stone edging also
occurs along the corral fence (Photograph 99). Concrete wheel stops,
often painted yellow, are located in the parking lot west of the
Maintenance Shop and the lot between the Blacksmith Shop. and
GCNPL Personnel Office.

Metal drainage grates cover drop inlets along the margins of Village
Loop Drive, both within the roadway and off to its sides. An example
of this feature is the metal grate found just south of the Community
Building (Photograph 100).

Lighting in the Utility Area includes street lights similar to those near
the Bright Angel Cabins. Black-painted metal street lights have a
curved lamp arm with a decorative bracket. An example of these lights
is located along Village Loop Drive adjacent to the Mule Barn. A
light with an acorn fixture is located at the Community Building
parking lot (Photograph 79). Other outdoor lighting in the Utility Area
consists of small lights mounted on the utility buildings, such as above
the doors on the east side of the Livery Stable. .

Fencing in the Utility Area is functional and contemporary. Chain-link
fencing surrounds the radio antenna tower, is found along the south side
of the Blacksmith Shop, and encloses the substation west of the Power
House (Photograph 68). Painted wood board privacy fence surrounds
other utility functions between the substation and the Purchasing and
Receiving building (Photograph 84). Green or brown painted metal
corral fencing surrounds the mule corral to the west of the Livery
Stable (Photograph 99).

Photograph 96. Boy Scout Building. (JMA,
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Photograph 97. Cut stone curb blocks used as tree guards along Village Loop Drive
bank. JMA, 2001)

Photograph 99. Stone edging, corral fence. JMA, 2002)
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Photograph 98. Fire hydrant and protective boulders. JMA, 2001)
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Photograph 100. Drainage grate near Community Building. (JMA, 2002)

Other features related to livestock uses include a hitching post
comprised of a metal pipe bar east of the Livery Stable (Photograph
101) and corral features including a water tank, hay racks, and water
troughs, all made of green-painted metal (Photograph 102).

Signage in the Utility Area includes a historical marker at the
Community Building comprised of a rough boulder about two-and-a-
half feet tall with one smooth side engraved with the words “Historic
Community Building” over a bronze plaque.

Vehicular traffic signs of reflective painted metal on posts occur along
most of the roads and parking lots. Bus stop orientations signs,
described previously in the Rim Area, are located beside the bus shel-
ter on Village Loop Drive.

Trash receptacles are fewer than in the Rim Area. Trash receptacles
near the Community Building are of brown-painted metal. Numerous
dumpsters of brown or green painted metal, some used for recycling, are
found throughout the central yard and south of the Maintenance Shop.

Features related to utility functions include utility meters/boxes,
propane tanks (Photograph 103), fire hydrants such as the one in the
western central portion of the central utility yard, and manhole covers,
such as the one at the southeastern corner of the Livery Stable.

Piles of materials, including building materials, sand, and firewood are
located in the Utility Area in the vicinity of the Storage Building
(Photograph 103).

Recreational features include an outdoor grill (Photograph 104) near
the basketball court and picnic tables on the terrace on the north side
of the Community Building.
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Photograph 103. Propane tank and wood pile JMA, 2001) Photograph 104. Outdoor grill near Victor Hall. JMA, 2001)
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Feature List:

B-24 Victor Hall (C)

S-16 Basketball court (NC)
B-25 Victor Hall Annex (C)
S-17 Heating Plant (U)

B-28
S-20
B-29
B-30

B-26 Community Building (C)  B-31

S5-18 Stone walls (C)
B-27 Storage Building (C)
S$-19 Storage trailers (NC)

S-21
S-22
S-23

Maintenance Shop (C)
Concrete loading dock (C)
Office/storage structure (U)
Purchasing and Receiving (C)
Power House/Commissary (C)
Concrete loading dock (C)
Concrete steps (NC)

Stone retaining wall (C)

B-32
B-33
S-24
S-25
B-34
S-26
B-35
S-1

Livery Stable (C)
Mule Barn (C)
Concrete/asphalt ramp (U)
Cut-stone retaining wall (NC)
Blacksmith Shop (C)
Concrete steps and pad (U)
GCNPL Office (C)

Bus shelter (NC)

US West Office (C)
S-27 Radio tower (NC)
S-28 Cell Phone Eq. Bldg. (NC)
S-29 Storage shed (U)

B-37 Boy Scout building (NC)
S-30 Concrete platform (NC)
S-31 Electrical substation (NC)

S-32 Utility poles and power lines (U)
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NOTES:

Feature S-32 (Utility poles and power lines)
is located throughout the site.
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